On irreducible representations of compact *p*-adic analytic groups

By KONSTANTIN ARDAKOV and SIMON WADSLEY

Abstract

We prove that the canonical dimension of a coadmissible representation of a semisimple p-adic Lie group in a p-adic Banach space is either zero or at least half the dimension of a nonzero coadjoint orbit. To do this we establish analogues for p-adically completed enveloping algebras of Bernstein's inequality for modules over Weyl algebras, the Beilinson-Bernstein localisation theorem and Quillen's Lemma about the endomorphism ring of a simple module over an enveloping algebra.

Contents

1.	Introduction	453
2.	Background	460
3.	Almost commutative affinoid algebras	466
4.	Crystalline differential operators on homogeneous spaces	474
5.	Completions, deformations and characteristic varieties	481
6.	The Beilinson-Bernstein theorem for $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}^{\lambda}$	498
7.	Bernstein's Inequality	512
8.	Quillen's Lemma	516
9.	Modules over completed enveloping algebras	523
10.	Microlocalisation of Iwasawa algebras	532
11.	Finite-dimensional KG -modules	545
References		552

1. Introduction

1.1. Coadmissible KG-modules. Let p be an odd prime, let G be a compact p-adic analytic group, and let K be a finite extension of \mathbb{Q}_p . Continuous

^{© 2013} Department of Mathematics, Princeton University.

representations of G in K-Banach spaces are of interest in many parts of modern arithmetic geometry and the Langlands programme. Following Schneider and Teitelbaum [70], we only consider the *coadmissible* representations of G, which by definition are finitely generated modules over the completed group ring KG of G with coefficients in K, defined in Section 10.12. These group rings, under the name of Iwasawa algebras, play a central role in noncommutative Iwasawa theory; see, for example, [22] for more details.

The category \mathcal{M} of coadmissible KG-modules is abelian, and each $M \in \mathcal{M}$ has a *canonical dimension* d(M), which gives rise to a natural dimension filtration

$$\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{M}_d \supset \mathcal{M}_{d-1} \supset \cdots \supset \mathcal{M}_1 \supset \mathcal{M}_0$$

by Serre subcategories, where $d = \dim G$ is the dimension of the *p*-adic analytic group G and $M \in \mathcal{M}_i$ if and only if $d(M) \leq i$. For example, d(M) < d if and only if M is a torsion KG-module, and d(M) = 0 if and only if M is finitedimensional as a K-vector space. So in this precise sense, d(M) measures the 'size' of the underlying vector space of the representation M.

1.2. Semisimple groups. The structure of these module categories is the most intricate when the Lie algebra of the group G is semisimple, so we focus on this case. Here is our main result.

THEOREM A. Let G be a compact p-adic analytic group whose Lie algebra is split semisimple. Let p be an odd very good prime for G, and let $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ be a complex semisimple algebraic group with the same root system as G. Let r be half the smallest possible dimension of a nonzero coadjoint $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ -orbit. Then any coadmissible KG-module M that is infinite-dimensional over K satisfies $d(M) \ge r$.

The invariant r depends only on the root system of G and is well known in representation theory; we recall the exact values that it takes in Section 9.9. Thus, coadmissible KG-modules are either finite-dimensional over K or rather 'large.' It is easy to see that in type A the lower bound is attained by a module induced from a closed subgroup. We do not know if the bound is the best possible in general.

Theorem A was inspired by an analogous result [74] of S. P. Smith for the universal enveloping algebra of a complex semisimple Lie algebra. His proof does not adapt to our context because it depends on the fact that the canonical dimension function for enveloping algebras is just the Gelfand-Kirillov dimension and is therefore particularly well behaved. More precisely, if M is a finitely generated module over the enveloping algebra of such a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and $N \subseteq M$ is a finitely generated module over the enveloping algebra of a subalgebra \mathfrak{h} of \mathfrak{g} , then $d(N) \leq d(M)$. The Gelfand-Kirillov dimension is not available for modules over Iwasawa algebras and, in fact, the analogous property for the canonical dimension function fails for both Iwasawa algebras and the completed enveloping algebras of the next section.

1.3. Completed enveloping algebras. One way to understand the finer structure of modules over KG is to study the connection between Iwasawa algebras and certain completed enveloping algebras, which are much closer in spirit to objects found in traditional representation theory. This connection was originally discovered by Lazard in his seminal 1965 paper [53]; we will explain it by means of an example.

Let R be the ring of integers of K, and suppose that K/\mathbb{Q}_p is unramified for simplicity. Take $G = \ker(\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_p))$ to be the first congruence kernel of $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}_p)$; then the Iwasawa algebra RG can be identified with a noncommutative formal power series ring R[[F, H, E]] in three variables and KGis just $RG \otimes_R K$. Now let \mathfrak{g} be the R-Lie algebra $\mathfrak{sl}_2(R) = Rf \oplus Rh \oplus Re$, and consider the p-adic completion

$$\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K} := \lim_{\longleftarrow} \left(\frac{U(\mathfrak{g})}{p^a U(\mathfrak{g})} \right) \otimes_R K$$

of the usual enveloping algebra $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ of $\mathfrak{g}_K = \mathfrak{sl}_2(K)$. Lazard observed that it is possible to obtain $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K}$ as a completion of KG with respect to an intrinsically defined norm; see Section 10 for more details. The immediate advantage of replacing KG by this completion is that $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K}$ is a much more accessible object: its topological generators satisfy standard relations such as [e, f] = h, whereas the commutation relations between E and F are more intricate.

1.4. Distribution algebras. Let G be a uniform pro-p group. Lazard defined a \mathbb{Z}_p -Lie algebra L_G associated to G; this turns out to be free of rank $d = \dim G$ over \mathbb{Z}_p and satisfies $[L_G, L_G] \leq pL_G$. Letting $\mathfrak{g} = \frac{1}{p}L_G \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} R$, the completed enveloping algebra $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K}$ of \mathfrak{g} is defined in the same way, and we show in Theorem 10.4 that it can also be obtained as a particular algebraic microlocalisation of the Iwasawa algebra RG. General theorems now imply that the natural map $KG \to \widehat{\mathcal{U}_K}$ is flat. The main problem with passing to this microlocalisation of KG however is that the map is not faithfully flat: there are nonzero KG-modules M with $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K} \otimes_{KG} M = 0$.

In a series of papers including [68], [69], [70], [71], Schneider and Teitelbaum study a class of rings that they call the *distribution algebras* D(G, K)of a *p*-adic analytic group *G*. From an algebraic viewpoint, these rings can be defined as the projective limit of a sequence of Noetherian algebras $D_w = D_{\sqrt[w]{1/p}}(G, K)$; here *w* can be any real number ≥ 1 and D_w is the completion of *KG* with respect to the degree function deg_w, which is characterised by the property that its value on p is w and its value on each of the standard topological generators of RG is 1. Schneider and Teitelbaum prove in [70, Th. 4.11] that the natural map $KG \to D(G, K)$ is faithfully flat, so D(G, K) is in some sense better than $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K} = D_1$. Unfortunately, D(G, K) is almost never Noetherian; we finesse this difficulty by never passing to the projective limit D(G, K). As we explain in Theorem 10.11, the essence of the proof of [70, Th. 4.11] is that for any given nonzero finitely generated KG-module M, the base-changed D_w -module $D_w \otimes_{KG} M$ is nonzero for sufficiently large w.

1.5. Fréchet-Stein algebras. We focus on the algebras D_w , where the parameter w is an integral power of p, $w = p^n$, say. The advantage of doing so is that D_{p^n} is more understandable algebraically. It is closely related to a certain crossed product

$$\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}} * G/G^{p^n},$$

where $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}}$ is the subalgebra of $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K}$ obtained by completing the Iwasawa algebra KG^{p^n} of the open subgroup G^{p^n} of G with respect to its intrinsic norm; see Proposition 10.6 and also [32] for more details. We suspect that, in fact, D_{p^n} is isomorphic to this crossed product, but we will not need to prove this; our Corollary 10.11 essentially implies that to prove Theorem A above it is enough to prove the corresponding result (Theorem 9.10) for each of the algebras $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}}$.

In a recent preprint [67] Schmidt has studied the projective limit of our $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}}$, the so-called Arens-Michael envelope of the enveloping algebra $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$. Both the distribution algebras D(G, K) and the Arens-Michael envelopes studied by Schmidt are examples of what Schneider and Teitelbaum call Fréchet-Stein algebras. Our work on the structure of completed enveloping algebras in this paper may be viewed as an in-depth study of local data for these Fréchet-Stein structures.

1.6. Noncommutative affinoid algebras. It turns out that as a K-vector space, $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K}$ is the set of restricted power series in a free generating set for \mathfrak{g} . Suppose that u_1, \ldots, u_d is free generating set for \mathfrak{g} as an R-module; then

$$\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K} = \left\{ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \lambda_\alpha \mathbf{u}^\alpha : \quad \lambda_\alpha \in K \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda_\alpha \longrightarrow 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |\alpha| \to \infty \right\},$$

where \mathbf{u}^{α} denotes the product $u_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots u_d^{\alpha_d}$. In this way $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K}$ can be identified as a *K*-Banach space with the *Tate algebra* $K\langle u_1, \ldots, u_d \rangle$ in *d* commuting variables. Tate algebras form the basis of rigid, or non-archimedean, analysis; one views this particular Tate algebra as the algebra of rigid analytic functions on the unit ball $\mathfrak{g}^* = \operatorname{Hom}_R(\mathfrak{g}, R)$ of the *K*-vector space $\mathfrak{g}_K^* = \operatorname{Hom}_K(\mathfrak{g}_K, K)$. Thus we view $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K}$ as a rigid analytic quantization of \mathfrak{g}^* , analogous to the usual way of viewing $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ as an algebraic quantization of \mathfrak{g}_K^* . The subalgebras $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}}$ of $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_K}$ mentioned above have the following form:

$$\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}} = \left\{ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \lambda_{\alpha} \mathbf{u}^{\alpha} : \quad \lambda_{\alpha} \in K \quad \text{and} \quad p^{-n|\alpha|} \lambda_{\alpha} \longrightarrow 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |\alpha| \to \infty \right\}.$$

They can therefore be identified with the Tate algebras $K\langle p^n u_1, \ldots, p^n u_d \rangle$ as *K*-Banach spaces. We may therefore view them as rigid analytic quantizations of larger and larger closed balls $\mathfrak{g}^* \subset p^{-1}\mathfrak{g}^* \subset p^{-2}\mathfrak{g}^* \subset \cdots$ in \mathfrak{g}_K^* with respect to the *p*-adic topology. Thus the collection $\{\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}}: n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ together forms a quantization of the rigid analytification $(\mathfrak{g}_K^*)^{\mathrm{an}}$ of the *K*-variety \mathfrak{g}_K^* .

The gluing of these closed balls should correspond algebraically to taking the projective limit of the affinoid algebras, and thus we recover the Arens-Michael envelopes of $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ studied by Schmidt.

1.7. Tate-Weyl algebras. It is well known in noncommutative algebra that the Weyl algebras $\mathbb{C}[x_1, \ldots, x_m, \partial_1, \ldots, \partial_m]$ are more tractable objects than universal enveloping algebras $U(\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}})$ and frequently influence their structure. In our setting we can form the standard *p*-adic completion

$$\widehat{\mathcal{A}_K} = \left\{ \sum_{\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^m} \lambda_{\alpha\beta} x^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} : \quad \lambda_{\alpha\beta} \in K \quad \text{and} \quad \lambda_{\alpha\beta} \longrightarrow 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |\alpha| + |\beta| \to \infty \right\}$$

of the Weyl algebra $K[x_1, \ldots, x_m, \partial_1, \ldots, \partial_m]$ with coefficients in K, and consider analogous subalgebras

$$\widehat{\mathcal{A}_{n,K}} = \left\{ \sum_{\alpha,\beta \in \mathbb{N}^m} \lambda_{\alpha\beta} x^{\alpha} \partial^{\beta} \in \widehat{\mathcal{A}_K} : \quad p^{-n|\beta|} \lambda_{\alpha\beta} \longrightarrow 0 \quad \text{as} \quad |\alpha| + |\beta| \to \infty \right\}$$

enjoying certain stronger convergence properties. We tentatively call these the Tate-Weyl algebras and view $\widehat{\mathcal{A}_{n,K}}$ as a quantization of the rational domain

$$Y_n := \left\{ (\xi_1, \dots, \xi_m, \zeta_1, \dots, \zeta_m) \in K^{2m} : |\xi_i| \leq 1 \quad \text{and} \quad |\zeta_i| \leq p^n \quad \text{for all} \quad i \right\}.$$

More generally, let X be a smooth R-scheme locally of finite type with generic fibre X_K , and let $X_0 \subseteq X_K^{\text{an}}$ be the unit ball inside the rigid analytification X_K^{an} of X_K . Let $(T^*X)_0 \subseteq (T^*X_K)^{\text{an}}$ be the corresponding cotangent bundles and consider the rigid analytic variety

$$Y_n := X_0 \times_{X_K^{\mathrm{an}}} p^{-n} (T^* X)_0.$$

By patching together appropriate microlocalisations of Tate-Weyl algebras, we obtain a completed deformation $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}}$ of the sheaf \mathcal{D} of crystalline differential operators on X; this is a sheaf on X that is now only supported on the special fibre X_k . Just as in Section 1.6 above we view $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}}$ as a quantization of the rigid analytic variety Y_n and then the collection $\{\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}}: n \in \mathbb{N}\}$ together forms a quantization of $Y := X_0 \times_{X_K^{\mathrm{an}}} (T^*X_K)^{\mathrm{an}} = \cup Y_n$; see Section 3.5 for more details. This is broadly analogous to the usual way of viewing the sheaf of differential operators \mathcal{D}_K on X_K as an algebraic quantization of T^*X_K .

1.8. Characteristic varieties. It is possible to associate to each coherent sheaf \mathcal{M} of $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}}$ -modules a characteristic variety $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})$. Because of the nature of these rigid analytic quantizations we have to be a little careful in the definition of $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})$; since any reasonable filtration of $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}}$ has an associated graded ring in characteristic p, $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})$ is effectively forced to be an algebraic subset of the special fibre T^*X_k of the cotangent bundle although ideally it should be a subset of Y. This causes us a number of problems. For example, Gabber's Theorem on the integrability of the characteristic variety [33] can be used to give another proof of Smith's original theorem, but we cannot use this result because it is heavily dependent on characteristic zero methods and does not directly apply to our completed enveloping algebras.

1.9. Arithmetic \mathcal{D} -modules. The sheaf $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{0,K}}$, and in particular the Tate-Weyl algebra $\widehat{\mathcal{A}_K}$, was studied before from a slightly different viewpoint by Berthelot in [12]. In fact, $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{0,K}}$ is essentially Berthelot's sheaf $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}_{\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}}^{(0)}$ of arithmetic differential operators of level zero on the formal neighbourhood \mathcal{X} of the special fibre X_k in X; the only difference between our approaches is that we view $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}}$ as a sheaf on X supported on X_k for simplicity and do not mention formal neighbourhoods. Our second main result is a p-adic analogue of the classical Bernstein Inequality for algebraic \mathcal{D} -modules.

THEOREM B. Let $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{n,K}$ be as in Section 1.7, and suppose that M is a finitely generated nonzero $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}_{n,K}$ -module. Then

$$\dim \operatorname{Ch}(M) \ge m.$$

Berthelot has proved a version of the Bernstein Inequality for $F - \mathscr{D}_{\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}}^{\dagger}$ modules in [13, Th. 5.3.4]; our Theorem B can be viewed as a generalization of his result in the case when $X = \mathbb{A}_R^m$. We do not consider the arithmetic differential operators of higher level $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}_{\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}}^{(\ell)}$ in this paper; our sheaves $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ should be viewed as a deformation of the level zero arithmetic differential operators $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}_{\mathcal{X},\mathbb{Q}}^{(0)}$.

Close to the end of the preparation of this paper we discovered than Caro has removed the Frobenius condition from Berthelot's result in [21]. His proof is rather different from ours. Like Berthelot, Caro does not consider our algebras $\widehat{\mathcal{A}_{n,K}}$ for n > 0.

1.10. Beilinson-Bernstein localisation. Let \mathbf{G} be a split semisimple algebraic group over R with R-Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} and let X be its flag-scheme \mathbf{G}/\mathbf{B} . We show in Section 6 that the analogue of the Beilinson-Bernstein Localisation theorem [8] holds in our setting.

THEOREM C. Suppose that λ is a dominant regular weight. There is an equivalence of abelian categories between finitely generated $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}}$ -modules with

central character corresponding to λ , and coherent sheaves of modules over the sheaf $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ of completed deformed twisted crystalline differential operators on X.

Part of this result is essentially due to Noot-Huyghe in [61]; she established the equivalence of categories between coherent sheaves of $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{0,K}^{\lambda}$ -modules and finitely generated modules for the ring of global sections of $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{0,K}^{\lambda}$. In many places our proof of this part of Theorem C follows hers, although the presentation is sometimes a little different. However she does not explicitly compute the ring of global sections in her paper. We do so following the ideas in [14].

We also prove that the rigid analytic quantization construction sketched above in Section 1.7 is compatible with Beilinson-Bernstein localisation; this means that just as in the classical case of complex enveloping algebras one can pull back the characteristic variety of a $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}}$ -module from \mathfrak{g}_k^* to T^*X_k along the Grothendieck-Springer map and study the corresponding $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}}$ -module instead.

After Theorem B, this effectively reduces the proof of Theorem A to the following analogue of Quillen's Lemma [65] for classical enveloping algebras.

THEOREM D. Let M be a simple $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}}$ -module, let Z be the centre of $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}}$, and suppose that n > 0. Then M is Z-locally finite.

Theorems B and D and the computation of global sections in Theorem C may be viewed as the main technical contributions of this paper. We do not believe that the restriction on n in Theorem D is really necessary.

1.11. Future directions of research. This work raises a number of possibilities for future avenues of study. First it suggests that further study of the representation theory of the completed enveloping algebras $\widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{n,K}$ might be fruitful for better understanding the representation theory of Iwasawa algebras. Although current knowledge suggests that there are very few prime ideals in the Iwasawa algebras KG, there are plenty in $\widehat{\mathcal{U}}_{n,K}$, and a classification of primitive ideals in these latter algebras looks to be possible and may well influence the structure of coadmissible KG-modules. Similarly, attempting to define a version of the BGG category \mathcal{O} for completed enveloping algebras is likely to have important consequences if successful.

Although we have only used our techniques to study the canonical dimension function, it seems plausible that they might also be useful in attempting to better understand other invariants such as the Euler characteristic of [23].

It also seems worth further pursuing the study of \mathcal{D} -modules on rigid analytic spaces. In this paper we only really deal with spaces that are locally polydiscs; it would be interesting to attempt to develop a more general theory.

KONSTANTIN ARDAKOV and SIMON WADSLEY

460

1.12. Structure of this paper. In Sections 2 and 3 we recall some standard results from noncommutative algebra and define almost commutative affinoid K-algebras. In Section 4 we develop the theory of crystalline differential operators on a homogeneous space defined over an arbitrary commutative ring; we suspect this is well known to experts but we could not find a good single reference in this generality so we include it for the sake of those from another field. In Sections 5 and 6 we set up the language for and then prove Theorem C. We also explain here how the characteristic variety of a module over a completed enveloping algebra behaves under localisation. In Section 7 we prove Theorem B, and in Section 8 we prove Theorem D. In Section 9 we apply all that has gone before along with a study of the fibres of the Grothendieck-Springer resolution to give a lower bound on the canonical dimension of $\mathcal{U}_{n,K}$ -modules that are infinite-dimensional over K. In Section 10 we explain the relationship between the Iwasawa algebras KG and the completed enveloping algebras culminating in the proof of Theorem A. Finally in Section 11 we study KG-modules that are finite-dimensional over K; we essentially give a complete classification of them. See Prasad's appendix in [68] for parallel results for distribution algebras.

1.13. Acknowledgements. We would like to thank Ian Grojnowski for giving us the idea of using the Beilinson-Bernstein localisation theorem to study Iwasawa algebras. The first author and Grojnowski have been working, in parallel with this paper, on another geometric approach to Iwasawa algebras. This work, which has been ongoing for several years, has been very influential in the creation of several parts of this paper and should appear soon.

The idea to obtain Theorem A as a corollary of the Beilinson-Bernstein localisation theorem and the work of Schneider and Teitelbaum was conceived during the final workshop of the 'Non-Abelian Fundamental Groups in Arithmetic Geometry' programme at the Isaac Newton Institute in Cambridge. We are very grateful to the Institute for providing excellent working conditions.

We are also very grateful to Peter Schneider for his detailed comments on an earlier version of this paper. Finally, we heartily thank the referee for reading this paper so thoroughly and providing many useful comments and suggestions.

The first author was partially supported by an Early Career Fellowship from the Leverhulme Trust. The second author was funded by EPSRC grant EP/C527348/1 for a part of this research.

2. Background

Our convention regarding left and right modules is as follows. The term module means *left* module, unless explicitly specified otherwise. Noetherian rings are left and right Noetherian, and other ring-theoretic adjectives such as Artinian are used in a similar way.

2.1. Filtered rings and modules. Let Λ be either \mathbb{Z} or \mathbb{R} . A Λ -filtration $F_{\bullet}A$ on a ring A is a set $\{F_{\lambda}A|\lambda \in \Lambda\}$ of additive subgroups of A such that

- $1 \in F_0A;$
- $F_{\lambda}A \subset F_{\mu}A$ whenever $\lambda < \mu$;
- $F_{\lambda}A \cdot F_{\mu}A \subset F_{\lambda+\mu}A$ for all $\lambda, \mu \in \Lambda$.

The filtration on A is said to be separated if $\bigcap_{\lambda \in \Lambda} F_{\lambda} A = \{0\}$, and it is said to be exhaustive if $\bigcup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} F_{\lambda} A = A$. Our filtrations will always be exhaustive. Note also that the second condition says that our filtrations are always increasing.

Given a filtration $F_{\bullet}A$ of A we may make A into a topological ring by letting the $F_{\lambda}A$ be a fundamental system of neighbourhoods of 0. When $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}$, we say the filtration is *complete* if any Cauchy sequence in A converges to a unique limit.

In a similar way, given a Λ -filtered ring $F_{\bullet}A$ and an A-module M, a filtration of M is a set $\{F_{\lambda}M|\lambda \in \Lambda\}$ of additive subgroups of M such that

- $F_{\lambda}M \subset F_{\mu}M$ whenever $\lambda < \mu$;
- $F_{\lambda}A \cdot F_{\mu}M \subset F_{\lambda+\mu}M$ for all $\lambda, \mu \in \Lambda$.

Again, the filtration of M is said to be *separated* if $\bigcap_{\lambda \in \Lambda} F_{\lambda}M = \{0\}$ and the filtration of M is said to be *exhaustive* if $\bigcup_{\lambda \in \Lambda} F_{\lambda}M = M$.

2.2. Degree functions. An exhaustive Λ -filtration can arise from a degree function. This is a function $v: A \to \Lambda \cup \{\infty\}$ such that

- v(1) = 0,
- $v(0) = \infty$,
- $v(x+y) \ge \min(v(x), v(y)),$
- $v(xy) \ge v(x) + v(y)$

for all $x, y \in A$. If $F_{\bullet}A$ is a Λ -filtration on A, then

$$\deg(x) := \sup\{\lambda \in \Lambda : x \in F_{-\lambda}A\}$$

is a degree function, and conversely, if $v:A\to\Lambda\cup\{\infty\}$ is a degree function, then

$$F_{\lambda}A := \{ x \in A \mid v(x) \ge -\lambda \}$$

defines an exhaustive Λ -filtration on A. When $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}$, these formulas give a natural bijection between degree functions and filtrations.

Typically when we are dealing with a *positive* Λ -filtration (one where $F_{\lambda}A = 0$ for all $\lambda < 0$), we will use the language of filtrations, and when we are dealing with a *negative* Λ -filtration (one where $F_{\lambda}A = A$ for all $\lambda \ge 0$), we will use the language of degree functions. This explains the minus signs in the above definitions.

2.3. Associated graded rings and modules. Let A be a Λ -filtered ring whose filtration arises from a degree function. Define

$$F_{\lambda_-}A := \bigcup_{\mu < \lambda} F_{\mu}A,$$

and note that if $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}$, then $F_{n_-}A = F_{n-1}A$ for all $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. We can now form two related Λ -graded rings: the associated graded ring

$$\operatorname{gr} A = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Lambda} F_{\lambda} A / F_{\lambda_{-}} A$$

and the Rees ring

$$\widetilde{A} = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Lambda} F_{\lambda} A \ t^{\lambda} \subseteq A[\Lambda],$$

which we view as a subring of the group ring $A[\Lambda]$ of the abelian group Λ ; here $A[\Lambda]$ is the free A-module on the set of symbols $\{t^{\lambda} : \lambda \in \Lambda\}$, which is a set-theoretic copy of Λ . We denote the λ -th homogeneous piece of gr A by $\operatorname{gr}_{\lambda} A$. For $a \in A$ but not in $\bigcap_{\lambda} F_{\lambda} A$, we will also write gr a for the principal symbol of a in gr A.

Given a filtered $F_{\bullet}A$ module $F_{\bullet}M$, we similarly define

$$F_{\lambda_{-}}M := \bigcup_{\mu < \lambda} F_{\mu}M,$$

and then the associated graded module $\operatorname{gr} M$ of M is

$$\operatorname{gr} M = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Lambda} F_{\lambda} M / F_{\lambda_{-}} M.$$

Clearly $\operatorname{gr} M$ is naturally a graded $\operatorname{gr} A$ -module.

We say that a \mathbb{Z} -filtration on a ring A is *Zariskian* if the Rees ring \widetilde{A} is Noetherian and $F_{-1}A$ is contained in the Jacobson radical of F_0A . In particular, a \mathbb{Z} -filtration is Zariskian whenever the filtration on A is complete and the associated graded ring gr A is Noetherian; this follows from [56, Prop. II.2.2.1].

2.4. *Microlocalisation*. We recall some basic results in the theory of algebraic microlocalisation.

Suppose that A is a Zariskian filtered ring, T is an Ore set in grA consisting of homogeneous elements and M is a finitely generated A-module with a good filtration.

LEMMA. Let $S := \{s \in A \mid \text{gr} s \in T\}$. Then

- (a) S is an Ore set in A.
- (b) There is a natural Zariskian filtration on A_S such that $\operatorname{gr} A_S \cong (\operatorname{gr} A)_T$.
- (c) There is a good filtration on M_S as an A_S -module such that $\operatorname{gr} M_S \cong (\operatorname{gr} M)_T$.

Proof. (a) follows from [55, Cor. 2.2]. (b) follows from [55, Props. 2.8 and 2.3]. (c) follows from [55, Cor. 2.5(1,2) and Prop. 2.6(1)] \Box

DEFINITION. Given the notation above we define the *microlocalisation* $Q_T(A)$ of A at T to be the completion of the induced Zariskian filtration on A_S . Similarly, we define the *microlocalisation* $Q_T(M)$ of M at T to be the completion of the induced good filtration on M_S .

COROLLARY. With the notation above, $Q_T(A)$ is a flat A-module and $Q_T(A) \otimes_A M \cong Q_T(M)$. Moreover $Q_T(M) = 0$ if and only if if $M_S = 0$.

Proof. The flatness follows from [55, Cors. 2.4 and 2.7(1)]. The isomorphism $Q_T(A) \otimes_A M \cong Q_T(M)$ is [55, Cor. 2.7(2)]. The last part follows from [55, Cor. 2.5(3)]

2.5. Auslander-Gorenstein rings and dimension functions.

DEFINITION. Let A be a Noetherian ring.

- (a) We say that a finitely generated (left or right) A-module M satisfies Auslander's condition if for every $i \ge 0$ and every submodule N of $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{i}(M, A)$, we have $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{j}(N, A) = 0$ for all j < i.
- (b) We say that A is Auslander-Gorenstein if the left and right self-injective dimension of A is finite and every finitely generated (left or right) A-module satisfies Auslander's condition.
- (c) We say that A is Auslander regular if it is Auslander-Gorenstein and has finite (left and right) global dimension.

DEFINITION. If A is an Auslander-Gorenstein ring and M is a finitely generated A-module, then the grade of M is given by

 $j_A(M) := \inf\{j \mid \operatorname{Ext}_A^j(M, A) \neq 0\}$

and the *canonical dimension* of M is given by

$$d_A(M) := \operatorname{inj.dim}_A A - j_A(M).$$

We say an A-module M is *pure* if every finitely generated nonzero submodule of M has the same canonical dimension. We say a finitely generated A-module M is *critical* if every proper quotient of M has strictly smaller canonical dimension.

DEFINITION. Let A be a Noetherian ring. An exact dimension function is an assignment, to each finitely generated A-module M, a value $\delta(M) \in \mathbb{Z} \cup \{-\infty\}$ satisfying the following conditions:

- (i) $\delta(0) = -\infty$,
- (ii) $\delta(M) = \max\{\delta(M'), \delta(M'')\}$ whenever $0 \to M' \to M \to M'' \to 0$ is a short exact sequence of finitely generated A-modules, and

(iii) $\delta(M) < \delta(A/P)$ whenever P is a prime ideal of A and M is a torsion A/P-module.

We say that δ is *finitely partitive* if, in addition, δ satisfies the following condition:

(iv) for any finitely generated A-module M, there is an integer n such that whenever $M = M_0 \supseteq M_1 \supseteq M_2 \supseteq \cdots$ is a descending chain of Asubmodules of M, we have $\delta(M_i/M_{i+1}) < \delta(M)$ for all $i \ge n$.

PROPOSITION. Let A be a ring.

- (a) If A is Auslander-Gorenstein, then d_A is a finitely partitive exact dimension function.
- (b) If A has a Zariskian filtration such that the associated graded ring gr A is Auslander-Gorenstein, then A is Auslander-Gorenstein. Moreover if gr A is Auslander regular, then A is Auslander regular.

Proof. (a) is [54, Prop. 4.5], and (b) is [15, Th. 3.9].

2.6. Base change. Suppose that K is a field and K' is a finite algebraic field extension of K.

LEMMA. If A is an Auslander-Gorenstein K-algebra, then $A' := K' \otimes_K A$ is Auslander-Gorenstein. Moreover if M is a finitely generated A-module then

$$d_A(M) = d_{A'}(K' \otimes_K M).$$

Similarly, if N is a finitely generated A'-module, then N is a finitely generated A-module by restriction and $d_A(N) = d_{A'}(N)$.

Proof. First, [4, §5.4] gives that faithfully flat Frobenius extensions of Auslander-Gorenstein rings are Auslander-Gorenstein with the same self-injective dimension. Next, [11, Example C] gives that if K' is a simple algebraic extension of K, then A' is a id-Frobenius extension of A. Also, [11, Prop. 1.3] gives that an id-Frobenius extension of an id-Frobenius extension is an id-Frobenius extension, and so the first part follows.

Now, if M is a finitely generated A-module, we have isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{A'}^{\mathfrak{I}}(K' \otimes_{K} M, A') \cong K' \otimes_{K} \operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{\mathfrak{I}}(M, A)$$

for each $j \ge 0$. This implies that $j_A(M) = j_{A'}(K' \otimes_K M)$, because K' is faithfully flat over K. Thus we obtain the second part.

Finally, if N is a finitely generated A'-module, we have isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{j}(N,A) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{A'}^{j}(N,A')$$

for each $j \ge 0$, and the result follows.

PROPOSITION. Suppose that A and B are Auslander-Gorenstein rings such that inj.dim_AA = inj.dim_BB and B is a flat A-module. If M is a finitely generated A-module and $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{j_{A}(M)}(M, A) \otimes_{A} B \neq 0$, then $d_{A}(M) = d_{B}(B \otimes_{A} M)$.

In particular, if B is a faithfully flat A-module, then $d_A(M) = d_B(B \otimes_A M)$ for every finitely generated A-module M.

Proof. It suffices to prove that $j_A(M) = j_B(B \otimes_A M)$ under these conditions. But $\operatorname{Ext}^i_B(B \otimes_A M, B) \cong \operatorname{Ext}^i_A(M, A) \otimes_A B$ for all $i \ge 0$ since B is flat over A. Thus $j_A(M) = j_B(B \otimes_A M)$ is equivalent to $\operatorname{Ext}^{j_A(M)}_A(M, A) \otimes_A B \neq 0$ and the first part follows.

The second part is a trivial consequence of the first.

$$\square$$

2.7. Lattices. We will several times require the following very useful result.

LEMMA. Let A be a Noetherian ring, and let $\pi \in A$ be a central element. Suppose A is π -adically complete. Let M be a finitely generated A-module such that $M/\pi M$ has finite length. Let $M_0 \supseteq M_1 \supseteq M_2 \supseteq \cdots$ be a descending chain of A-submodules of M such that $M_n \nsubseteq \pi M$ for all n. Then $\bigcap M_n \nsubseteq \pi M$.

Proof. First, note that the π -adic filtration on M and on each M/M_n is complete and separated by [12, §3.2.3(v)], so each M_n is closed in the topology defined by the π -adic filtration. Let $a \ge 1$ be an integer; then $M/\pi^a M$ is a finite extension of quotients of the finite length module $M/\pi M$ and so has finite length. It follows that M is *pseudo-compact* in the sense of [34, §IV.3]. Now we may apply [34, Prop. IV.3.11] to deduce that $\pi M + \bigcap M_n = \bigcap_n (\pi M + M_n)$. But $M/\pi M$ has finite length, so there exists r such that $\pi M + M_n = \pi M + M_r$ for all $n \ge r$. Hence $\pi M + \bigcap M_n = \pi M + M_r > \pi M$, and the result follows. \Box

Let R be a discrete valuation ring with uniformizer π , residue field k and field of fractions K.

DEFINITION. Let V be a K-vector space. We say that an R-submodule L of V is a R-lattice if $V = K \cdot L$ and $\bigcap_{a=0}^{\infty} \pi^a L = 0$.

Equivalently, the π -adic filtration on V given by $F_i V = \pi^{-i} L$ is exhaustive and separated. We call the k-vector space $\operatorname{gr}_0 V = L/\pi L$ the slice of V. Since our vector spaces will frequently be infinite-dimensional over K, in general the lattice L will not be finitely generated as an R-module.

PROPOSITION. Suppose that the discrete valuation ring R is complete. Then every R-lattice N in a finite-dimensional K-vector space V is finitely generated over R.

Proof. Let M be the R-submodule of V generated by a basis of V. Then M is finitely generated over R and $M/\pi M$ has finite length since $R/\pi R = k$ is

a field. Consider the descending chain of *R*-submodules $M_i = M \cap \pi^i N$ of M for $i \ge 0$. Since N is an *R*-lattice in V, $\bigcap M_i = 0$, and so $M_t \subseteq \pi M$ for some $t \ge 0$ by the lemma. Thus $N \cap \pi^{-i}M \subseteq N \cap \pi^{-i+1}M$ for all $i \ge t$, whence inductively $N \cap \pi^{-i}M \subseteq N \cap \pi^{-t+1}M$ for all $i \ge t$. Since M is an *R*-lattice in V,

$$N = \bigcup_{i \ge t} N \cap \pi^{-i} M \subseteq \pi^{-t+1} M,$$

and so N is finitely generated R-module because $\pi^{-t+1}M$ is a Noetherian R-module.

3. Almost commutative affinoid algebras

We develop the basic theory of almost commutative affinoid algebras in this section. Unless explicitly stated otherwise, R will denote a complete discrete valuation ring with uniformizer π , residue field k and field of fractions K. We do not make any assumptions on the characteristics of k or K.

3.1. Doubly filtered rings.

DEFINITION. Let A be a K-algebra. We say that A is doubly filtered if it has an R-subalgebra F_0A that is an R-lattice in A and if the slice gr_0A of A is a Z-filtered ring. We say that A is a complete doubly filtered K-algebra if F_0A is complete with respect to its π -adic filtration and the filtration on gr_0A is also complete. A morphism of doubly filtered K-algebras is a K-linear ring homomorphism $\varphi : A \to B$ that preserves the lattices in A and B and that induces a filtered k-linear homomorphism $\operatorname{gr}_0\varphi : \operatorname{gr}_0A \to \operatorname{gr}_0B$ between the slices.

LEMMA. Let A be a doubly filtered K-algebra. Then the associated graded ring of A with respect to its π -adic filtration is isomorphic to the Laurent polynomial ring in one variable over the slice $gr_0 A$ of A:

$$\operatorname{gr} A \cong (\operatorname{gr}_0 A)[s, s^{-1}].$$

We will always denote the associated graded ring of the slice of A by

$$\operatorname{Gr} A := \operatorname{gr}(\operatorname{gr}_0 A).$$

Note that $A \mapsto \operatorname{Gr}(A)$ is a functor from the category of doubly filtered K-algebras to the category of graded k-algebras.

3.2. Good double filtrations. Let A be a doubly filtered K-algebra, and let M be an A-module. A double filtration on M consists of an R-lattice F_0M in M that is an F_0A -submodule, and a \mathbb{Z} -filtration F_{\bullet} gr₀ M on gr₀ M compatible with the filtration on gr₀ A. We call

$$\operatorname{Gr}(M) := \operatorname{gr}(\operatorname{gr}_0 M)$$

the associated graded module of M with respect to this double filtration. The double filtration on M is said to be good if

- the filtration on $\operatorname{gr}_0 M$ is separated, and
- Gr(M) is a finitely generated Gr(A)-module.

When A is a complete doubly filtered K-algebra such that Gr(A) is Noetherian, it follows from [56, Th. I.5.7] that this is equivalent to the filtration on $gr_0 M$ being good in the sense of [56, §I.5.1]: the Rees module of $gr_0 M$ is finitely generated over the Rees ring of $gr_0 A$. The following elementary result will be very useful in the future.

LEMMA. Let A be complete doubly filtered K-algebra, and let M be a doubly filtered A-module.

- (a) If the double filtration on M is good, then M is a finitely generated A-module.
- (b) If Gr(A) is Noetherian, then so are A and F_0A .

Proof. (a) The π -adic filtration $F_iM := \pi^{-i}F_0M$ on M is separated because F_0M is a lattice in M, and the given filtration $F_{\bullet}\operatorname{gr}_0 M$ on $\operatorname{gr}_0 M$ is separated by assumption. In view of Lemma 3.1, the result now follows by applying [56, Th. I.5.7] twice.

(b) It is enough to show that A is left Noetherian. Let I be a left ideal of A. The double filtration on A induces a double filtration on I; in this way, $\operatorname{gr}_0 I$ is a left ideal in $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$, the filtration on $\operatorname{gr}_0 I$ is separated and $\operatorname{Gr}(I)$ is a left ideal of $\operatorname{Gr}(A)$. Hence the double filtration on I is good so I is finitely generated. A similar argument shows that F_0A is also Noetherian. \Box

Whenever L is an R-module, L_K will denote the K-vector space $K \otimes_R L$.

PROPOSITION. Let A be a complete doubly filtered K-algebra such that Gr(A) is Noetherian.

- (a) Every finitely generated π -torsion-free F_0A -module L is an R-lattice in L_K .
- (b) Every finitely generated A-module M has at least one good double filtration.

Proof. Note that Gr(A) Noetherian implies that F_0A is Noetherian, by part (b) of the lemma.

(a) $N := \bigcap_{j=0}^{\infty} \pi^j L$ is a finitely generated F_0A -submodule of L since F_0A is Noetherian. Moreover $N = \pi N$. Because F_0A is π -adically complete, π is in the Jacobson radical of F_0A , and hence N = 0 by Nakayama's Lemma. Since L is π -torsion-free, we can identify it with its image inside L_K , and hence L is an R-lattice in L_K .

(b) Let m_1, \ldots, m_ℓ be an A-generating set for M. Let $F_0 M = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} F_0 A. m_i$. Then $F_0 M$ is an R-lattice in M by (a) and $gr_0 M = F_0 M / \pi F_0 M$ is generated as a $gr_0 A$ module by the images $\overline{m_i}$ of the m_i . Now setting $F_i \operatorname{gr}_0 M :=$ $\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} F_j \operatorname{gr}_0 A.\overline{m}_i$ defines a filtration $F_{\bullet} \operatorname{gr}_0 M$ on $\operatorname{gr}_0 M$ such that $\operatorname{gr}(\operatorname{gr}_0 M)$ is finitely generated over $\operatorname{Gr}(A)$. The filtration on $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is complete and $\operatorname{Gr}(A)$ is Noetherian by assumption, so $F_{\bullet} \operatorname{gr}_0 M$ is separated by [56, Prop. II.2.2.1 and Theorem I.4.14].

3.3. Characteristic varieties.

DEFINITION. Let A be a complete doubly filtered K-algebra such that Gr(A) is commutative and Noetherian, and let M be a finitely generated A-module. Choose a good double filtration $(F_0M, F_{\bullet} \operatorname{gr}_0 M)$ on M. The *characteristic variety* of M is the Zariski closed subset

$$Ch(M) := Supp(Gr(M)) \subseteq Spec(Gr(A))$$

of the prime spectrum of the commutative Noetherian k-algebra Gr(A).

Of course the dimension of Ch(M) will always be equal to the Krull dimension of the Gr(A)-module Gr(M).

PROPOSITION. The characteristic variety $\operatorname{Ch}(M)$ does not depend on the choice of good double filtration on M. Moreover if $0 \to L \to M \to N \to 0$ is a short exact sequence of A-modules, then $\operatorname{Ch}(M) = \operatorname{Ch}(L) \cup \operatorname{Ch}(N)$.

Proof. Let us first fix the lattice F_0M in M. Then it is well known [56, Ch. III, Lemma 4.1.9] that the characteristic support $\text{Supp}(\text{gr gr}_0 M)$ does not depend on the choice of good filtration on $\text{gr}_0 M$ and also that $\text{Supp}(\text{gr gr}_0 M)$ only depends on the class of $\text{gr}_0 M$ in the Grothendieck semigroup of $\text{gr}_0 A$ -modules [43, Lemma D.3.3]. On the other hand this class does not depend on the choice of lattice F_0M inside M by [36, Prop. 1.1.2], for example.

Now given a short exact sequence as in the statement, it is straightforward to find F_0A lattices F_0L and F_0N in L and N respectively so that there is a short exact sequence $0 \to F_0L \to F_0M \to F_0N \to 0$. Reducing this mod π gives a short exact sequence $0 \to \operatorname{gr}_0L \to \operatorname{gr}_0M \to \operatorname{gr}_0N \to 0$ since F_0N is flat over R.

Now giving $\operatorname{gr}_0 L$ and $\operatorname{gr}_0 N$ the subspace and quotient filtrations from some good filtration on $\operatorname{gr}_0 M$ defines good double filtrations on L and N such that $0 \to \operatorname{Gr}(L) \to \operatorname{Gr}(M) \to \operatorname{Gr}(N) \to 0$ is exact, and then the result is clear. \Box

THEOREM. Suppose that A is a complete doubly filtered K-algebra such that Gr(A) is commutative and regular; then A is Auslander regular. If, in addition, every simple Gr(A)-module N has $d_{Gr(A)}(N) = 0$, then

$$\dim \operatorname{Ch}(M) + j_A(M) = \dim \operatorname{Gr}(A)$$

for all finitely generated A-modules M.

Moreover if M is a pure A-module, then every irreducible component of Ch(M) has the same dimension.

Proof. The first part follows by applying Proposition 2.5(b) twice. Now

$$\dim \operatorname{Ch}(M) + j_{\operatorname{Gr}(A)}(\operatorname{Gr}(M)) = \dim \operatorname{Gr}(A)$$

by [77, Th. 1.3] and $j_{\text{Gr}(A)}(\text{Gr}(M)) = j_A(M)$ by [56, Th. III.2.5.2].

Finally if M is pure, then by applying [15, Th. 3.8] twice we may find a good double filtration of M such that Gr(M) is pure, and the result follows. \Box

Notice, in particular, that the second part of the theorem applies whenever Gr(A) is a polynomial ring over k.

3.4. Almost commutative algebras. We now generalise the more-or-less standard theory of almost commutative algebras over a field; see [59, §8.4]. Let R be a commutative Noetherian base ring.

DEFINITION. Let A be a positively Z-filtered R-algebra with F_0A an R-subalgebra of A. We say that A is almost commutative if gr A is a finitely generated commutative R-algebra. A morphism of almost commutative R-algebras is an R-linear filtered ring homomorphism.

It follows from [56, Prop. II.2.2.1] that almost commutative R-algebras are always Noetherian. Moreover every factor ring of an almost commutative ring is again almost commutative.

Examples. (a) Let X be an affine R-scheme of finite type. Then there exists a presentation $R[X_1, \ldots, X_m] \to \mathcal{O}(X)$ that endows $\mathcal{O}(X)$ with a positive filtration induced from the natural degree filtration on $R[X_1, \ldots, X_m]$. This gives $\mathcal{O}(X)$ the structure of an almost commutative R-algebra.

(b) Let X be a smooth affine R-scheme of finite type. Then the ring of crystalline differential operators $\mathcal{D}(X)$ is generated by $\mathcal{O}(X)$ and $\mathcal{T}(X)$; see Section 4.2 for a precise definition. The associated graded ring with respect to the filtration by order of differential operators

$$\operatorname{gr} \mathcal{D}(X) \cong \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}(X)} \mathcal{T}(X) \cong \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{T}^*(X))$$

is commutative, and $\mathcal{T}(X)$ is a finitely generated $\mathcal{O}(X)$ -module. Therefore $\mathcal{D}(X)$ is an almost commutative *R*-algebra.

- (c) If \mathfrak{g} is an *R*-Lie algebra that is free of finite rank as an *R*-module, then the universal enveloping algebra $U(\mathfrak{g})$ is an almost commutative *R*-algebra with respect to the usual Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt filtration.
- (d) Let V be a free R-module of finite rank equipped with an alternating R-bilinear form $\omega: V \times V \to R$. The enveloping algebra $R_{\omega}[V]$ of (V, ω) is

the quotient of the tensor *R*-algebra $\bigoplus_{i=0}^{\infty} V^{\otimes i}$ on *V* by the relations

$$vw - wv = \omega(v, w)$$
 for all $v, w \in V$.

Consider the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{h}_{\omega} := V \oplus Rz$ with Lie bracket determined by the rules $[v, w] = \omega(v, w)z$ and [v, z] = 0 for all $v, w \in \mathfrak{h}_{\omega}$. Then $R_{\omega}[V]$ is isomorphic to the factor ring of $U(\mathfrak{h}_{\omega})$ by the ideal generated by z - 1. Since $\operatorname{gr} U(\mathfrak{h}_{\omega})$ is isomorphic to the polynomial algebra $\operatorname{Sym}_R(V)[z]$ by the Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt Theorem, we see that $\operatorname{gr} R_{\omega}[V] \cong \operatorname{Sym}_R(V)$ when we equip $R_{\omega}[V]$ with the natural positive filtration with R in degree 0 and V in degree 1. Thus $R_{\omega}[V]$ is an almost commutative R-algebra.

3.5. Deformations. We now return to assuming that R is a complete discrete valuation ring with field of fractions K and uniformizer π .

DEFINITION. Let A be a positively Z-filtered R-algebra with F_0A an R-subalgebra of A. We call A a *deformable* R-algebra if gr A is a flat R-module. A *morphism* of deformable R-algebras is an R-linear filtered ring homomorphism.

All the almost commutative R-algebras appearing in the above examples, with the possible exception of (a), are deformable.

DEFINITION. Let A be a deformable R-algebra, and let n be a nonnegative integer. The *n*-th deformation of A is the following R-submodule of A:

$$A_n := \sum_{i \ge 0} \pi^{in} F_i A.$$

There is a unique ring homomorphism $A[t] \to A_K$ that extends the inclusion $A \hookrightarrow A_K$ and sends t to π^n . Since A_n is the image of the Rees ring $\widetilde{A} = \bigoplus_{m=0}^{\infty} t^m F_m A$ under this homomorphism, A_n is actually an R-subalgebra of A. It can in fact be shown that A_n is isomorphic to the factor ring $\widetilde{A}/\langle t-\pi^n \rangle$.

This definition is clearly functorial, and in this way we obtain an endofunctor $A \mapsto A_n$ of the category of deformable *R*-algebras. Of course the deformation A_n does not depend on the choice of uniformizer π .

LEMMA. Let A be a deformable R-algebra. Then A_n is also a deformable R-algebra for all $n \ge 0$ and there is a natural isomorphism $\operatorname{gr} A \to \operatorname{gr} A_n$.

Proof. It is clear that A_n is an *R*-lattice in A_K . Give A_n the subspace filtration $F_m A_n := F_m A \cap A_n$. Because gr A is flat over R, we have

$$F_m A_n = \sum_{i=0}^m \pi^{in} F_i A.$$

Define an R-linear map $F_m A/F_{m-1}A \to F_m A_n/F_{m-1}A_n$ by the formula

$$x + F_{m-1}A \mapsto \pi^{mn}x + F_{m-1}A_n.$$

Since gr A is flat over R, this map is an injection. It is straightforward to verify that it is actually a bijection and that it extends to a ring isomorphism between gr A and gr A_n .

Finally if $f: A \to B$ is a morphism of deformable *R*-algebras, the diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{gr} A \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{gr} A_n \\ \\ \operatorname{gr} f \middle| & & & & & \\ \operatorname{gr} B \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{gr} B_n \end{array}$$

commutes.

3.6. Deformations and tensor products. Equipping the polynomial algebra $R[x_1, \ldots, x_\ell]$ with the natural degree filtration gives a first example of a deformable *R*-algebra. It is easy to see that its *n*-th deformation is simply $R[\pi^n x_1, \ldots, \pi^n x_\ell]$.

PROPOSITION. Let A be a deformable R-algebra. Then $A \otimes_R R[x_1, \ldots, x_\ell]$ is a deformable R-algebra when equipped with the tensor filtration. Moreover,

$$(A \otimes_R R[x_1, \ldots, x_\ell])_n = A_n \otimes_R (R[x_1, \ldots, x_\ell])_n.$$

Proof. By induction on the number of variables, it suffices to consider the case $\ell = 1$ and $x_1 = x$. We may then identify $A \otimes_R R[x]$ with A[x].

Now $gr(A[x]) \cong (gr A)[x]$ where x has degree one in the right-hand side. Thus gr(A[x]) is flat over R and so deformable.

By functoriality of $(-)_n$, the natural inclusions $A \to A[x]$ and $R[x] \to A[x]$ of deformable *R*-algebras induce inclusions $A_n \to A[x]_n$ and $R[x]_n \to A[x]_n$. Thus the universal property of the tensor product yields a map from $A_n \otimes_R R[x]_n$ to $A[x]_n$. By considering the identification $A \otimes_R R[x]$ with A[x], we see that this map is an inclusion, and so it suffices to see that that it is surjective. But if $a_i \in F_i A$, then $\pi^{in} a_i \otimes \pi^{jn} x^j$ is an element of $A_n \otimes_R R[x]_n$ and the images of these elements span $A[x]_n$.

Peter Schneider has sent us a proof that the functors $A \mapsto A_n$ preserve finite coproducts — that is tensor products over R — in the category of deformable R-algebras. However, we will not need the full strength of this result in this work.

3.7. π -adic completions. We will now exhibit a functorial way of producing complete doubly filtered K-algebras.

DEFINITION. Let A be a deformable R-algebra. The π -adic completion of A is

$$A = \lim_{\longleftarrow} A/\pi^a A.$$

This is an R-lattice in the K-algebra

$$\widehat{A_K} := \widehat{A} \otimes_R K.$$

LEMMA. Let A be a deformable R-algebra. Then $\widehat{A_K}$ is a complete doubly filtered K-algebra and is a natural isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Gr}(\widehat{A_K}) = \operatorname{gr}(\widehat{A}/\pi\widehat{A}) \cong \operatorname{gr} A/\pi \operatorname{gr} A.$$

Proof. We see that \widehat{A} is an *R*-lattice in $\widehat{A_K}$ and that $\operatorname{gr}_0 \widehat{A_K} \cong A/\pi A$. The filtration on *A* induces a filtration on $A/\pi A$ and

$$\operatorname{Gr}(\widehat{A_K}) = \operatorname{gr}\operatorname{gr}_0\widehat{A_K} \cong \operatorname{gr}(A/\pi A) \cong \operatorname{gr} A/\pi \operatorname{gr} A$$

since π is a central regular element in A of degree zero. The filtration on $A/\pi A$ is complete because the filtration on A is positive by assumption.

Thus we have a countable family of functors $A \mapsto \widehat{A_{n,K}}$ from deformable R-algebras to complete doubly filtered K-algebras.

COROLLARY. For each $n \ge 0$, there is a natural isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Gr}(\widehat{A_{n,K}}) \to \operatorname{gr} A/\pi \operatorname{gr} A.$$

Proof. Apply Lemmas 3.5 and 3.7.

3.8. Almost commutative affinoid algebras.

DEFINITION. Let A be a complete doubly filtered K-algebra. We say that A is an *almost commutative affinoid* K-algebra if its slice is an almost commutative k-algebra.

Almost commutative affinoid K-algebras are always Noetherian by [56, Prop. II.2.2.1].

PROPOSITION. Let A be an almost commutative deformable R-algebra. Then $\widehat{A_{n,K}}$ is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra for all $n \ge 0$.

Proof. $A_{n,K}$ is a complete doubly filtered K-algebra by Lemma 3.7, and the filtration on its slice $\operatorname{gr}_0 A_{n,K}$ is positive by construction. Since $\operatorname{Gr}(\widehat{A_{n,K}}) \cong$ $\operatorname{gr} A/\pi \operatorname{gr} A$ by Corollary 3.7, $\operatorname{Gr}(\widehat{A_{n,K}})$ is a finitely generated commutative kalgebra, and hence $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is an almost commutative k-algebra.

We thus obtain a family of almost commutative affinoid K-algebras $A_{n,K}$ whenever we have an almost commutative deformable R-algebra A; see Section 3.4 for a list of examples. Note that in Example 3.4(a), the completion $\widehat{\mathcal{O}(X)_{n,K}}$ of the commutative R-algebra $\mathcal{O}(X)$ is an affinoid K-algebra in the sense of [19], and it can be viewed as the ring of rigid analytic functions on an affinoid variety $X_{n,K}$. This justifies our terminology.

We note in passing that Soibelman's quantum affinoid algebras $K\{T\}_{q,r}$ appearing in [76] and [75] are examples of almost commutative affinoid K-algebras not of the form $\widehat{A_{n,K}}$ for some almost commutative R-algebra A, provided that |q-1| < 1.

3.9. Base change. Let v be the normalised discrete valuation on K, and let K' be a field extension of K that is complete with respect to a normalised discrete valuation v'. Recall that K'/K is said to be finitely ramified if $v'|_K = ev$ for some integer e > 0; in this case $e := v'(\pi)$ is called the ramification index of K'/K. Let R' be the valuation ring of v', and let π' be a uniformizer of R'. Then the ideal $\pi R'$ is generated by π'^e .

LEMMA. Let A be a deformable R-algebra, and let K' be a complete finitely ramified field extension of K.

- (a) There is a natural filtration on $A' := R' \otimes_R A$ such that A' is a deformable R'-algebra.
- (b) $R' \otimes_R A_n = (A')_{en}$.
- (c) If $[K':K] < \infty$, then $K' \otimes_K \widehat{A_{n,K}}$ is isomorphic to $\widehat{A'_{en,K'}}$ as a complete doubly filtered K'-algebra.

Proof. (a) We define $F_iA' = R' \otimes_R F_iA$ for all *i*. Then gr A' is isomorphic to $R' \otimes_R$ gr A and is therefore a flat R'-module.

(b) Since $\pi R' = \pi'^e R'$, we have

$$R' \otimes_R A_n = \sum_{i \ge 0} \pi^{in} R' \otimes_R F_i A = \sum_{i \ge 0} \pi'^{ien} F_i A' = (A')_{en}.$$

(c) Because R' is a finitely generated R-module, $R' \otimes_R \widehat{A_n}$ is isomorphic to $\widehat{R' \otimes_R A_n}$. Therefore,

$$K' \otimes_K \widehat{A_{n,K}} = K' \otimes_{R'} (R' \otimes_R \widehat{A_n}) \cong K' \otimes_{R'} \widehat{(A')_{en}} = \widehat{(A')_{en,K'}}$$

by part (b).

Note that if K' is an infinite extension of K, then $K' \otimes_K A_{n,K}$ will not be π' -adically complete, in general.

PROPOSITION. Suppose A is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra, M is a finitely generated A-module and K' is a complete, finitely ramified field extension of K. If A' is the almost commutative affinoid K'-algebra obtained by completing $K' \otimes_K A$, then

$$\dim \operatorname{Ch}(A' \otimes_A M) = \dim \operatorname{Ch}(M).$$

Proof. Let $M' = A' \otimes_A M$, and let k' be the residue field of k. Then $R' \otimes_R F_0 M$ is an R'-lattice in M' such that

$$\operatorname{gr}_{0} M' = k' \otimes_{R'} (R' \otimes_{R} F_{0}M) \cong k' \otimes_{R} F_{0}M \cong k' \otimes_{k} \operatorname{gr}_{0} M.$$

This isomorphism induces a good double filtration on M' from the good double filtration on M, and then $\operatorname{Gr}(M') \cong k' \otimes_k \operatorname{Gr}(M)$. The result follows. \Box

4. Crystalline differential operators on homogeneous spaces

4.1. Notation. In this section, R will denote a fixed commutative Noetherian ground ring. Unadorned tensor products and scheme products will be assumed to be taken over R and over Spec(R), respectively. If V is a free A-module over a commutative ring A, then $\text{Sym}_A V$ denotes the symmetric algebra of V over A. All the results in this section are well known when R is a field; we spell them out in this more general context for the sake of the reader because we cannot find a suitable single reference.

Throughout Section 4, X will denote a scheme over Spec(R) that is smooth, separated and locally of finite type. We write \mathcal{T} for the sheaf of sections of the tangent bundle TX.

4.2. Crystalline differential operators.

DEFINITION. The sheaf of crystalline differential operators on X is defined to be the enveloping algebra \mathcal{D} of the tangent Lie algebroid \mathcal{T} .

Thus \mathcal{D} is a sheaf of rings, generated by the structure sheaf \mathcal{O} and the \mathcal{O} -module \mathcal{T} subject to only the relations

- $f\partial = f \cdot \partial$ and $\partial f f\partial = \partial(f)$ for each $f \in \mathcal{O}$ and $\partial \in \mathcal{T}$;
- $\partial \partial' \partial' \partial = [\partial, \partial']$ for $\partial, \partial' \in \mathcal{T}$.

Being a quotient of a universal enveloping algebra, the sheaf \mathcal{D} comes equipped with a natural Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt filtration

$$0 \subset F_0 \mathcal{D} \subset F_1 \mathcal{D} \subset F_2 \mathcal{D} \subset \cdots$$

consisting of coherent \mathcal{O} -submodules, such that

 $F_0\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{O}, \quad F_1\mathcal{D} = \mathcal{O} \oplus \mathcal{T}, \text{ and } F_m\mathcal{D} = F_1\mathcal{D} \cdot F_{m-1}\mathcal{D} \text{ for } m > 1.$

Since X is smooth, the tangent sheaf \mathcal{T} is locally free and the associated graded algebra of \mathcal{D} is isomorphic to the symmetric algebra of \mathcal{T} :

$$\operatorname{gr} \mathcal{D} := \bigoplus_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{F_m \mathcal{D}}{F_{m-1} \mathcal{D}} \cong \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T}.$$

If $q: T^*X \to X$ is the cotangent bundle of X defined by the locally free sheaf \mathcal{T} , then we can also identify gr \mathcal{D} with $q_*\mathcal{O}_{T^*X}$.

4.3. **H**-torsors. Let **H** be a flat affine algebraic group over R of finite type. Let \widetilde{X} be a scheme equipped with an action $\mathbf{H} \times \widetilde{X} \to \widetilde{X}$ of **H** on \widetilde{X} . We say that a morphism $\xi : \widetilde{X} \to X$ is an **H**-torsor if ξ is faithfully flat and locally of finite type, the action of **H** respects ξ , and the map

$$\widetilde{X} \times \mathbf{H} \to \widetilde{X} \times_X \widetilde{X}$$

that sends $(x,h) \mapsto (x,hx)$ is an isomorphism. An open subscheme U of X is said to *trivialise the torsor* ξ if there exists an **H**-invariant isomorphism

$$U \times \mathbf{H} \xrightarrow{\cong} \xi^{-1}(U),$$

where **H** acts on $U \times \mathbf{H}$ by left translation on the second factor. Let S_X denote the set of open subschemes U of X such that

- U is affine,
- U trivialises ξ ,
- $\mathcal{O}(U)$ is a finitely generated *R*-algebra.

Since X is separated, it is easy to see that S_X is stable under intersections. Moreover, if $U \in S_X$ and W is an open affine subscheme of U, then $W \in S_X$. We say that ξ is *locally trivial* for the Zariski topology if X can be covered by opens in S_X . Thus S_X is a base for X whenever ξ is locally trivial.

LEMMA. If $\xi : \widetilde{X} \to X$ is a locally trivial **H**-torsor, then $\xi^{\sharp} : \mathcal{O}_X \to (\xi_*\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}})^{\mathbf{H}}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. This is a local problem on X, so we may assume that X is affine and $\xi : \widetilde{X} = X \times \mathbf{H} \to X$ is the projection onto the first factor. Since $\mathcal{O}(X)$ is a flat *R*-module, it is a direct limit of free *R*-modules. Now

$$(\xi_*\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{X}})^{\mathbf{H}}(X) = \mathcal{O}(X \times \mathbf{H})^{\mathbf{H}} = (\mathcal{O}(X) \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathbf{H}))^{\mathbf{H}} = \mathcal{O}(X)$$

since rational cohomology commutes with direct limits by [49, Lemma I.4.17]. $\hfill\square$

4.4. The enhanced cotangent bundle. Let $\xi : \widetilde{X} \to X$ be an **H**-torsor. The action of **H** on \widetilde{X} induces a rational action of **H** on $\mathcal{O}(V)$ for any **H**-stable open subscheme $V \subseteq \widetilde{X}$ and therefore induces an action of **H** on $\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{X}}$ as follows:

$$(h \cdot \partial)(f) = h \cdot \partial(h^{-1} \cdot f)$$

whenever $\partial \in \mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{X}}, f \in \mathcal{O}$ and $h \in \mathbf{H}$. In this way we obtain the *sheaf of* enhanced vector fields on X:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{T}} := (\xi_* \mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{X}})^{\mathbf{H}}.$$

We can differentiate the **H**-action on \widetilde{X} to obtain an *R*-linear Lie homomorphism

$$j:\mathfrak{h}\to\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{X}}$$

where \mathfrak{h} is the Lie algebra of **H**. Now suppose that ξ is locally trivial, and let $\tau \in \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(U)$ for some open subscheme $U \subseteq X$. Then τ is an **H**-invariant vector field on $\xi^{-1}(U)$ so, in particular, it is an **H**-linear endomorphism of $\mathcal{O}(\xi^{-1}(U))$. Hence it preserves $\mathcal{O}(\xi^{-1}(U))^{\mathbf{H}}$ and by Lemma 4.3 it induces a vector field $\sigma(\tau) \in \mathcal{T}(U)$. This defines a map of \mathcal{O} -modules

$$\sigma: \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{T},$$

which is also known as the *anchor map* of the Lie algebroid $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$. It is easy to see that the anchor map fits into a complex of \mathcal{O} -modules

(1)
$$0 \to \mathfrak{h} \otimes \mathcal{O} \xrightarrow{j \otimes 1} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathcal{T} \to 0,$$

which is functorial in X.

LEMMA. The restriction of (1) to any $U \in S_X$ is split exact. If ξ is locally trivial, then (1) is exact and $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ is locally free.

Proof. We have $\mathcal{T}(U \times \mathbf{H}) = (\mathcal{T}(U) \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathbf{H})) \oplus (\mathcal{O}(U) \otimes \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{H}))$. Since $\mathcal{T}(U)$ is a locally free $\mathcal{O}(U)$ -module and $\mathcal{O}(U)$ is a flat *R*-module, $\mathcal{T}(U)$ is a flat *R*-module and hence a direct limit of free *R*-modules. Therefore,

 $(\mathcal{T}(U) \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathbf{H}))^{\mathbf{H}} = \mathcal{T}(U) \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathbf{H})^{\mathbf{H}} = \mathcal{T}(U)$

again by [49, Lemma I.4.17]. Now $\mathcal{T}(\mathbf{H})^{\mathbf{H}} = j(\mathfrak{h})$ so

$$\mathcal{T}(U \times \mathbf{H})^{\mathbf{H}} = \mathcal{T}(U) \oplus (\mathcal{O}(U) \otimes j(\mathfrak{h}))$$

Let $U \times \mathbf{H} \xrightarrow{\cong} \xi^{-1}(U)$ be an **H**-invariant isomorphism. Then

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(U) = \mathcal{T}(\xi^{-1}(U))^{\mathbf{H}} \cong \mathcal{T}(U \times \mathbf{H})^{\mathbf{H}} = \mathcal{T}(U) \oplus (\mathcal{O}(U) \otimes j(\mathfrak{h}))$$

and the first part follows because U is affine and every term in (1) is a quasicoherent \mathcal{O} -module. The second part follows from the first and the functoriality of (1).

We call the vector bundle $\tau : \widetilde{T^*X} \to X$ associated to the locally free sheaf $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ the *enhanced cotangent bundle* of X. It can in fact be shown that the enhanced cotangent bundle $\widetilde{T^*X}$ is isomorphic to the quotient scheme $(T^*\widetilde{X})/\mathbf{H}$.

4.5. LEMMA. The natural map $U(\mathfrak{h}) \longrightarrow \Gamma(\mathbf{H}, \mathcal{D})^{\mathbf{H}}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. Since \mathbf{H} is affine and Noetherian, we can find isomorphisms

 $\operatorname{gr} \Gamma(\mathbf{H}, \mathcal{D}) \cong \Gamma(\mathbf{H}, \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{D}) \cong \Gamma(\mathbf{H}, \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T}) \cong \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}(\mathbf{H})} \mathcal{T}(\mathbf{H}) \cong \mathcal{O}(\mathbf{H}) \otimes S(\mathfrak{h})$

of commutative graded *R*-algebras. Since $S(\mathfrak{h})$ is a flat *R*-module, taking **H**-invariants and applying [49, Lemma I.4.17] shows that the natural map $S(\mathfrak{h}) \to (\operatorname{gr} \Gamma(\mathbf{H}, \mathcal{D}))^{\mathbf{H}}$ is an isomorphism. This map factors as follows:

$$S(\mathfrak{h}) = \operatorname{gr} U(\mathfrak{h}) \to \operatorname{gr}(\Gamma(\mathbf{H}, \mathcal{D})^{\mathbf{H}}) \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{gr} \Gamma(\mathbf{H}, \mathcal{D}))^{\mathbf{H}},$$

where the second arrow is injective since taking **H**-invariants is always left exact. It follows that both arrows are isomorphisms, and $U(\mathfrak{h}) \to \Gamma(\mathbf{H}, \mathcal{D})^{\mathbf{H}}$ is an isomorphism as claimed.

4.6. Relative enveloping algebras. Given an **H**-torsor $\xi : \widetilde{X} \to X, \xi_* \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}$ is a sheaf of algebras on X with an **H**-action. Following [18, p. 180], we define the relative enveloping algebra of the torsor to be the sheaf of **H**-invariants of $\xi_* \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}$:

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} := (\xi_* \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{Y}})^{\mathbf{H}}.$$

This sheaf carries a natural filtration

$$F_m\widetilde{\mathcal{D}} := (\xi_* F_m \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}})^{\mathbf{H}}$$

induced by the filtration on $\mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}$ by order of differential operators.

PROPOSITION. There is an isomorphism of sheaves of filtered R-algebras

$$\mathcal{D}_{|U} \otimes U(\mathfrak{h}) \xrightarrow{\cong} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{|U}$$

for any $U \in S_X$. If ξ is locally trivial, then there is an isomorphism

$$\tau_*\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*X}} = \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$$

of sheaves of graded R-algebras.

Proof. Let $U \in \mathcal{S}_X$, and let $U \times \mathbf{H} \xrightarrow{\cong} \xi^{-1}(U)$ be a trivialisation of ξ over U. Using Lemma 4.5, we obtain isomorphisms of filtered R-algebras

$$\mathcal{D}(U) \otimes U(\mathfrak{h}) \xrightarrow{\cong} (\mathcal{D}(U) \otimes \mathcal{D}(\mathbf{H}))^{\mathbf{H}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{D}(U \times \mathbf{H})^{\mathbf{H}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U),$$

which are compatible with restrictions to Zariski open subschemes V contained in U. Thus we obtain an isomorphism of sheaves of filtered R-algebras

$$\eta: \mathcal{D}_{|U} \otimes U(\mathfrak{h}) \stackrel{\cong}{\longrightarrow} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{|U}.$$

Now the natural inclusion $\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{X}} \to F_1 \mathcal{D}_{\widetilde{X}}$ induces an \mathcal{O} -linear morphism $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \to F_1 \widetilde{\mathcal{D}} / F_0 \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ and therefore a morphism of graded \mathcal{O} -algebras

$$\alpha: \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \to \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}.$$

On the other hand, Lemma 4.4 gives us an isomorphism of $\mathcal{O}_{|U}$ -modules

$$\theta: \mathcal{T}_{|U} \oplus \mathcal{O}_{|U} \otimes \mathfrak{h} \xrightarrow{\cong} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{|U},$$

and these maps fit together into the commutative diagram

The top two vertical maps are isomorphisms because U is affine and Noetherian, and the bottom horizontal map is an isomorphism since $\operatorname{gr} \mathcal{D} \cong \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T}$. The remaining vertical maps are isomorphisms by functoriality, and therefore $\alpha(U)$ is an isomorphism for any $U \in \mathcal{S}_X$. Since ξ is locally trivial, it follows that α is an isomorphism.

The equality $\tau_* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*X}} = \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ follows from the definition of the enhanced cotangent bundle $\tau : \widetilde{T^*X} \to X$.

Note that even if ξ is locally trivial, the sheaf $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ will in general *not* be isomorphic to $\mathcal{D} \otimes U(\mathfrak{h})$ since the torsor ξ will not in general be globally trivial.

COROLLARY. Let $U \in \mathcal{S}_X$. Then

(a) gr $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U) \cong \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}(U)} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(U)$, and

(b) $\mathcal{D}(U)$ is an almost commutative *R*-algebra.

Proof. (a) This follows from the proof of the proposition.

(b) Since **H** is of finite type, its Lie algebra \mathfrak{h} has finite rank over R, so $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(U)$ is a finitely generated projective $\mathcal{O}(U)$ -module by Lemma 4.4. Hence $\operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)$ is a finitely generated commutative $\mathcal{O}(U)$ -algebra. By definition of \mathcal{S}_X , $\mathcal{O}(U)$ is a finitely generated R-algebra, and it now follows from part (a) that $\operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)$ is a finitely generated commutative R-algebra.

4.7. Algebraic groups and homogeneous spaces. Let **G** be a connected, split reductive, affine algebraic group scheme over R. It is known that **G** is flat over R [49, §II.1.1]. Let **B** be a closed and flat Borel R-subgroup scheme, let **N** be its unipotent radical, and let $\mathbf{H} := \mathbf{B}/\mathbf{N}$ be the abstract Cartan group.

Let $\hat{\mathcal{B}}$ denote the homogeneous space \mathbf{G}/\mathbf{N} . Because $[\mathbf{B}, \mathbf{B}]$ is contained in \mathbf{N} ,

$$b\mathbf{N} \cdot g\mathbf{N} := gb\mathbf{N}, \qquad b \in \mathbf{B}, \quad g \in \mathbf{G}$$

defines an action of **H** on $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$, which commutes with the natural action of **G** on $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$.

LEMMA. (a) $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\mathcal{B} := \mathbf{G}/\mathbf{B}$ are smooth separated schemes over R.

- (b) The action of **H** on $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ induces an isomorphism $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}/\mathbf{H} \cong \mathcal{B}$.
- (c) The natural projection $\xi \colon \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a locally trivial **H**-torsor.

Proof. Because **G**, **B** and **N** can be defined over \mathbb{Z} , we may assume that $R = \mathbb{Z}$.

(a) It follows from [49, §I.5.6(9)] that \mathcal{B} and $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ are schemes; since they are homogeneous spaces under the action of **G**, it follows that they must be smooth.

(b) This is clear, when viewed on the level of the functor of points.

(c) By [49, §II.1.10(2)], we may cover \mathcal{B} by open subschemes U_i each isomorphic to $\mathbb{A}^{\dim \mathcal{B}}$ (the Weyl translates of the big Bruhat cell) and find morphisms $\sigma_i : U_i \to \mathbf{G}$ splitting the projection map $\mathbf{G} \to \mathcal{B}$. Composing these with the projection map $\mathbf{G} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ gives maps $\overline{\sigma_i} : U_i \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ such that $\xi \circ \overline{\sigma_i} = \mathrm{id}_{U_i}$. Now $(u, b\mathbf{N}) \mapsto \sigma_i(u)b\mathbf{N}$ is the required **H**-invariant isomorphism $U_i \times \mathbf{H} \xrightarrow{\cong} \xi^{-1}(U_i)$ and we may apply [60, Prop. III.4.1].

We call the homogeneous spaces $\mathcal{B} = \mathbf{G}/\mathbf{B}$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}} = \mathbf{G}/\mathbf{N}$ the flag variety of \mathbf{G} and the basic affine space of \mathbf{G} , respectively. We will write $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ for the relative enveloping algebra of the \mathbf{H} -torsor $\xi : \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{B}$, and we will also write $\tau : \widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{B}$ for the structure map of the enhanced cotangent bundle of the flag variety.

4.8. The enhanced moment map. Let $\mathfrak{g}, \mathfrak{b}, \mathfrak{n}$ and \mathfrak{h} be the Lie algebras of **G**, **B**, **N** and **H**, respectively. We can differentiate the natural **G**-action on $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ to obtain an *R*-linear Lie homomorphism

$$\varphi:\mathfrak{g}\to\mathcal{T}_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}$$

Since the **G**-action commutes with the **H**-action on \mathcal{B} , this map descends to an *R*-linear Lie homomorphism $\varphi : \mathfrak{g} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathcal{B}}$ and an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -linear morphism

$$\varphi:\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}\otimes\mathfrak{g}\longrightarrow\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathcal{B}}$$

of locally free sheaves on \mathcal{B} , which dualizes to give a morphism of vector bundles over \mathcal{B} from the enhanced cotangent bundle to the trivial vector bundle of rank dim \mathfrak{g} :

$$\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B} \times \mathfrak{g}^*.$$

Here $\mathfrak{g}^* := \operatorname{Spec} (\operatorname{Sym}_R \mathfrak{g})$ is being thought of as an *R*-scheme. Composing this morphism with the projection map onto the second factor gives the *enhanced* moment map

$$\beta: \widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$$

of *R*-schemes. This morphism is also sometimes known as the *Grothendieck-Springer resolution* of \mathfrak{g}^* .

PROPOSITION. (a) The morphism $\varphi : \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes \mathfrak{g} \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathcal{B}}$ is surjective. (b) The enhanced moment map is a projective morphism.

Proof. Since the space $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is homogeneous, the geometric fibres of φ are surjective by [16, Prop. II.6.7]. Part (a) follows because $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes \mathfrak{g}$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathcal{B}}$ are locally free.

The dual map $\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}} \longrightarrow \mathcal{B} \times \mathfrak{g}^*$ is a closed immersion by part (a). Part (b) now follows because \mathcal{B} is a projective scheme by [49, §II.1.8].

4.9. Quantizing the moment map. The Lie homomorphism $\varphi : \mathfrak{g} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ extends to a graded *R*-algebra homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Sym}(\varphi) : \operatorname{Sym}_R \mathfrak{g} \to \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}},$$

which can be viewed as the pull-back map on functions

$$\beta^{\sharp}: \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g}^*) \to \tau_* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}}}$$

associated to the enhanced moment map $\beta : \widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$. It also extends to a filtered *R*-algebra homomorphism

$$U(\varphi): U(\mathfrak{g}) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$$

encoding the action of \mathfrak{g} on $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ by **H**-invariant vector fields.

LEMMA. The representation $U(\varphi) : U(\mathfrak{g}) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ quantizes the enhanced moment map in the sense that $\operatorname{gr} U(\varphi) = \operatorname{Sym}(\varphi)$.

Proof. Using Proposition 4.6 and Lemma 4.7(c), we can naturally identify $\operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ with $\operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$. The restriction of $\operatorname{gr} U(\varphi)$ to \mathfrak{g} is the representation φ by definition, so $\operatorname{gr} U(\varphi)$ and $\operatorname{Sym}(\varphi)$ agree on the generators \mathfrak{g} of $\operatorname{Sym}_R \mathfrak{g}$. The result follows.

In fact, $U(\varphi)$ quantizes β in a stronger sense. There are natural Poisson structures on both \mathfrak{g}^* and on $\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}}$ that are induced by the noncommutative algebras $U(\mathfrak{g})$ and $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$, and the morphism $\operatorname{Sym}(\varphi)$ is compatible with these structures.

4.10. The Harish-Chandra homomorphism. Since our group **G** is split by assumption, we can find a Cartan subgroup **T** of **G** complementary to **N** in **B**. Let $i : \mathbf{T} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbf{H}$ denote the natural isomorphism, and let $i : \mathfrak{t} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathfrak{h}$ be the induced isomorphism between the corresponding Lie algebras. The adjoint action of **T** on **g** induces a root space decomposition

$$\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n} \oplus \mathfrak{t} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+,$$

and we will regard \mathfrak{n} , the Lie algebra of \mathbf{N} , as being spanned by *negative* roots. This decomposition induces an isomorphism of *R*-modules

$$U(\mathfrak{g}) \cong U(\mathfrak{n}) \otimes U(\mathfrak{t}) \otimes U(\mathfrak{n}^+)$$

and a direct sum decomposition

$$U(\mathfrak{g}) = U(\mathfrak{t}) \oplus \left(\mathfrak{n}U(\mathfrak{g}) + U(\mathfrak{g})\mathfrak{n}^+\right).$$

Now the adjoint action of the group **G** induces a rational action of **G** on $U(\mathfrak{g})$ by algebra automorphisms, so we may consider the subring $U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}}$ of **G**-invariants. We call the composite of the natural inclusion of $U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}} \hookrightarrow U(\mathfrak{g})$ with the projection $U(\mathfrak{g}) \twoheadrightarrow U(\mathfrak{t})$ onto the first factor defined by this decomposition the Harish-Chandra homomorphism:

$$\phi: U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}} \longrightarrow U(\mathfrak{t}).$$

Recall from Section 4.4 that the infinitesimal action of **H** on \mathcal{B} is denoted by

$$j:\mathfrak{h}\to\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathcal{B}}$$

and that it extends to an *R*-algebra homomorphism $j: U(\mathfrak{h}) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$. Since **H** is commutative, Proposition 4.6 shows that j is a central embedding.

LEMMA. Suppose that R is an integral domain. Then there exists a commutative diagram

of filtered rings: the restriction of $U(\varphi)$ to $U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}}$ is equal to $j \circ i \circ \phi$.

Proof. Since the objects in this diagram have no R-torsion by the Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt Theorem, we may replace R by an algebraic closure its field of fractions. But in this case this result is well known; this was first observed in [35, §9] for the case when the characteristic of R is zero. See [14, Lemma 3.1.5(b)] for the general case.

5. Completions, deformations and characteristic varieties

We refer the reader to [38, §0.5.3.1] for the definition of *coherent* \mathcal{A} -modules over a sheaf \mathcal{A} of not necessarily commutative rings over a topological space, and we denote the abelian category of coherent \mathcal{A} -modules by $\operatorname{coh}(\mathcal{A})$. Recall that the sheaf \mathcal{A} is said to be *coherent* if \mathcal{A} is itself a coherent \mathcal{A} -module. We begin by establishing some generalities on coherent modules and *I*-adic completions, following [12, §3]. 5.1. Coherently \mathcal{D} -affine spaces. Let X be a topological space, and let \mathcal{D} be a coherent sheaf of rings on X.

DEFINITION. We say that X is coherently \mathscr{D} -acyclic if every coherent \mathscr{D} -module \mathcal{M} is $\Gamma(X, -)$ -acyclic and has the property that $\mathcal{M}(X)$ is a coherent $\mathscr{D}(X)$ -module.

We say that X is *coherently* \mathcal{D} -affine if X is coherently \mathcal{D} -acyclic and every coherent \mathcal{D} -module is generated by its global sections as a \mathcal{D} -module.

If \mathcal{S} is a base for X, we say that \mathcal{S} is *coherently* \mathcal{D} -acyclic, respectively coherently \mathcal{D} -affine, if for all $U \in \mathcal{S}$, U is coherently $\mathcal{D}_{|U}$ -acyclic, respectively coherently $\mathcal{D}_{|U}$ -affine.

A classic example of a space that is coherently \mathscr{D} -affine is obtained by taking X to be a smooth affine complex algebraic variety and \mathscr{D} to be the sheaf of differential operators on X.

The main reason for these definitions comes from the following

PROPOSITION. Let X be coherently \mathscr{D} -acyclic. Then ker $\Gamma(X, -)$ is a Serre subcategory of $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})$, and $\Gamma(X, -)$ and $\mathscr{D} \otimes_{\mathscr{D}(X)} -$ induce mutually inverse equivalences of abelian categories between $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})/\ker\Gamma(X, -)$ and the category $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D}(X))$ of coherent $\mathscr{D}(X)$ -modules. Moreover if X is coherently \mathscr{D} -affine, then ker $\Gamma(X, -) = 0$.

Proof. Let $\Gamma := \Gamma(X, -)$, $D := \mathscr{D}(X)$ and Loc $:= \mathscr{D} \otimes_D -$. Since X is coherently \mathscr{D} -acyclic, Γ is exact on $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})$, which implies that ker Γ is closed under subquotients and extensions.

Now $(\operatorname{Loc}, \Gamma)$ is an adjunction between the category of all *D*-modules and the category of all sheaves of \mathscr{D} -modules. Since Loc is right exact and \mathscr{D} is coherent, Loc sends $\operatorname{coh}(D)$ to $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})$. Since X is coherently \mathscr{D} -acyclic, $(\operatorname{Loc}, \Gamma)$ restricts to an adjunction between $\operatorname{coh}(D)$ and $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})$ and Γ is exact. By [10, Lemma 2.4] it thus suffices for the second part to prove that the counit $M \xrightarrow{\eta_M} \Gamma(\operatorname{Loc}(M))$ is an isomorphism for $M \in \operatorname{coh}(D)$.

Since Loc is right exact and Γ is exact on $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})$, the composite $\Gamma \circ \operatorname{Loc}$ is also right exact. Since M is coherent, it has a finite presentation; because η_D is an isomorphism by definition, the Five Lemma now implies that η_M is also an isomorphism, as required.

The final part is immediate; if \mathcal{M} is generated by global sections, then $\Gamma(\mathcal{M}) = 0$ if and only if $\mathcal{M} = 0$.

5.2. *Completions*. Recall from [42, §II.9] that inverse limits exist in the category of sheaves of abelian groups over any topological space.

DEFINITION. Suppose that \mathscr{D} contains a constant central subsheaf Z, which contains an ideal I. We define $\widehat{\mathscr{D}} := \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathscr{D}/I^n \mathscr{D}$ to be the *I*-adic completion of \mathscr{D} .

This is a sheaf of Z-algebras on X and $\Gamma(U, \widehat{\mathscr{D}}) = \varprojlim \Gamma(U, \mathscr{D}/I^n \mathscr{D})$ for any open subset U of X. We will use the following elementary result repeatedly.

LEMMA. Suppose that $\Gamma(X, -)$ is exact on $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})$. Then for any coherent \mathscr{D} -module \mathcal{M} and any ideal J in Z such that $J \cdot \mathscr{D}(X)$ is finitely generated, there is a natural isomorphism of $\mathscr{D}(X)$ -modules

$$(\mathcal{M}/J\mathcal{M})(X) \cong \mathcal{M}(X)/J\mathcal{M}(X).$$

Proof. Choose $z_1, \ldots, z_m \in J$ that generate $J \cdot \mathscr{D}(X)$. Since $\Gamma(X, -)$ is exact on $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})$ by assumption and Z is central in \mathscr{D} , the exact sequence

$$\mathcal{M}^m \xrightarrow{(z_1, \dots, z_m)} \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}/J\mathcal{M} \to 0$$

in $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})$ gives rise to the exact sequence

$$\mathcal{M}(X)^m \xrightarrow{(z_1,\dots,z_m)} \mathcal{M}(X) \to (\mathcal{M}/J\mathcal{M})(X) \to 0,$$

and the result follows.

If $\mathscr{D}(X)$ is left Noetherian, then $I^n \cdot \mathscr{D}(X)$ is finitely generated for all $n \ge 1$. Lemma 5.2 now implies that $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}(X)$ is just the *I*-adic completion of $\mathscr{D}(X)$:

$$\widehat{\mathscr{D}}(X) = \varprojlim (\mathscr{D}/I^n \mathscr{D})(X) \cong \varprojlim \mathscr{D}(X)/I^n \mathscr{D}(X).$$

DEFINITION. If S is a base for X, we say that \mathscr{D} is Noetherian on S if $\mathscr{D}(U)$ is left Noetherian for all $U \in S$.

5.3. The functor $M \mapsto M^{\Delta}$. Throughout Sections 5.3–5.4 we fix a base S for X such that $X \in S$, and we assume that

- \mathscr{D} is Noetherian on \mathcal{S} ,
- \mathcal{S} is coherently \mathcal{D} -acyclic, and
- $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ is coherent.

Let $D := \mathscr{D}(X)$. We define a functor $M \mapsto M^{\Delta}$ from $\widehat{D} := \widehat{\mathscr{D}(X)}$ -modules to sheaves of $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -modules by the formula

$$M^{\Delta} := \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathscr{D} \otimes_D M / I^n M.$$

Since we are assuming that $X \in S$, the algebra D is left Noetherian so $\operatorname{coh}(D)$ is simply the category of all finitely generated D-modules.

PROPOSITION. (a) The functor $M \mapsto M^{\Delta}$ is exact on $\operatorname{coh}(D)$.

- (b) $\widehat{D}^{\Delta} = \widehat{\mathscr{D}}.$
- (c) M^{Δ} is a coherent $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -module whenever M is a finitely presented \widehat{D} -module.
- (d) If $u : \widehat{\mathscr{D}}^r \to \widehat{\mathscr{D}}^s$ is a map of $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -modules, then $\operatorname{coker}(u) \cong M^{\Delta}$ for some finitely presented \widehat{D} -module M.

Proof. (a) Let $0 \to A \to B \to C \to 0$ be an exact sequence of coherent D-modules. Since X is coherently \mathscr{D} -affine, $\mathscr{D} \otimes_D -$ is exact on $\operatorname{coh}(D)$ by Proposition 5.1. Therefore the sequence of towers of \mathscr{D} -modules

$$0 \to \left[\mathscr{D} \otimes_D \frac{A + I^n B}{I^n B} \right]_n \to \left[\mathscr{D} \otimes_D \frac{B}{I^n B} \right]_n \to \left[\mathscr{D} \otimes_D \frac{C}{I^n C} \right]_n \to 0$$

is exact. The maps in the left-most nonzero tower are surjective, so it trivially satisfies the Mittag-Leffler condition. Taking inverse limits gives a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \varprojlim \mathscr{D} \otimes_D \frac{A + I^n B}{I^n B} \to B^\Delta \to C^\Delta \to 0.$$

Since D is left Noetherian, by the Artin-Rees Lemma [12, §3.2.3(i)] we can find an integer n_0 such that $I^n A \subseteq A \cap I^n B \subseteq I^{n-n_0}A$ for all $n \ge n_0$, so the natural map

$$A^{\Delta} = \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathscr{D} \otimes_D \frac{A}{I^n A} \longrightarrow \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathscr{D} \otimes_D \frac{A + I^n B}{I^n B}$$

is an isomorphism, and the result follows.

(b) $\widehat{D}^{\Delta} = \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathscr{D} \otimes_D \frac{\widehat{D}}{I^n \widehat{D}} = \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathscr{D} \otimes_D \frac{D}{I^n D} \cong \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathscr{D}/I^n \mathscr{D} = \widehat{\mathscr{D}}.$ (c) Since M^{Δ} is a $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -module, there is a natural map $\widehat{\mathscr{D}} \otimes_{\widehat{D}} M \longrightarrow M^{\Delta}$ of

(c) Since M^{Δ} is a \mathscr{D} -module, there is a natural map $\mathscr{D} \otimes_{\widehat{D}} M \longrightarrow M^{\Delta}$ of $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -modules, which is an isomorphism when $M = \widehat{D}^r$ by part (b). Since M is finitely presented, using parts (a) and (b) together with the Five Lemma shows that $\widehat{\mathscr{D}} \otimes_{\widehat{D}} M$ is in fact naturally isomorphic to M^{Δ} . Since $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ is coherent by assumption, it also follows that M^{Δ} is coherent.

(d) Let M be the cokernel of the map $\Gamma(X, u) : \Gamma(X, \widehat{\mathscr{D}}^r) \to \Gamma(X, \widehat{\mathscr{D}}^s)$. Then $\widehat{D}^r \xrightarrow{\Gamma(X, u)} \widehat{D}^s \to M \to 0$ is exact. Applying the exact functor $(-)^{\Delta}$ to this presentation of M produces the exact sequence $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}^r \xrightarrow{u} \widehat{\mathscr{D}}^s \to M^{\Delta} \to 0$, so $\operatorname{coker}(u) \cong M^{\Delta}$, as required.

5.4. LEMMA. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -module. Then the natural map $\mathcal{M} \to \lim \mathcal{M}/I^n \mathcal{M}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. Since \mathcal{M} is coherent, by shrinking X if necessary we may assume that \mathcal{M} is finitely presented: $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{coker}(u)$ for some morphism $u : \widehat{\mathscr{D}}^r \to \widehat{\mathscr{D}}^s$ of $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -modules. We may then assume that $\mathcal{M} = M^{\Delta}$ for some finitely presented $\widehat{D} := \widehat{\mathscr{D}}(X)$ -module M by Proposition 5.3(d). Let z_1, \ldots, z_m generate I^n so that we have the exact sequence of finitely generated \widehat{D} -modules

$$M^m \xrightarrow{(z_1,\dots,z_m)} M \to M/I^n M \to 0.$$

By Proposition 5.3(a), the sequence

$$(M^{\Delta})^m \xrightarrow{(z_1,\dots,z_m)} M^{\Delta} \to (M/I^n M)^{\Delta} \to 0$$

is exact, so

$$\mathcal{M}/I^n \mathcal{M} = M^{\Delta}/I^n M^{\Delta} \cong (M/I^n M)^{\Delta} \cong \mathscr{D} \otimes_D \frac{M}{I^n M}$$

for any $n \ge 1$. Hence $\mathcal{M} = M^{\Delta} = \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathscr{D} \otimes_D M / I^n M \cong \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathcal{M} / I^n \mathcal{M}$. \Box

5.5. THEOREM. Suppose \mathscr{D} is Noetherian on \mathcal{S} , \mathcal{S} is coherently \mathscr{D} -acyclic and $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ is coherent. Then \mathcal{S} is also coherently $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -acyclic. If moreover \mathcal{S} is coherently \mathscr{D} -affine, then it is also coherently $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -affine.

Proof. For the first part, it suffices to show that if $X \in S$, then X is coherently $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}$ -acyclic.

Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -module. For each $n \ge 1$, let $M_n := \Gamma(X, \mathcal{M}/I^n \mathcal{M})$ and $D_n := \Gamma(X, \mathscr{D}/I^n \mathscr{D})$. Define $M := \Gamma(X, \mathcal{M}), D := \Gamma(X, \mathscr{D})$, and note that $D_n \cong D/I^n D$ by Lemma 5.2.

By Lemma 5.4, \mathcal{M} is isomorphic to $\lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathcal{M}/I^n \mathcal{M}$. Each $\mathcal{M}/I^n \mathcal{M}$ is a coherent $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -module killed by I^n and is therefore a coherent \mathscr{D} -module. So $H^i(X, \mathcal{M}/I^n \mathcal{M}) = 0$ for all $n \ge 1$ and all i > 0, and M_n is a finitely generated D-module for all $n \ge 1$, because X is coherently \mathscr{D} -acyclic. Next, the short exact sequence

$$0 \to I^n \mathcal{M}/I^{n+1} \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}/I^{n+1} \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}/I^n \mathcal{M} \to 0$$

consists of coherent \mathscr{D} -modules; since $H^1(X, I^n \mathcal{M}/I^{n+1}\mathcal{M}) = 0$, each map in the tower $\cdots \to M_{n+1} \to M_n \to \cdots \to M_1$ is surjective. Hence this tower satisfies the Mittag-Leffler condition, and it follows from [40, Prop. 0.13.3.1] that $H^i(X, \mathcal{M}) = 0$ for all i > 0. Thus \mathcal{M} is Γ -acyclic.

Now, the algebra $\widehat{D} := \widehat{\mathscr{D}}(X)$ is isomorphic to the *I*-adic completion of *D*. Since *D* is left Noetherian by assumption, \widehat{D} is also left Noetherian by [12, §3.2.3(vi)]. Thus, to show that *M* is a coherent \widehat{D} -module, it is enough to prove that *M* is finitely generated. Since $\Gamma(X, -)$ is exact on $\operatorname{coh}(\mathscr{D})$ by assumption and since

$$\frac{\mathcal{M}/I^n\mathcal{M}}{I^{n-1}\cdot(\mathcal{M}/I^n\mathcal{M})}\cong\frac{\mathcal{M}}{I^{n-1}\mathcal{M}},$$

Lemma 5.2 implies that

$$M_n/I^{n-1}M_n \cong M_{n-1}$$

for all $n \ge 1$. Since M_1 is a finitely generated D_1 -module, $M = \mathcal{M}(X) = \lim_{K \to \infty} M_n$ is a finitely generated $\widehat{D} := \widehat{\mathscr{D}}(X)$ -module by [12, Lemma 3.2.2]. Thus \mathcal{S} is coherently $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -acyclic.

For the last part, it suffices to show that \mathcal{M} is generated by global sections. By Proposition 5.1, $\mathcal{M}/I^n\mathcal{M} \cong \mathscr{D} \otimes_D M_n$, and $M_n \cong M/I^nM$ by [12, Lemma 3.2.2]. So Lemma 5.4 implies that

 $\mathcal{M} \cong \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathcal{M}/I^n \mathcal{M} \cong \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathscr{D} \otimes_D M/I^n M = M^{\Delta}.$

Choose a presentation $F_1 \to F_0 \to M \to 0$ of M consisting of finitely generated free \widehat{D} -modules. It induces an exact sequence $F_1^{\Delta} \to F_0^{\Delta} \to M^{\Delta} \to 0$ of coherent $\widehat{\mathscr{D}}$ -modules by Proposition 5.3(a) and a commutative diagram

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \widehat{\mathscr{D}} \otimes_{\widehat{D}} F_1 \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathscr{D}} \otimes_{\widehat{D}} F_0 \longrightarrow \widehat{\mathscr{D}} \otimes_{\widehat{D}} M \longrightarrow 0 \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ & & & & & \\ F_1^{\Delta} \longrightarrow F_0^{\Delta} \longrightarrow M^{\Delta} \longrightarrow 0 \end{array}$$

with exact rows. Proposition 5.3(b) implies that the two vertical arrows on the left are isomorphisms, so the map

$$\widehat{\mathscr{D}} \otimes_{\widehat{D}} M \xrightarrow{\cong} M^{\Delta}$$

is an isomorphism by the Five Lemma and $\mathcal M$ is generated by global sections. $\hfill \Box$

5.6. Notation. Now we return to the setting and notation of Section 4.1, and we make the additional hypothesis that R is a complete discrete valuation ring with uniformizer π , residue field k and field of fractions K. We will denote the special and generic fibres of X by $X_k := X \times \text{Spec}(k)$ and $X_K :=$ $X \times \text{Spec}(K)$ respectively. We also suppose that we are given a locally trivial **H**-torsor $\xi : \widetilde{X} \to X$ over X for some flat affine algebraic group **H** of finite type over R, as in Section 4.3. Let $S := S_X$ be the base for X consisting of open affine subschemes U of X of finite type that trivialise ξ . We fix a deformation parameter $n \ge 0$.

5.7. The sheaf $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$. Recall the category of deformable *R*-algebras from Section 3.5, and let $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ denote the relative enveloping algebra of the **H**-torsor ξ .

LEMMA. (a) The category of deformable R-algebras has all limits, and the forgetful functor to R-algebras preserves limits.

(b) \mathcal{D} is a sheaf of deformable R-algebras.

Proof. (a) Let $(A_i)_{i \in I}$ be an inverse system of deformable *R*-algebras with connecting homomorphisms $f_{ji} : A_j \to A_i$ for $j \ge i$, and let

$$A := \lim_{\longleftarrow} A_i = \{(a_i) \in \prod_{i \in I} A_i \mid f_{ji}(a_j) = a_i \quad \text{for all} \quad j \ge i\}$$

be the inverse limit. Equip $\prod_{i \in I} A_i$ with the product filtration and $A \subseteq \prod_{i \in I} A_i$ with the subspace filtration. Then A is a positively filtered R-algebra, and

gr A is an R-submodule of the direct product of the gr A_i . Since R is a discrete valuation ring, it follows that gr A is flat over R.

(b) Certainly $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ is a sheaf of filtered *R*-algebras. Let $U \in \mathcal{S}$; then $\operatorname{gr}(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U))$ is a locally free $\mathcal{O}(U)$ -module by Corollary 4.6 and hence is a flat *R*-algebra. Thus $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)$ is a deformable *R*-algebra for any $U \in \mathcal{S}$. Now \mathcal{S} is a base for X, so $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)$ is a deformable *R*-algebra for any open $U \subseteq X$ by part (a). \Box

DEFINITION. Let $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ be the sheafification of the presheaf obtained by postcomposing $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ with the deformation functor $A \to A_n$ from Section 3.5.

Note that the lemma implies that $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ is, in fact, a sheaf of deformable R-algebras. It can be shown that the deformation functors do not commute with arbitrary finite inverse limits; this explains the need to sheafify. However it is still possible to compute local sections of $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ over $U \in \mathcal{S}$ as follows.

PROPOSITION. (a) $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U) \cong \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)_n$ for all $U \in \mathcal{S}$.

- (b) $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)$ is almost commutative for all $U \in \mathcal{S}$.
- (c) There is an isomorphism of sheaves $\tau_*\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*X}} = \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$.
- (d) The sheaf $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ is coherent.

Proof. (a) By $[38, \S 0.3.2.2]$, it is enough to show that the sequence

$$0 \to \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)_n \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^m \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U_i)_n \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i < j} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U_i \cap U_j)_n$$

of deformable *R*-algebras is exact whenever $U = U_1 \cup \cdots \cup U_m$ is a cover of U by some other $U_i \in S$. By Lemma 3.5 and Proposition 4.6, the associated graded of this sequence is isomorphic to

$$0 \to \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}(U)} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(U) \to \bigoplus_{i=1}^{m} \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}(U_i)} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(U_i) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i < j} \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}(U_i \cap U_j)} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}(U_i \cap U_j),$$

and this is exact since $\operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ is a sheaf on X. Hence the first sequence is exact.

(b) This follows from part (a), Lemma 3.5 and Corollary 4.6.

(c) By Lemma 3.5, for every open subscheme U of X, there is an isomorphism of graded R-algebras $\operatorname{gr}(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)) \to \operatorname{gr}(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)_n)$ that is natural in U. After applying sheafification, this induces a morphism of sheaves of graded R-algebras

$$\gamma: \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}} \to \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n.$$

The sections of this morphism over $U \in \mathcal{S}$ can be identified with $\operatorname{gr}(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)) \to \operatorname{gr}(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)_n)$ because U is affine and because $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U) = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)_n$ by part (a). Thus $\gamma(U)$ is an isomorphism for all $U \in \mathcal{S}$, so γ is an isomorphism since \mathcal{S} is a base

for X. Now precompose γ with the isomorphism $\alpha : \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ given by Proposition 4.6.

(d) Let $V \subseteq U$ in S; by [12, Prop. 3.1.1] it will be enough to show that $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)$ is Noetherian and that the restriction morphism $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(V)$ is flat. The first part follows from (a) and (b), and for the second, it is enough to show that the morphism $\mathrm{gr} \, \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U) \to \mathrm{gr} \, \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(V)$ is flat by [70, Prop. 1.2]. But by part (c), this morphism is just the restriction map of regular functions $\mathcal{O}(\widetilde{T^*U}) \to \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{T^*V})$ corresponding to the Zariski open immersion $\widetilde{T^*V} \to \widetilde{T^*U}$ and is therefore flat.

5.8. Good filtrations. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module. A filtration $F_{\bullet}\mathcal{M}$ of \mathcal{M} is a sequence $0 \subseteq F_0\mathcal{M} \subseteq F_1\mathcal{M} \subseteq \cdots$ of subsheaves of abelian groups of \mathcal{M} such that $F_i\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \cdot F_j\mathcal{M} \subseteq F_{i+j}\mathcal{M}$ for all $i, j \ge 0$. We say that this filtration is good if the associated graded sheaf gr $\mathcal{M} := \bigoplus_{i\ge 0} F_i\mathcal{M}/F_{i-1}\mathcal{M}$ is a coherent gr $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module.

LEMMA. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module.

- (a) \mathcal{M} is quasi-coherent as an \mathcal{O} -module.
- (b) There exists an \mathcal{O} -coherent submodule \mathcal{F} of \mathcal{M} such that $\mathcal{M} = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \cdot \mathcal{F}$.
- (c) There exists at least one good filtration $F_{\bullet}\mathcal{M}$ on \mathcal{M} .
- (d) If $F_{\bullet}\mathcal{M}$ is a good filtration on \mathcal{M} , then each $F_i\mathcal{M}$ is a coherent \mathcal{O} -module.

Proof. (a) By Proposition 5.7(c), each graded piece $\operatorname{gr}_i \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ of $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ is a coherent \mathcal{O} -module. Since coherent \mathcal{O} -modules are closed under extensions by [42, Prop. II.5.7], each filtered part $F_i \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ is a coherent \mathcal{O} -module. Now $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ is the direct limit of the $F_i \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ and therefore a quasi-coherent \mathcal{O} -module. Since \mathcal{M} is a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module, \mathcal{M} is locally finitely generated over $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ and therefore quasi-coherent as an \mathcal{O} -module.

(b) By [38, Cor. I.9.4.9], \mathcal{M} is the direct limit of its \mathcal{O} -coherent submodules. Since \mathcal{M} is coherent as a $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module, we can find a coherent \mathcal{O} -submodule \mathcal{F} of \mathcal{M} such that $\mathcal{M} = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \cdot \mathcal{F}$.

(c) Setting $F_i \mathcal{M} := F_i \mathcal{D}_n \cdot \mathcal{F}$ defines a good filtration on \mathcal{M} .

(d) This is a local statement, so we may assume that $\operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M}$ is finitely generated over $\operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$. But then each $\operatorname{gr}_i \mathcal{M}$ is a quotient of a direct sum of finitely many copies of $\operatorname{gr}_i \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$, which is a coherent \mathcal{O} -module by Proposition 5.7(c), so each $\operatorname{gr}_i \mathcal{M}$ is coherent over \mathcal{O} . The result follows since coherent \mathcal{O} -modules are stable under extensions.

5.9. The π -adic completion $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$. We now apply the theory from Sections 5.1– 5.5 by taking \mathscr{D} to be the sheaf $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ constructed in Section 5.7 and taking I to be the ideal generated by π .

DEFINITION. Let $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n} := \lim_{\longleftarrow} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n / \pi^a \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ be the π -adic completion of $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$.
This is a sheaf of *R*-algebras on *X* and $\Gamma(U, \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}) = \lim_{\longleftarrow} \Gamma(U, \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n / \pi^a \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n)$ for any open subscheme *U* of *X*. The restriction of $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ to the generic fibre X_K is clearly zero, so $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ is only supported on the special fibre X_k of *X*. Because X_k is closed in *X*, without further mention we identify sheaves on *X* supported only on X_k with their sheaf-theoretic pullbacks to the special fibre in what follows.

PROPOSITION. Let $U \in \mathcal{S}$.

- (a) $(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n/\pi^a \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n)(U) \cong \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)/\pi^a \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)$ for all $a \ge 1$.
- (b) $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U) \cong \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)$ is Noetherian.
- (c) The sheaf $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ is coherent.

Proof. (a) $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ is a quasi-coherent \mathcal{O} -module by Proposition 5.7(d) and Lemma 5.8(a). Since U is affine and Noetherian, $H^1(U, \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n) = 0$, and the result follows.

(b) Part (a) gives that $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U) \cong \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)}$. But $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U) = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)_n$ is Noetherian by Proposition 5.7(a) and (b), so $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U)$ is Noetherian by [12, §3.2.3(vi)].

(c) Let $V \subseteq U$ be in \mathcal{S} ; by part (b) and [12, Prop. 3.1.1] it will be enough to show that the restriction morphism $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U) \to \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(V)$ is flat. By applying [70, Prop. 1.2] twice, it is enough to show that

$$\operatorname{gr}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)_n/\pi\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)_n\right) \to \operatorname{gr}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(V)_n/\pi\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(V)_n\right)$$

is flat. By Lemma 3.7 and Proposition 4.6, this morphism can be identified with $\mathcal{O}(\widetilde{T^*U}) \otimes_R k \longrightarrow \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{T^*V}) \otimes_R k$, which is flat because it is the pull-back of functions along the Zariski open immersion $\widetilde{T^*V} \times_X X_k \to \widetilde{T^*U} \times_X X_k$. \Box

COROLLARY. S is coherently $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ -affine.

Proof. It is enough to show that X is coherently $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ -affine whenever $X \in \mathcal{S}$, so let us assume that this is the case.

Since $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ is Noetherian on \mathcal{S} and coherent by Proposition 5.7, and $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ is coherent by part (c) of the proposition, by Theorem 5.5 it suffices to show that X is coherently $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -affine, so let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module.

Since X is affine and Noetherian, and \mathcal{M} is quasi-coherent as an \mathcal{O} -module by Lemma 5.8(a), $H^i(X, \mathcal{M}) = 0$ for all i > 0.

Next, choose a good filtration on \mathcal{M} using Lemma 5.8(c). Then $\Gamma(X, \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M})$ is a finitely generated $\Gamma(X, \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n)$ -module by [42, Th. II.5.4]. Since $\operatorname{gr} \Gamma(X, \mathcal{M})$ is a $\Gamma(X, \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M})$ -submodule and $\Gamma(X, \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n)$ is Noetherian by Proposition 5.7(c), it follows that $\mathcal{M}(X)$ is a finitely generated $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(X)$ -module. Finally, since \mathcal{M} is a quasi-coherent \mathcal{O} -module and X is affine, \mathcal{M} is generated by global sections as an \mathcal{O} -module and therefore as a $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module. \Box

5.10. The sheaf $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}$. Recall the category of complete doubly filtered K-algebras from Section 3.1.

LEMMA. The category of complete doubly filtered K-algebras with positively filtered slices has finite limits, and the forgetful functor to K-algebras preserves finite limits.

Proof. By [58, Th. V.2.1] it suffices to show that this category has finite products and equalisers. Let A_1, \ldots, A_n be complete doubly filtered K-algebras, and let $A := \prod A_i$ be their product as K-algebras. It is easy to check that $F_0A := \prod F_0A_i$ is a π -adically complete R-lattice in A and that $\operatorname{gr}_0 A = \prod \operatorname{gr}_0 A_i$ in the category of k-algebras. By giving $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ the product filtration induced from the $\operatorname{gr}_0 A_i$, we can make A into a complete doubly filtered K-algebra that satisfies the universal property for products.

Now let A and B be complete doubly filtered K-algebras with positively filtered slices, and let $f, g: A \to B$ be two morphisms. Let $C = \{a \in A \mid f(a) = g(a)\}$ be their equaliser in the category of K-algebras; then $F_0C := C \cap F_0A$ is a lattice in C and it is π -adically complete being a closed R-submodule of F_0A . Since B is π -torsion-free, we may identify $\operatorname{gr}_0 C$ with a k-subalgebra of $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$. When we equip $\operatorname{gr}_0 C$ with the subspace filtration from $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$, C becomes a complete doubly filtered K-algebra with positive slice since the filtration on $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is positive by assumption. It is straightforward to verify that C satisfies the universal property for equalisers.

DEFINITION. The sheaf of completed, deformed, crystalline differential operators of the torsor $\xi : \widetilde{X} \to X$ is

$$\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}} := \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n} \otimes_R K.$$

Since K is a flat R-module, for any open subset U of X, we have

$$\Gamma(U,\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}) = \Gamma(U,\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}) \otimes_R K.$$

PROPOSITION. (a) If $U \in S$, then $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(U)$ is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra and $\operatorname{Gr}(\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(U)) \cong \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{T^*U_k}).$

- (b) $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ is a sheaf of complete doubly filtered K-algebras whenever X is quasicompact.
- (c) The sheaf $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ is coherent.
- (d) $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n/\pi \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ is isomorphic to $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n/\pi \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$.

Proof. (a) Since $U \in S$, $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)$ is an almost commutative *R*-algebra by Proposition 5.7(b), and we saw in Section 5.7 that $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)$ is a deformable *R*-algebra. Hence,

$$\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(U) = \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U) \otimes_R K \cong \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U) \otimes_R K = \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}(U)_n} \otimes_R K$$

by Propositions 5.9(b) and 5.7(a), and this is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra by Proposition 3.8. The second statement follows from Corollaries 3.7 and 4.6(a).

(b) Since X is quasi-compact and locally Noetherian by assumption, every open subset U of X is the finite union $U = U_1 \cup \cdots \cup U_m$ of some $U_i \in S$. Since $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ is a sheaf, $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(U)$ is the inverse limit of the $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(U_i)$ that are almost commutative affinoid K-algebras by part (a). Now apply the lemma.

(c) This follows from Proposition 5.9(c).

(d) The natural map $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \longrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ induces a diagram of sheaves of *R*-algebras

with exact rows. By Proposition 5.9(a) and Corollary 5.9, the rows of the diagram

are still exact for any $U \in S$. Since $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U)$ is the π -adic completion of $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)$ by Proposition 5.9(b), the third vertical map in this diagram is an isomorphism for any $U \in S$, and the result follows.

5.11. Modules over $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ and double filtrations. Whenever \mathcal{N} is a sheaf of *R*-modules on *X*, let $\mathcal{N}_K := \mathcal{N} \otimes_R K$ denote the corresponding sheaf of *K*-vector spaces. Let \mathcal{M} be a sheaf of *K*-vector spaces over *X*, and let $F_0\mathcal{M}$ be a sheaf of *R*-submodules of \mathcal{M} . We say that $F_0\mathcal{M}$ is an *R*-lattice in \mathcal{M} if

- the natural map $(F_0\mathcal{M})_K \to \mathcal{M}$ is an isomorphism, and
- $\bigcap_{a=0}^{\infty} \pi^a F_0 \mathcal{M} = 0.$

If $F_0\mathcal{M}$ is an *R*-lattice in \mathcal{M} , we call $\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M} := F_0\mathcal{M}/\pi F_0\mathcal{M}$ the *slice* of \mathcal{M} ; this is a sheaf of *k*-vector spaces. For example, $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ is an *R*-lattice in $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ with slice isomorphic to $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n/\pi \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ by Proposition 5.10(d). Now suppose that \mathcal{M} is a sheaf of $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ -modules. A *double filtration* on \mathcal{M} consists of an R-lattice $F_0\mathcal{M}$ in \mathcal{M} that is a $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -submodule, and a positive \mathbb{Z} -filtration F_{\bullet} gr₀ \mathcal{M} on gr₀ \mathcal{M} compatible with the filtration on $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$. We call

$$\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M} := \operatorname{gr}(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})$$

the associated graded sheaf of \mathcal{M} with respect to this double filtration.

Note that $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}(U)$ is a doubly filtered K-algebra by Proposition 5.10(b) for any open $U \subseteq X$, and recall the notion of double filtrations on modules over such algebras from Section 3.2.

LEMMA. Let $(F_0\mathcal{M}, F_{\bullet}\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})$ be a double filtration on a $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ -module \mathcal{M} , and let $U \subseteq X$ be an open subscheme.

- (a) $((F_0\mathcal{M})(U), (F_{\bullet}\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})(U))$ is a double filtration on $M := \mathcal{M}(U)$.
- (b) There is a natural embedding $\operatorname{Gr}(M) \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M})(U)$ of $\operatorname{Gr}(\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}(U))$ -modules.

Proof. Certainly $F_0M := (F_0\mathcal{M})(U)$ is an *R*-lattice and a $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U)$ -submodule in M. The short exact sequence $0 \to F_0\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\pi} F_0\mathcal{M} \to \operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M} \to 0$ induces an embedding $\operatorname{gr}_0 M \to (\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})(U)$ of $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U)/\pi \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U)$ -modules. The separated filtration on the sheaf $\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M}$ induces a separated filtration on $(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})(U)$ and hence a separated filtration on $\operatorname{gr}_0 M$. Taking associated graded modules, we obtain an inclusion

$$\operatorname{Gr}(M) = \operatorname{gr}\operatorname{gr}_0 M \hookrightarrow \operatorname{gr}\left((\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})(U)\right)$$

of graded $\operatorname{gr}\left(\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U)/\pi\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(U)\right)$ -modules.

Each short exact sequence $0 \to F_{i-1}(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M}) \to F_i(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M}) \to \operatorname{gr}_i(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M}) \to 0$ of sheaves induces an embedding

$$\operatorname{gr}_i((\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})(U)) \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{gr}_i(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M}))(U).$$

Putting these together gives the required inclusion $\operatorname{Gr}(M) \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}))(U)$ of graded $\operatorname{Gr}(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}(U))$ -modules.

5.12. Good double filtrations.

DEFINITION. Let \mathcal{M} be a sheaf of $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ -modules. We say that a double filtration $(F_0\mathcal{M}, F_{\bullet}\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})$ on \mathcal{M} is good if $F_0\mathcal{M}$ is a coherent $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module and $F_{\bullet}\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M}$ is a good filtration on $\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M}$ as a $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module.

PROPOSITION. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ -module. (a) \mathcal{M} has at least one good double filtration $(F_0\mathcal{M}, F_{\bullet}\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})$.

(b) If $(F_0\mathcal{M}, F_{\bullet}\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})$ is a good double filtration on \mathcal{M} , then for any $U \in \mathcal{S}$, $((F_0\mathcal{M})(U), (F_{\bullet}\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})(U))$ is a good double filtration on $\mathcal{M}(U)$ and the map

$$\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}(U)) \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M})(U)$$

appearing in Lemma 5.11(b) is an isomorphism.

Proof. (a) By the proof of [12, Lemma 3.4.3], we can find a coherent $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ -submodule \mathcal{N} of \mathcal{M} such that the natural map $\mathcal{N}_K \to \mathcal{M}$ is an isomorphism. Since $\mathcal{N} \cong \lim_{\leftarrow} \mathcal{N}/\pi^n \mathcal{N}$ by Lemma 5.4, \mathcal{N} is an R-lattice in \mathcal{M} . Now $\mathcal{N}/\pi \mathcal{N}$ is a coherent $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}/\pi \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ -module and $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ surjects onto $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}/\pi \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ by Proposition 5.10(d), so $\mathcal{N}/\pi \mathcal{N}$ is also a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module. We can therefore find a good filtration $F_{\bullet}(\mathcal{N}/\pi \mathcal{N})$ on $\mathcal{N}/\pi \mathcal{N}$ by Lemma 5.8(c). Thus $(\mathcal{N}, F_{\bullet}(\mathcal{N}/\pi \mathcal{N}))$ is a good double filtration on \mathcal{M} .

(b) Since $\mathcal{F}_0\mathcal{M}$ is a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module, $H^1(U, \mathcal{F}_0\mathcal{M}) = 0$ by Corollary 5.9, so the inclusion $\operatorname{gr}_0(\mathcal{M}(U)) \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})(U)$ is an isomorphism. The cokernel of the inclusion

$$\operatorname{gr}_i((\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})(U)) \hookrightarrow (\operatorname{gr}_i(\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M}))(U)$$

is precisely $H^1(U, F_{i-1} \operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})$, which is zero because U is affine and Noetherian and because $F_{i-1} \operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M}$ is a coherent \mathcal{O} -module by Lemma 5.8(d). Therefore

$$\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}(U)) \longrightarrow (\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M})(U)$$

is an isomorphism. Now $\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M}$ is a coherent $\operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module by assumption and U is affine and Noetherian, so $(\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M})(U)$ is a finitely generated $(\operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n)(U)$ -module. But $\operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \cong \tau_* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*X}}$ by Proposition 5.7(c) and $(\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M})(U)$ is killed by π , so $\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}(U)) \cong (\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M})(U)$ is a finitely generated $\operatorname{Gr}(\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(U))$ -module by Proposition 5.10(a).

5.13. THEOREM. S is coherently $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ -affine.

Proof. Since $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}$ is coherent by Proposition 5.10(d), once again it suffices to consider the case where $X \in \mathcal{S}$ and show that X is coherently $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}$ -affine.

By Proposition 5.12(a), \mathcal{M} has an R-lattice $F_0\mathcal{M}$ that is coherent as a $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ module. By Corollary 5.9, $F_0\mathcal{M}$ is Γ -acyclic, $F_0\mathcal{M}(X)$ is finitely generated as a $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(X)$ -module and $F_0\mathcal{M}$ is generated by global sections. The result follows easily from this together with the fact that $H^i(X, \mathcal{M}) \cong H^i(X, F_0\mathcal{M}) \otimes_R K$ for all $i \ge 0$. This latter is true because X is a Noetherian space, so cohomology commutes with direct limits by [42, Prop. III.2.9]. \Box 5.14. Characteristic varieties. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ -module. Pick a good double filtration on \mathcal{M} using Proposition 5.12; then $\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}) = \operatorname{gr}(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})$ is a coherent gr $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module and gr $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \cong \tau_* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^* X}}$ by Proposition 5.7(c).

DEFINITION. The characteristic variety of \mathcal{M} is the support of $\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M})$ regarded as a sheaf on the enhanced cotangent bundle $\widetilde{T^*X}$. More precisely, writing $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M})}$ for the $\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*X}}$ -module $\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*X}} \otimes_{\tau^{-1}\tau_*\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*X}}} \tau^{-1}(\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}))$, we define

$$\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}) := \operatorname{Supp}(\operatorname{Gr}(\overline{\mathcal{M}})) \subseteq \widetilde{T^*X}.$$

Since $\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M})}$ is a coherent sheaf on T^*X , $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})$ is closed. $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})$ is actually contained in the special fibre $\widetilde{T^*X_k}$ of the enhanced cotangent bundle because $\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M})$ is annihilated by π .

LEMMA. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}$ -module, and let $U \in \mathcal{S}$. Then $Ch(\mathcal{M}) \cap \widetilde{T^*U} = Ch(\mathcal{M}(U))$.

Proof. By Proposition 5.12(b), the good double filtration on \mathcal{M} induces a good double filtration on $\mathcal{M}(U)$ such that $\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M}(U) \cong (\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M})(U)$. Then

$$\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}(U)) = \operatorname{Supp}(\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}(U))) = \operatorname{Supp}((\operatorname{Gr}\mathcal{M})(U))$$
$$= \operatorname{Supp}(\widetilde{\operatorname{Gr}\mathcal{M}}_{|\widetilde{T^*U}}) = \operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}) \cap \widetilde{T^*U},$$

as required.

COROLLARY. (a) $Ch(\mathcal{M})$ does not depend on the choice of good double filtration on \mathcal{M} .

(b) If $0 \to \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{N} \to 0$ is a short exact sequence of coherent $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}^{-}$ modules, then $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}) = \operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{L}) \cup \operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{N}).$

Proof. By the lemma, $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}) = \bigcup_{U \in \mathcal{S}} \operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}(U))$ only depends on the local sections $\mathcal{M}(U)$ of \mathcal{M} . It follows from Theorem 5.13 that $\Gamma(U, -)$ is exact on coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ -modules, and now both parts follow from Proposition 3.3. \Box

5.15. Coherent cohomology. We now specialise to the setting of Section 4.7, so that X is the flag variety and $\xi : \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{B}$ is the locally trivial **H**-torsor from the basic affine space to the flag variety. Recall the enhanced moment map $\beta : \widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ from Section 4.8 and the enhanced cotangent bundle $\tau : \widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{B}$ from Section 4.7:



Let \mathcal{M} be a $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module. Then $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}) := \bigoplus_{i \geq 0} H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M})$ is naturally a $\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n)$ -module, and we can view it as a $U(\mathfrak{g})_n$ -module via the natural map $\varphi_n : U(\mathfrak{g})_n \to \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \widetilde{\mathcal{D}})_n \to \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n)$ obtained by applying the deformation functor to the morphism $U(\varphi) : U(\mathfrak{g}) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ of deformable *R*-algebras defined in Section 4.9 and then sheafifying.

PROPOSITION. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module, and let $F_{\bullet}\mathcal{M}$ be a good filtration on \mathcal{M} . Then

- (a) $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M})$ is a finitely generated $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g}^*)$ -module, and
- (b) $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M})$ is a finitely generated $U(\mathfrak{g})_n$ -module.

Proof. (a) The morphism $\tau : \widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{B}$ is affine. By definition, gr \mathcal{M} is a coherent gr $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \cong \tau_* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}}}$ -module. Thus if we define $\operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M} = \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}}} \otimes_{\tau^{-1}\tau_* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}}}}$ $\tau^{-1}(\operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M})$, then $\widetilde{\operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M}}$ is a coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}}}$ -module such that $\tau_* \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M} = \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M}$. Next,

$$H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M}) \cong H^{\bullet}(\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}}, \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{M}})$$

by [40, Cor. III.1.3.3]. Since the enhanced moment map $\beta : \widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}} \to \mathfrak{g}^*$ is projective by Proposition 4.8(b), $R^{\bullet}\beta_*\widetilde{\operatorname{gr}\mathcal{M}}$ is a coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{g}^*}$ -module by [42, Th. III.8.8(b)]. Since \mathfrak{g}^* is affine, $\Gamma(\mathfrak{g}^*, R^{\bullet}\beta_*\widetilde{\operatorname{gr}\mathcal{M}}) \cong H^{\bullet}(\widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}}, \widetilde{\operatorname{gr}\mathcal{M}})$ by [42, Prop. III.8.5], and therefore $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{gr}\mathcal{M})$ is a finitely generated $\mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g}^*)$ -module.

(b) The filtration $F_{\bullet}\mathcal{M}$ on \mathcal{M} induces a filtration on any Čech complex computing $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M})$ and hence a convergent third octant cohomological spectral sequence

$$E_1^{ij} = H^{i+j}(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{gr}_{-i} \mathcal{M}) \Rightarrow H^{i+j}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}).$$

This spectral sequence implies $\operatorname{gr} H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M})$ is a subquotient of $H^{\bullet}(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M})$ as a $\operatorname{gr} U(\mathfrak{g})_n$ -module. But $\operatorname{gr} U(\mathfrak{g})_n$ is Noetherian because it is isomorphic to $S(\mathfrak{g})$ by Lemma 3.5, and the result follows.

5.16. Characteristic varieties of global sections. The set of global sections $\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M})$ of a $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ -module \mathcal{M} is a module over $A := \widetilde{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}}$ via the completed deformed ring homomorphism $\widehat{\varphi_{n,K}} : A \to \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}})$, and A is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra by Proposition 3.8. The next result is an analogue of [17, Lemma 1.6(c)].

PROPOSITION. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}$ -module, and let $M = \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M})$. Then M is a finitely generated A-module and

$$\operatorname{Ch}(M) \subseteq \beta(\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})).$$

Proof. Choose a good double filtration on \mathcal{M} . Then by Lemma 5.11 it induces a double filtration on M and there is a natural embedding

 $\operatorname{Gr}(M) \hookrightarrow \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}))$

of $\operatorname{Gr}(A) \cong S(\mathfrak{g}_k)$ -modules. By applying Proposition 5.15(a) to the coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module $\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M}$ equipped with its good filtration $F_{\bullet} \operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M}$, we see that $\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}))$ is finitely generated over $S(\mathfrak{g}_k)$. Since $S(\mathfrak{g}_k)$ is Noetherian, $\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M})$ is a finitely generated $\operatorname{Gr}(A)$ -module, and hence the double filtration on \mathcal{M} is good. Hence \mathcal{M} is finitely generated over A by Lemma 3.2 and

 $Ch(M) = Supp(Gr(M)) \subseteq Supp(\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, Gr(\mathcal{M}))).$

Let $\mathcal{F} := \widetilde{\operatorname{Gr} \mathcal{M}} := \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^* \mathcal{B}}} \otimes_{\tau^{-1} \tau_* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^* \mathcal{B}}}} \operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M})$ so that $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}) = \operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{F})$. Since $\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M})$ is already a $\tau_* \mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{T^* \mathcal{B}}}$ -module, the natural map $\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}) \to \tau_* \mathcal{F}$ is an isomorphism. But $\tau : \widetilde{T^* \mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{B}$ is an affine morphism, so

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M})) = \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \tau_* \mathcal{F}) = \Gamma(\widetilde{T^* \mathcal{B}}, \mathcal{F}) = \Gamma(\mathfrak{g}^*, \beta_* \mathcal{F}).$$

Whenever $f: X \to Y$ is a continuous map between topological spaces and \mathcal{G} is a sheaf of abelian groups on X, we have $\operatorname{Supp}(f_*\mathcal{G}) \subseteq \overline{f(\operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{G}))}$. Hence,

 $\operatorname{Ch}(M) \subseteq \operatorname{Supp}(\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{M}))) = \operatorname{Supp}(\Gamma(\mathfrak{g}^*, \beta_* \mathcal{F})) = \operatorname{Supp}(\beta_* \mathcal{F}) \subseteq \overline{\beta(\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}))}$

because \mathfrak{g}^* is an affine scheme. Finally, $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})$ is a closed subscheme of $\mathcal{T}^*\mathcal{B}$ since \mathcal{F} is coherent, and β is a proper morphism by Proposition 4.8 and [42, Th. II.4.9], so $\beta(\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}))$ is closed and the result follows.

5.17. The localisation functor. Let M be an $A := \widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})}_{n,K}$ -module. For any open subscheme $U \subseteq \mathcal{B}$, the algebra $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}(U)$ is an A-module via ring homomorphism $\widehat{\varphi_{n,K}} : \widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})}_{n,K} \to \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}(U)$. We can therefore define the localisation functor

$$\operatorname{Loc}: \widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}} - \operatorname{\mathbf{mod}} \to \widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}} - \operatorname{\mathbf{mod}}$$

by letting $\operatorname{Loc}(M)$ be the sheafification of the presheaf $U \mapsto \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}(U) \otimes_A M$ on \mathcal{B} . This functor is right exact because it is the left adjoint to the global sections functor Γ .

PROPOSITION. Let M be a finitely generated A-module, and let $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{Loc}(M)$. Then

- (a) \mathcal{M} is a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ -module.
- (b) If $U \in \mathcal{S}$, then $\mathcal{M}(U) = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}(U) \otimes_A M$.

Proof. (a) Since A is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra, it is Noetherian by Lemma 3.2(b). Hence we can find a presentation $F_1 \to F_0 \to M \to 0$ of M, where F_0 and F_1 are finitely generated free A-modules. Since Loc is right exact, we obtain a presentation $\operatorname{Loc}(F_1) \to \operatorname{Loc}(F_0) \to \mathcal{M} \to 0$. Since $\operatorname{Loc}(A) \cong \widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ is coherent by Proposition 5.10(c), we deduce that \mathcal{M} is also coherent.

(b) Let $N := \widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(U) \otimes_A M$, a finitely generated $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(U)$ -module. The restriction of \mathcal{M} to U is isomorphic to $\widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}_{|U} \otimes_{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}(U)} N$, and it follows from Theorem 5.13 that the sections of this sheaf over U are simply N. \Box

5.18. The characteristic variety of Loc(M).

LEMMA. Let M be a finitely generated $A := U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}$ -module, let $U \in S$, and let $B := \widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(U)$. Then every good double filtration on M induces a good double filtration on $N := B \otimes_A M$ and a natural surjection

$$\operatorname{Gr}(B) \otimes_{\operatorname{Gr}(A)} \operatorname{Gr}(M) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Gr}(N).$$

Proof. Let F_0N be the image of $F_0B \otimes_{F_0A} F_0M$ in N. Then $F_0N \cdot K = N$ and F_0N is a finitely generated F_0B -submodule of N, so F_0N is an R-lattice in N by Proposition 3.2(a). Moreover the $\operatorname{gr}_0 B$ -module $\operatorname{gr}_0 N = F_0N/\pi F_0N$ is a quotient of $\operatorname{gr}_0 B \otimes_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A} \operatorname{gr}_0 M$.

Equip $\operatorname{gr}_0 N$ with the quotient filtration induced from the tensor filtration on $\operatorname{gr}_0 B \otimes_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A} \operatorname{gr}_0 M$. Then $\operatorname{Gr}(N)$ is a quotient of $\operatorname{Gr}(B) \otimes_{\operatorname{Gr}(A)} \operatorname{Gr}(M)$, which implies that the filtration on $\operatorname{gr}_0 N$ as a $\operatorname{gr}_0 B$ -module is good. \Box

The following result is an analogue of [17, Prop. 1.8].

PROPOSITION. Let M be a finitely generated A-module, and let $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{Loc}(M)$. Then

$$\beta(\mathrm{Ch}(\mathcal{M})) \subseteq \mathrm{Ch}(M).$$

Proof. Choose a good double filtration on M using Proposition 3.2(b). Since \mathcal{M} is a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ -module by Proposition 5.17(a),

$$\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}) = \bigcup_{U \in \mathcal{S}} \operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}(U))$$

by Lemma 5.14. Let $U \in \mathcal{S}$, and let $B = \widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}(U)$. Then $N := \mathcal{M}(U)$ is equal to $B \otimes_A M$ by Proposition 5.17(b), and N carries a good double filtration such that $\operatorname{Gr}(N)$ is a quotient of $\operatorname{Gr}(B) \otimes_{\operatorname{Gr}(A)} \operatorname{Gr}(M)$ by the lemma. Therefore

$$\operatorname{Ch}(N) = \operatorname{Supp}(\operatorname{Gr}(N)) \subseteq \operatorname{Supp}(\operatorname{Gr}(B) \otimes_{\operatorname{Gr}(A)} \operatorname{Gr}(M)) \subseteq \beta^{-1}(\operatorname{Supp}(\operatorname{Gr}(M)))$$

by $[38, \S0.4.3.1]$, and the result follows.

6. The Beilinson-Bernstein theorem for $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$

We continue with the notation from Section 4.7 in this section. R will denote a complete discrete valuation ring of arbitrary characteristic, unless stated otherwise.

6.1. Serve twists. The scheme \mathcal{B} is projective over R by [49, §II.1.8]. Fix an embedding $i : \mathcal{B} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{P}_R^N$ into some projective space over R, and let $\mathcal{L} := i^* \mathcal{O}(1)$ be the corresponding very ample invertible sheaf on \mathcal{B} .

For any $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module \mathcal{M} and any $s \in \mathbb{Z}$, we let $\mathcal{M}(s) := \mathcal{M} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{L}^{\otimes s}$ denote the Serre twist of \mathcal{M} .

LEMMA. Let \mathcal{F} be a coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module. Then there exists an integer $u \ge 0$ such that $\mathcal{F}(s)$ is generated by its global sections and is Γ -acyclic whenever $s \ge u$.

Proof. Because \mathcal{L} is very ample, this follows from Serre's Theorems [42, Ths. II.5.17 and III.5.2(b)]

We will first study coherent modules over the sheaf of algebras

$$\mathcal{C} := \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}}(\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes \mathfrak{g}) \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes S(\mathfrak{g}).$$

PROPOSITION. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent \mathcal{C} -module. Then there exists an integer t such that $\mathcal{M}(s)$ is Γ -acyclic whenever $s \ge t$.

Proof. Consider the following diagram of schemes over Spec(R):



Since $\mathcal{C} = p_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}\times\mathfrak{g}^*}$, [39, Prop. II.1.4.3 and Cor. II.1.4.5] show that there is a coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}\times\mathfrak{g}^*}$ -module \mathcal{N} such that $\mathcal{M} \cong p_*\mathcal{N}$.

Now by [39, Prop. II.4.6.13(i)], the invertible $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{g}^*}$ -module $\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{g}^*}$ is ample relative to $\mathrm{id}_{\mathfrak{g}^*}$, so [39, Prop. II.4.6.13(iv)] gives that $p^*\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L} \otimes_R \mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{g}^*}$ is ample relative to q. Thus it follows from the relative version of Serre's Theorem, [40, Th. III.2.2.1(ii)], that $\mathcal{N}(s) := \mathcal{N} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B} \times \mathfrak{g}^*}} (p^*\mathcal{L})^{\otimes s}$ is q_* -acyclic for sufficiently large values of s.

Since \mathfrak{g}^* is affine, [40, Prop. III.1.4.14] implies that

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{B} \times \mathfrak{g}^{*}, \mathcal{N}(s)) \cong \Gamma(\mathfrak{g}^{*}, R^{i}q_{*}\mathcal{N}(s)) = 0$$

for i > 0 and s sufficiently large. On the other hand, because p is an affine morphism, [40, Cor. III.1.3.3] tells us that

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{B} \times \mathfrak{g}^{*}, \mathcal{N}(s)) \cong H^{i}(\mathcal{B}, p_{*}\mathcal{N}(s))$$

for all *i* and *s*. It remains to show that whenever \mathcal{F} is a coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}\times\mathfrak{g}^*}$ -module,

$$p_*(\mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}\times\mathfrak{g}^*}} p^*\mathcal{L}) \cong p_*\mathcal{F} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{L}$$

as then $p_*(\mathcal{N}(s)) \cong \mathcal{M}(s)$ for all $s \ge 0$. But this follows from [38, §0.5.4.10]. \Box

COROLLARY. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module. Then there exists an integer t such that $\mathcal{M}(s)$ is Γ -acyclic whenever $s \ge t$.

Proof. Choose a good filtration on \mathcal{M} using Lemma 5.8(c); then gr \mathcal{M} is a coherent gr $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ -module. By Proposition 4.8(a), the natural map $\varphi : \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes \mathfrak{g}$ $\rightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathcal{B}}$ is surjective, so \mathcal{C} surjects onto gr $(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n) \cong \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathcal{B}}$ by Proposition 5.7(c). So gr \mathcal{M} is a coherent \mathcal{C} -module, and therefore there exists an integer t such that

$$\operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{M}(s)) \cong (\operatorname{gr} \mathcal{M})(s)$$

is Γ -acyclic for all $s \ge t$ by the proposition. Because \mathcal{B} is Noetherian, cohomology commutes with direct limits by [42, Prop. III.2.9]. Therefore each homogeneous component $\operatorname{gr}_i \mathcal{M}(s)$ is Γ -acyclic and each filtered piece $F_i \mathcal{M}(s)$ is also Γ -acyclic. Finally $\mathcal{M}(s)$ is the direct limit of the $F_i \mathcal{M}(s)$ and therefore is also Γ -acyclic, whenever $s \ge t$.

6.2. The geometric translation functor. Let \mathcal{A} be one of the sheaves $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$, $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ or $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$. For every integer s, we can consider the twisted sheaf

$$\mathcal{A}^{(s)} := \mathcal{L}^{\otimes s} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{L}^{\otimes (-s)}.$$

As an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module this sheaf is isomorphic to \mathcal{A} , but it is also naturally a sheaf of rings that *a priori* is not isomorphic to \mathcal{A} . Of course, locally the sheaves of rings $\mathcal{A}^{(s)}$ and \mathcal{A} are isomorphic. We believe there to be a global isomorphism, but we will not need it.

Note that for every \mathcal{A} -module \mathcal{N} , the twisted sheaf $(s)\mathcal{N} := \mathcal{L}^{\otimes s} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{N}$ is naturally an $\mathcal{A}^{(s)}$ -module by contracting tensor products. If \mathcal{L} is trivialisable on U, then $(s)\mathcal{N}|_{U}$ is isomorphic to $\mathcal{N}|_{U}$ as $\mathcal{A}|_{U}$ -modules if we view $\mathcal{A}|_{U}$ as acting on $(s)\mathcal{N}|_{U}$ along a local isomorphism $\mathcal{A}|_{U} \to \mathcal{A}^{(s)}|_{U}$.

We retain the notation $\mathcal{A}(s)$ to mean the left \mathcal{A} -module $\mathcal{A} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{L}^{\otimes s}$ with \mathcal{A} acting on the left factor.

LEMMA. Let $s \in \mathbb{Z}$.

(a) $\mathcal{A}^{(s)}$ is a coherent sheaf of rings. Moreover $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}^{(s)} \cong \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}^{(s)}$ as sheaves of rings.

- (b) If N is a coherent A-module, then (s)N is a coherent A^(s)-module. Also A(s) is a coherent A-module.
- (c) The functor $\mathcal{N} \mapsto (s)\mathcal{N}$ is exact.

(d) If \mathcal{F} is an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module and $t, u \in \mathbb{Z}$, then

$$(u)(\mathcal{A}^{(t)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{F}) \cong \mathcal{A}^{(t+u)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} (\mathcal{F}(u))$$

as $\mathcal{A}^{(t+u)}$ -modules.

Proof. (a)–(c) are all local properties that may be verified by working on a base that trivialises \mathcal{L} together with the corresponding statements for the untwisted objects.

For (d), we observe that $\mathcal{F}(u)$ and $(u)\mathcal{F}$ are canonically isomorphic as $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -modules and contract various tensor products.

6.3. A family of generating objects. The following result is essentially [46, Prop. 3.3(i)], but we give the proof for the benefit of the reader.

THEOREM. The sheaves $\{\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}(s) : s \in \mathbb{Z}\}$ generate the category of coherent $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}}_{n,K}$ -modules.

Proof. We set $\mathcal{A} = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ to aid legibility. Let $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{coh}(\widehat{\mathcal{A}_K})$, and choose a good double filtration $(F_0\mathcal{M}, F_{\bullet}\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})$ on \mathcal{M} using Proposition 5.12. Then $\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M}$ is a coherent \mathcal{A} -module, so by Corollary 6.1 we can find an integer t such that $(\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})(s)$ is Γ -acyclic for all $s \ge t$. Since $(\operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M})(s) \cong (s) \operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M}$ as sheaves of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -modules, we may deduce that $(s) \operatorname{gr}_0\mathcal{M}$ is also Γ -acyclic for all $s \ge t$.

Next, since $(t)(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})$ is a coherent $\mathcal{A}^{(t)}$ -module by Lemma 6.2(b), we can find a coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -submodule \mathcal{F} of $(t)(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})$ that generates it as an $\mathcal{A}^{(t)}$ -module by the proof of Lemma 5.8(b); this gives a surjection

$$\mathcal{A}^{(t)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{F} \twoheadrightarrow (t)(\operatorname{gr}_{0} \mathcal{M})$$

of $\mathcal{A}^{(t)}$ -modules. Twisting this by $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes u}$ on the left and applying Lemma 6.2(d) gives surjections

$$\mathcal{A}^{(t+u)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} (\mathcal{F}(u)) \cong (u)(\mathcal{A}^{(t)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{F}) \twoheadrightarrow (t+u)(\operatorname{gr}_{0} \mathcal{M})$$

of $\mathcal{A}^{(t+u)}$ -modules for any integer u.

Now by Lemma 6.1, there is a surjection $\mathcal{O}^a_{\mathcal{B}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{F}(u)$ for some integers $a \ge 1$ and $u \ge 0$. We therefore obtain a surjection

$$\mathcal{A}^{(t+u)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} \mathcal{O}^{a}_{\mathcal{B}} \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{A}^{(t+u)} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}} (\mathcal{F}(u)) \twoheadrightarrow (t+u)(\operatorname{gr}_{0} \mathcal{M})$$

of $\mathcal{A}^{(t+u)}$ -modules. Let s := t + u; then $(s)(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})$ is Γ -acyclic and generated as a $\mathcal{A}^{(s)}$ -module by its global sections.

Let $\mathcal{N} := F_0 \mathcal{M}$ and $\mathcal{K} := (s) \mathcal{N}$ its twist. Since \mathcal{M} has no π -torsion, for all $i \ge 0$ there is a short exact sequence of sheaves

$$0 \to \operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\pi^i} \mathcal{N} / \pi^{i+1} \mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{N} / \pi^i \mathcal{N} \to 0.$$

Since also $H^1(\mathcal{B}, (s)(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})) = 0$, twisting this sequence by $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes s}$ on the left and taking cohomology shows that the arrow

$$\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{K}/\pi^{i+1}\mathcal{K}) \to \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{K}/\pi^{i}\mathcal{K})$$

is surjective for all $i \ge 0$.

Thus a finite subset of $\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, (s)(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M}))$ generating $(s)(\operatorname{gr}_0 \mathcal{M})$ as a $\mathcal{A}^{(s)}$ module may be lifted inductively to elements $w_1, \ldots, w_a \in \lim_{i \to \infty} \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{K}/\pi^i \mathcal{K})$.

Since \mathcal{K} is a coherent $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{(s)} \cong \widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{(s)}$ -module, $\mathcal{K}(U)$ is π -adically complete for each $U \in \mathcal{S}$ by [12, §3.2.3(v)], so the natural map $\mathcal{K} \to \lim_{i \to \infty} \mathcal{K}/\pi^i \mathcal{K}$ is an isomorphism. Pulling back the w_i along this isomorphism on global sections gives a finite collection of elements in $\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{K})$ that generate \mathcal{K} as a $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{(s)}$ -module by Nakayama's Lemma. We therefore obtain a surjective map $(\widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{(s)})^a \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{K}$ of $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{(s)}$ -modules, and by twisting back by $\mathcal{L}^{\otimes -s}$ on the left, a surjective map

$$\left((-s)\widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{(s)}\right)^a \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{N}$$

of left $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}$ -modules. But $(-s)\widehat{\mathcal{A}}^{(s)} \cong \widehat{\mathcal{A}}(-s)$ as left $\widehat{\mathcal{A}}$ -modules by Lemma 6.2(d), so we obtain a surjective map $(\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}(-s))^a \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{N}$ of $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n}$ -modules, and after inverting π , a surjective map $(\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}(-s))^a \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{M}$ of $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ -modules, as required. \Box

6.4. Twisted differential operators. We can apply the deformation functor to the map $j: U(\mathfrak{h}) \to \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}$ defined in Section 4.4 to obtain a central embedding of the constant sheaf $U(\mathfrak{h})_n$ into $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$:

$$U(\mathfrak{h})_n \hookrightarrow \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$$

Each linear functional $\lambda \in \operatorname{Hom}_R(\pi^n\mathfrak{h}, R)$ extends to an *R*-algebra homomorphism $U(\mathfrak{h})_n \xrightarrow{\cong} U(\pi^n\mathfrak{h}) \to R$ and gives *R* the structure of a $U(\mathfrak{h})_n$ -module, which we denote by R_{λ} .

Until the end of Section 6 we fix $\lambda \in \operatorname{Hom}_R(\pi^n \mathfrak{h}, R)$.

DEFINITION. The sheaf of deformed twisted differential operators \mathcal{D}_n^{λ} on \mathcal{B} with parameters n, λ is the central reduction

$$\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda} := \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \otimes_{U(\mathfrak{h})_n} R_{\lambda}$$

We give R_{λ} the trivial filtration $0 =: F_{-1}R_{\lambda} \subset R_{\lambda} =: F_0R_{\lambda}$ as a $U(\mathfrak{h})_n$ -module, and we view \mathcal{D}_n^{λ} as a sheaf of filtered *R*-algebras, equipped with the tensor filtration.

LEMMA. (a) Let $U \in S$. Then $(\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda})_{|U}$ is isomorphic to $(\mathcal{D}_n)_{|U}$ as a sheaf of filtered *R*-algebras.

- (b) \mathcal{D}_n^{λ} is a sheaf of deformable *R*-algebras.
- (c) There is an isomorphism of sheaves $\operatorname{gr} \mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda} \cong \operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T}$.

Proof. (a) Let \mathcal{F} be a sheaf of deformable *R*-algebras on \mathcal{B} , and let \mathcal{F}_n be the sheafification of the presheaf $V \mapsto \mathcal{F}(V)_n$. Since sheafification commutes with restriction, we see that $(\mathcal{F}_n)_{|U}$ is naturally isomorphic to $(\mathcal{F}_{|U})_n$.

Next, by Propositions 3.6 and 4.6 there are *sheaf* isomorphisms

$$(\mathcal{D}_{|U})_n \otimes U(\mathfrak{h})_n \xrightarrow{\cong} \left(\mathcal{D}_{|U} \otimes U(\mathfrak{h}) \right)_n \xrightarrow{\cong} (\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{|U})_n = \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \right)_{|U}$$

that induce an isomorphism $(\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda})_{|U} \xrightarrow{\cong} (\mathcal{D}_n)_{|U}$ of sheaves of filtered *R*-algebras.

(b) Since U is affine and Noetherian, it follows from Section 4.2 that $\operatorname{gr}(\mathcal{D}(U))$ is a locally free $\mathcal{O}(U)$ -module. Now proceed as in the proof of Lemma 5.7(b).

(c) The universal property of sheafification together with $[56, \S I.6.13]$ induce a morphism of sheaves

$$\operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n \otimes_{\operatorname{gr} U(\mathfrak{h})_n} \operatorname{gr} R_\lambda \to \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{D}_n^\lambda.$$

Now $\operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \cong \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ by Proposition 5.7(c), and this isomorphism sends the image of $S(\mathfrak{h})$ in $\operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$ to $\operatorname{gr} U(\mathfrak{h})_n \subseteq \operatorname{gr} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ by construction. Since $\operatorname{gr} R_\lambda$ is the trivial \mathfrak{h} -module R by definition and $\operatorname{gr} U(\mathfrak{h})_n \cong S(\mathfrak{h})$ by Lemma 3.5, we obtain a morphism of sheaves of graded R-algebras

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \otimes_{S(\mathfrak{h})} R \to \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}.$$

Now the short exact sequence $0 \to \mathfrak{h} \otimes \mathcal{O} \xrightarrow{j \otimes 1} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathcal{T} \to 0$ of locally free sheaves on \mathcal{B} from Lemma 4.4 induces an isomorphism $\operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}} \otimes_{S(\mathfrak{h})} R \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Sym}(\sigma) \otimes 1}$ $\operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T}$. We finally obtain a morphism of sheaves of graded *R*-algebras

$$\operatorname{Sym}_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T} \to \operatorname{gr} \mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}$$

which is seen to be an isomorphism over any $U \in \mathcal{S}$ by part (a).

6.5. Completions and central reduction. The following elementary lemma will be useful in what follows. Recall that if M is an R-module, then \widehat{M} denotes its π -adic completion.

LEMMA. Let $B \to A$ be a map of Noetherian R-algebras, and let M be a finitely generated B-module. Then $\widehat{A} \otimes_{\widehat{B}} \widehat{M}$ is π -adically complete, and there is a natural isomorphism of R-modules

$$\psi_M:\widehat{A\otimes_B M}\longrightarrow \widehat{A}\otimes_{\widehat{B}}\widehat{M}.$$

If $B \to A$ is a central embedding and M is a cyclic B-module, then ψ_M is an R-algebra isomorphism.

Proof. The first part follows from [12, §3.2.3(iii), (v)]. Hence the natural map $A \otimes_B M \to \widehat{A} \otimes_{\widehat{B}} \widehat{M}$ extends to an *R*-linear map $\psi_M : \widehat{A \otimes_B M} \longrightarrow \widehat{A} \otimes_{\widehat{B}} \widehat{M}$. Because *A* and *B* are Noetherian, it follows from [12, §3.2.3(ii)]

that the functors $\widehat{A \otimes_B}$ – and $\widehat{A} \otimes_{\widehat{B}}$ – are right exact. Since ψ is a natural transformation between these functors such that ψ_B is an isomorphism, we can pick a presentation for M by finitely generated free B-modules, apply both functors to this presentation and invoke the Five Lemma to deduce that ψ_M is an isomorphism.

The last statement is now clear.

DEFINITION. Let $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}} := \lim_{\longleftarrow} \mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda} / \pi^a \mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}$ be the π -adic completion of \mathcal{D}_n^{λ} , and let $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} := \widehat{\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}} \otimes_R K$.

Since the discrete valuation ring R is already π -adically complete by assumption, R_{λ} is already a $U(\mathfrak{h})_n$ -module; we will denote the $U(\mathfrak{h})_{n,K}$ -module $R_{\lambda} \otimes_R K$ by K_{λ} .

PROPOSITION. (a) If $U \in S$, then $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}(U) \cong \widehat{\mathcal{D}(U)_{n,K}}$ is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra and $\operatorname{Gr}(\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}(U)) \cong \mathcal{O}(T^*U_k)$.

- (b) $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ is a sheaf of complete doubly filtered K-algebras.
- (c) There is an isomorphism $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}} \otimes_{\widehat{U(\mathfrak{h})_{n,K}}} K_{\lambda}$ of sheaves of complete doubly filtered K-algebras.
- (d) The sheaf $\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}$ is coherent.

Proof. In view of Lemma 6.4, parts (a) and (b) follow from the proof of Proposition 5.10 after making appropriate changes.

(c) For each $U \in S$, $U(\mathfrak{h})_n \to \mathcal{D}_n(U)$ is a map of Noetherian *R*-algebras. Since R_{λ} is π -adically complete, there is thus an isomorphism of complete *R*-algebras

$$\psi_U: \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U) \otimes_{U(\mathfrak{h})_n} R_\lambda \xrightarrow{\cong} \widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n(U)} \otimes_{\widetilde{U(\mathfrak{h})_n}} R_\lambda$$

by the lemma. The reduction of $\psi_U \mod \pi$ is a morphism of filtered algebras, and the family of morphisms $(\psi_U)_{U \in \mathcal{S}}$ is compatible with restriction, so it induces the required isomorphism $\psi : \widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}} \otimes_{\widehat{U(\mathfrak{h})_{n,K}}} K_{\lambda}$ of sheaves of complete doubly filtered K-algebras.

(d) Since $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}^{\lambda}$ is a quotient of $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$, this follows from the coherence of $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}$ proved in Proposition 5.10(c).

Using the above, we will henceforth identify $\operatorname{coh}(\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}})$ with the full subcategory of $\operatorname{coh}(\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}})$ consisting of sheaves such that $\pi^n\mathfrak{h}$ acts via the character λ . 6.6. The generic fibre. The sheaf $\mathcal{D}_K^{\lambda} := \mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda} \otimes_R K$ does not depend on the deformation parameter n. Its restriction to \mathcal{B}_K is naturally isomorphic to a classical sheaf of twisted differential operators in the sense of Beilinson and Bernstein [8].

The next result allows us to apply the classical theorem of Beilinson-Bernstein to those $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -modules that can be 'uncompleted.'

THEOREM. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent \mathcal{D}_n^{λ} -module.

- (a) If \mathcal{M}_K is generated by global sections as a \mathcal{D}_K^{λ} -module, then $\widehat{\mathcal{M}}_K$ is generated by global sections as a $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -module.
- (b) If \mathcal{M}_K is Γ -acyclic, then so is $\widehat{\mathcal{M}}_K$.

Proof. Note that by [42, Prop. III.2.9], $H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}_K) \cong H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}) \otimes_R K$ for all *i*. (a) Let $v_1, \ldots, v_a \in \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}_K)$ generate \mathcal{M}_K as a \mathcal{D}_K^{λ} -module; by clearing denominators we may assume that these generators all lie in $\Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M})$. Let $\alpha : (\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda})^a \to \mathcal{M}$ be the map of \mathcal{D}_n^{λ} -modules defined by these global sections; then $\mathcal{C} := \operatorname{coker}(\alpha)$ is coherent and $\mathcal{C}_K = 0$ by assumption. Thus we have an exact sequence

$$(\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda})^a \to \mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{C} \to 0$$

in $\operatorname{coh}(\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda})$. By Lemma 5.8(a), the functor $\Gamma(U, -)$ is exact on $\operatorname{coh}(\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda})$ for all $U \in \mathcal{S}$. Since $\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}(U)$ is Noetherian by Lemma 6.4 and since $\pi \in \mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}(U)$ is central, the functor of π -adic completion is exact on finitely generated $\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}(U)$ modules by [12, §3.2.3(ii)]. Hence the sequence

$$\widehat{(\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda})^a(U)} \to \widehat{\mathcal{M}(U)} \to \widehat{\mathcal{C}(U)} \to 0$$

is exact for all $U \in \mathcal{S}$. Hence the sequence of sheaves

$$(\widehat{\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}})^a \xrightarrow{\widehat{\alpha}_K} \widehat{\mathcal{M}} \to \widehat{\mathcal{C}} \to 0$$

is exact. Now \mathcal{C} is π -torsion and coherent as a \mathcal{D}_n^{λ} -module, so $\pi^m \mathcal{C} = 0$ for some integer m since \mathcal{B} is quasi-compact. Hence $\pi^m \widehat{\mathcal{C}} = 0$ also, and therefore the morphism $\widehat{\alpha}_K : (\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}})^a \to \widehat{\mathcal{M}}_K$ is surjective.

(b) By Proposition 5.15, $H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M})$ is a finitely generated $U(\mathfrak{g})_n$ -module. On the other hand, it is π -torsion when i > 0 by assumption. Since π is central in $U(\mathfrak{g})_n$, we deduce that there exists an integer m such that $\pi^m H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}) = 0$ for all i > 0.

Now for all $a, b \ge 0$, there is a commutative diagram

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\pi^{a+b}} \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}/\pi^{a+b} \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow 0$$
$$\begin{array}{c} \pi^{a} \\ \pi^{a} \\ 0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\pi^{b}} \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow \mathcal{M}/\pi^{b} \mathcal{M} \longrightarrow 0 \end{array}$$

of sheaves of coherent \mathcal{D}_n^{λ} -modules with exact rows. This induces a commutative diagram on cohomology

$$\begin{array}{cccc} H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}) & \xrightarrow{\pi^{a+b}} H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}) \longrightarrow H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}/\pi^{a+b}\mathcal{M}) \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}) \\ & \pi^{a} \middle| & & & \downarrow \\ & & & & \downarrow \\ H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}) \xrightarrow{\pi^{b}} H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}) \longrightarrow H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}/\pi^{b}\mathcal{M}) \longrightarrow H^{i+1}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}) \end{array}$$

with exact rows for each $i \ge 0$. If $a \ge m$, then the last vertical arrow is zero, since $\pi^m H^{i+1}(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}) = 0$. Thus the image of $H^i(\tau_{a,b})$ is the image of $H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M})$ in $H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}/\pi^b \mathcal{M})$.

It follows that the projective system $H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}/\pi^b\mathcal{M})$ satisfies the Mittag-Leffler condition for each $i \ge 0$ and so by [40, Prop. 0.13.3.1] together with Lemma 5.8 that $H^i(\mathcal{B}, \widehat{\mathcal{M}}) \cong \lim_{i \to \infty} H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}/\pi^b\mathcal{M})$ for all i > 0. Taking the projective limit of the columns of the cohomology diagram for i > 0 and using the fact that the maps in the first and last columns are zero for $a \ge m$, we then obtain isomorphisms $H^i(\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{M}) \cong H^i(\mathcal{B}, \widehat{\mathcal{M}})$, whence

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\widehat{\mathcal{M}}_{K})\cong H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\widehat{\mathcal{M}})\otimes_{R}K\cong H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M})\otimes_{R}K=0$$

whenever i > 0, as claimed.

6.7. Integral and dominant weights. We assume from now on that **G** is semisimple and simply-connected and that K is a field of characteristic zero.

Let $h_1, \ldots, h_l \in \mathfrak{h}$ be the simple coroots corresponding to the simple roots in \mathfrak{h}_K^* given by the adjoint action of \mathbf{H} on $\mathfrak{g}/\mathfrak{b}$, let $\omega_1, \ldots, \omega_l \in \mathfrak{h}_K^*$ be the corresponding system of fundamental weights, and let $\rho = \omega_1 + \cdots + \omega_l$. Thus $\omega_i(h_j) = \delta_{ij}$ for all i, j and any $\mu \in \mathfrak{h}_K^*$ can be written in the form $\mu = \sum_{i=1}^l \mu(h_i)\omega_i$. Since K is a field of characteristic zero, \mathfrak{h}_K^* contains an isomorphic copy $\mathbb{Z}\omega_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathbb{Z}\omega_l$ of the weight lattice Λ of the group \mathbf{H} . Since \mathfrak{h} is spanned by the h_i over R; see [49, §II.1.6, §II.1.11] — our space of twists $\operatorname{Hom}_R(\pi^n\mathfrak{h}, R)$ can be naturally identified with $\pi^{-n}R \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \Lambda$.

Recall that a weight $\mu \in \mathfrak{h}_{K}^{*}$ is said to be *integral* if $\mu \in \Lambda \subseteq \mathfrak{h}_{K}^{*}$ or equivalently $\mu(h_{i}) \in \mathbb{Z}$ for all *i*. An integral weight μ is said to be *dominant* if $\mu(h_{i}) \geq 0$ for all *i*. Following [9] we extend this notion to nonintegral weights as follows: an arbitrary weight $\mu \in \mathfrak{h}_{K}^{*}$ is *dominant* if $\mu(h) \notin \{-1, -2, -3, \cdots\}$ for any positive coroot $h \in \mathfrak{h}$. Finally, we will say that λ is ρ -dominant if $\lambda + \rho$ is dominant.

THEOREM. If λ is ρ -dominant, then $H^i(\mathcal{B}, \widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}(s)) = 0$ for all $i \ge 1$ and all integers s.

Proof. Apply Theorem 6.6(b) and paragraph (iii) of the proof of [8, Théorème Principal], noting that our sheaf $\mathcal{D}_{k}^{\lambda}$ is their sheaf $\mathcal{D}_{\lambda+\rho}$. Our ground

field K is not algebraically closed, but this part of the proof of the Beilinson-Bernstein Theorem does not require this assumption.

COROLLARY. If λ is ρ -dominant, every coherent $\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}$ -module is Γ -acyclic.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{coh}(\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}})$, and let $d = \dim \mathcal{B}$. Using Theorem 6.3, choose a resolution

$$\cdots \to \mathcal{P}_d \xrightarrow{f_d} \mathcal{P}_{d-1} \xrightarrow{f_{d-1}} \cdots \xrightarrow{f_1} \mathcal{P}_0 \xrightarrow{f_0} \mathcal{M} \to 0,$$

where each \mathcal{P}_i is a direct sum of right twists of $\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}$. Now if $\mathcal{M}_i = \text{Im } f_i$, then for each $i \ge 1$, the long exact sequence of cohomology together with Theorem 6.7 shows that

$$H^{i}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}) = H^{i+1}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}_{1}) = \cdots = H^{i+d}(\mathcal{B},\mathcal{M}_{d}) = 0$$

by [42, Th. III.2.7].

We now start working towards computing the global sections of $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{n}^{\lambda}$.

6.8. Restrictions on the prime p. Let p be the characteristic of the residue field k of R. Recall that p is said to be *bad* for an irreducible root system Φ if

- p = 2 when $\Phi = B_l$, C_l or D_l ;
- p = 2 or 3 when $\Phi = E_6, E_7, F_4$ or G_2 ;
- p = 2, 3 or 5 when $\Phi = E_8$.

We say that p is *bad* for **G** if it is bad for some irreducible component of the root system of **G**, and we say that p is a *good* prime for **G** if p is not bad. Finally p is said to be *very good* for **G** if p is good and no irreducible component of the root system of **G** is of type A_{mp-1} for some integer $m \ge 1$.

We assume from now on that p is a very good prime for \mathbf{G} .

6.9. Rings of invariants. Recall that we have chosen a Cartan subgroup **T** of **G** in Section 4.10 and that it induces a root space decomposition $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{n} \oplus \mathfrak{t} \oplus \mathfrak{n}^+$ of \mathfrak{g} . The Weyl group **W** of **G** acts naturally on \mathfrak{t} and hence on the symmetric algebra $S(\mathfrak{t})$. On other hand, the adjoint action of **G** on \mathfrak{g} extends to an action on $U(\mathfrak{g})$ by ring automorphisms. This action preserves the filtration on $U(\mathfrak{g})$ and induces the adjoint action of **G** on $\operatorname{gr} U(\mathfrak{g}) \cong S(\mathfrak{g})$. Let

$$\psi: S(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}} \to S(\mathfrak{t})$$

be the composition of the inclusion $S(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}} \hookrightarrow S(\mathfrak{g})$ with the projection $S(\mathfrak{g}) \to S(\mathfrak{t})$ along the decomposition $S(\mathfrak{g}) = S(\mathfrak{t}) \oplus (\mathfrak{n}S(\mathfrak{g}) + S(\mathfrak{g})\mathfrak{n}^+)$. By [27, Th. 7.3.7], the image of ψ is contained in $S(\mathfrak{t}) \cap S(\mathfrak{t}_K)^{\mathbf{W}} = S(\mathfrak{t})^{\mathbf{W}}$, and ψ is injective.

Let $U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}}$ denote the subalgebra of **G**-invariants of $U(\mathfrak{g})$. Since taking **G**-invariants is left exact, there is a natural inclusion

$$\iota: \operatorname{gr}(U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}}) \to S(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}}$$

of graded rings. Inspired by the ideas contained in [48, §9.6], we can now compute the associated graded ring of $U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}}$.

PROPOSITION. The rows of the diagram

are exact, and each vertical map is an isomorphism.

Proof. We view this diagram as a sequence of complexes $C^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\iota^{\bullet}} D^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\psi^{\bullet}} E^{\bullet}$. It is easy to check that each complex is exact except possibly in the right-most nonzero entry. Since p is very good for **G** and **G** is simply-connected, it follows from [26, Cor. du Th. 2] that E^{\bullet} is actually exact.

Now ψ is injective by [27, Th. 7.3.7] and ψ_k is an isomorphism by [50, Th. 4(i)] since p is good, so $\psi^{\bullet} \circ \iota^{\bullet}$ is also injective. Consider the short exact sequence of complexes $0 \to C^{\bullet} \xrightarrow{\psi^{\bullet} \circ \iota^{\bullet}} E^{\bullet} \to F^{\bullet} \to 0$, where $F^{\bullet} := \operatorname{coker}(\psi^{\bullet} \circ \iota^{\bullet})$. Since E^{\bullet} is exact and $H^0(C^{\bullet}) = H^1(C^{\bullet}) = 0$, the long exact sequence of cohomology shows that $H^0(F^{\bullet}) = H^2(F^{\bullet}) = 0$ and that there is an isomorphism $H^1(F^{\bullet}) \xrightarrow{\cong} H^2(C^{\bullet})$.

Since $\psi_K \circ \iota_K$: $\operatorname{gr}(U(\mathfrak{g}_K)^{\mathbf{G}_K}) \to S(\mathfrak{t}_K)^{\mathbf{W}_K}$ is an isomorphism by [27, Th. 7.3.7], we see that $F^0 = F^1 = \operatorname{coker}(\psi \circ \iota)$ is π -torsion. But since $H^0(F^{\bullet}) = 0$, the sequence $0 \to F^0 \xrightarrow{\pi} F^1$ is exact whence $F^0 = F^1 = 0$. Hence $H^1(F^{\bullet}) = H^2(C^{\bullet}) = 0$ and the top row C^{\bullet} of the diagram is exact.

Finally, since $\psi^{\bullet} \circ \iota^{\bullet} : C^{\bullet} \to E^{\bullet}$ is now an isomorphism in all degrees except possibly 2, it must be an isomorphism by the Five Lemma. The result follows because ψ^{\bullet} and ι^{\bullet} are both injections.

COROLLARY. $\operatorname{gr}(U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}})$ is isomorphic to a polynomial algebra over R in l variables.

Proof. Since $\psi \circ \iota$ is a graded isomorphism by the proposition, this follows from [26, Th. 3] and [49, §I.2.10(3)].

6.10. Global sections of $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}^{\lambda}$. It follows from Corollary 6.9 that $U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}}$ is itself a commutative polynomial algebra over R in l variables. Hence

$$\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})}_{n,K}^{\overline{\mathbf{G}}} := (\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}}})_{n,K}$$

is a commutative Tate algebra in l variables.

The commutative square in Lemma 4.10 consists of deformable *R*-algebras. Applying the deformation functor to it we obtain another commutative square of deformable R-algebras

We view the $U(\mathfrak{h})_n$ -module R_λ as a $(U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}})_n$ -module via restriction along the map $(i \circ \phi)_n : (U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}})_n \to U(\mathfrak{h})_n$, and we let $K_{\lambda} := R_{\lambda} \otimes_R K$ be the corresponding $U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}^{\mathbf{G}}$ -module. We make the following definitions:

- $\mathcal{U}_n^{\lambda} := U(\mathfrak{g})_n \otimes_{(U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}})_n} R_{\lambda},$ $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_n^{\lambda}} := \lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \mathcal{U}_n^{\lambda} / \pi^a \mathcal{U}_n^{\lambda}, \text{ and }$
- $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n.K}^{\lambda}} := \widehat{\mathcal{U}_n^{\lambda}} \otimes_R K.$

Because the diagram commutes, the map $U(\varphi)_n \otimes (j \circ i)_n : U(\mathfrak{g})_n \otimes U(\mathfrak{t})_n \to \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_n$ factors through $(U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}})_n$ and we obtain algebra homomorphisms

$$\begin{aligned} \varphi_n^{\lambda} &: \mathcal{U}_n^{\lambda} \to \mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}, \\ \widehat{\varphi_n^{\lambda}} &: \widehat{\mathcal{U}_n^{\lambda}} \to \widehat{\mathcal{D}_n^{\lambda}}, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\widehat{\varphi_{n,K}^{\lambda}}:\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}\to\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}.$$

It is not immediately clear whether \mathcal{U}_n^{λ} is a deformable *R*-algebra as it could a priori have π -torsion. Presumably gr $U(\mathfrak{g})$ is a free module over gr $(U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}})$, which would imply that \mathcal{U}_n^{λ} is deformable. However we will not need to prove this.

THEOREM. (a) $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} \cong \widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}} \otimes_{\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}^{\mathbf{G}}}} K_{\lambda}$ is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra.

- (b) The map $\widehat{\varphi_{n,K}^{\lambda}}: \widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} \to \Gamma(\mathcal{B}, \widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}})$ is an isomorphism of complete doubly filtered K-algebras.
- (c) There is an isomorphism $S(\mathfrak{g}_k) \otimes_{S(\mathfrak{g}_k)^{\mathbf{G}_k}} k \xrightarrow{\cong} \operatorname{Gr}(\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}).$

Proof. (a) By Corollary 6.9 and Lemma 3.5, $(U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}})_n$ is Noetherian. Thus there is an *R*-algebra isomorphism $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_n^{\lambda}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \widehat{\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})_n} \otimes_{\widehat{\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})_{\mathbf{G}}}} R_{\lambda}$ by Lemma 6.5. So $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra, being a quotient of $\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}}$. (b), (c) Let $\{U_1, \ldots, U_m\}$ be an open cover of \mathcal{B} by open affines that trivialise the torsor ξ ; thus the special fibre \mathcal{B}_k is covered by the special fibres

 $U_{i,k}$. For part (b), it will be enough to prove that the sequence

$$C^{\bullet}: \quad 0 \to \widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} \xrightarrow{\varphi_{n,K}^{\lambda}} \bigoplus_{i=1}^{m} \widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}(U_i) \to \bigoplus_{i < j} \widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}(U_i \cap U_j)$$

is exact. Since C^{\bullet} is a complex in the category of complete doubly filtered *K*-algebras, it is enough to show that $\operatorname{Gr}(C^{\bullet})$ is exact.

By Corollary 3.7, there is a commutative diagram with exact rows

Since $gr(U(\mathfrak{g})) = S(\mathfrak{g})$, Proposition 6.9 induces a commutative square



where the horizontal maps are isomorphisms and the vertical maps are inclusions. Since $\operatorname{Gr}(K_{\lambda})$ is the trivial $\operatorname{Gr}(U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}^{\mathbf{G}})$ -module k, we obtain a natural surjection

$$S(\mathfrak{g}_k) \otimes_{S(\mathfrak{g}_k)^{\mathbf{G}_k}} k \cong \operatorname{Gr}(\widetilde{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}}) \otimes_{\operatorname{Gr}(U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}^{\mathbf{G}})} \operatorname{Gr}(K_{\lambda}) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Gr}(\widetilde{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}),$$

which fits into the commutative diagram

where the bottom row is $\operatorname{Gr}(C^{\bullet})$ and the top row appeared in the proof of [14, Prop. 3.4.1] and is induced by the moment map $T^*\mathcal{B}_k \to \mathfrak{g}_k^*$. It was shown in loc. cit. that under the assumption that p is very good for \mathbf{G} , the top row is exact. The second and third vertical arrows are isomorphisms by Proposition 6.5(a). An elementary diagram chase now shows that $\operatorname{Gr}(C^{\bullet})$ is exact, proving (b), and also that the first vertical arrow is an isomorphism, proving (c).

6.11. *The localisation functors*. Recall the localisation functor from Section 5.17:

$$\operatorname{Loc}: \widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}} - \operatorname{mod} \to \widetilde{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}} - \operatorname{mod}.$$

For each $\lambda \in \operatorname{Hom}_R(\pi^n\mathfrak{h}, R)$, we also have a functor

$$\operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}: \widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} - \operatorname{mod} \to \widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} - \operatorname{mod},$$

given by $M \mapsto \widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} \otimes_{\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}} M$, which we will also call a localisation functor. Since $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ is a quotient of $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ by Proposition 6.5(c), we can and will view $\operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}(M)$ as a $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ -module.

LEMMA. For any finitely generated $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -module M, there is a natural surjection of $\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}}$ -modules $\operatorname{Loc}(M) \twoheadrightarrow \operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}(M)$.

Proof. By Theorem 6.10(a), there is an isomorphism

$$\widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}} \otimes_{\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}}} \widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} \cong \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}} \otimes_{\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}}} \left(\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}} \otimes_{\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}}} K_{\lambda} \right) \cong \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}} \otimes_{\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}}} K_{\lambda}$$

of sheaves of complete doubly filtered K-algebras. There is also the isomorphism

$$\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}} \cong \widehat{\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}} \otimes_{\widehat{U(\mathfrak{h})_{n,K}}} K_{\lambda}$$

of sheaves of complete doubly filtered K-algebras by Proposition 6.5(c). These isomorphisms fit together into a commutative diagram

and the obvious surjective horizontal arrow in the second row induces the dotted surjective arrow in the first row. This proves the result in the case when $M = \widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$; in the general case, pick a presentation $F_1 \to F_0 \to M \to 0$ of M where F_1 and F_0 are finitely generated free $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -modules, and apply the Five Lemma.

6.12. The equivalence of categories. Recall that a weight $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}_K^*$ is said to be regular if its stabilizer under the action of **W** is trivial. Recall also that we are assuming that our ground field K has characteristic zero.

PROPOSITION. Let the weight $\lambda \in \operatorname{Hom}_{R}(\pi^{n}\mathfrak{h}, R)$ be such that $\lambda + \rho$ is dominant. Then \mathcal{B} is coherently $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -acyclic. If $\lambda + \rho$ is also regular, then \mathcal{B} is $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -affine.

Proof. Let \mathcal{M} be a coherent $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -module. By Corollary 6.7, \mathcal{M} is Γ -acyclic. Because we may view \mathcal{M} as a coherent $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}}$ -module, $\mathcal{M}(X)$ is finitely generated over $\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}}$ by Proposition 5.16. Thus $\mathcal{M}(X)$ is a coherent $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}(X)$ module, and so \mathcal{B} is coherently $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -acyclic.

Suppose now that $\lambda + \rho$ is regular. By Theorem 6.3 and Proposition 6.5(c) we can find a surjection $\mathcal{F} \twoheadrightarrow \mathcal{M}$ where \mathcal{F} is a direct sum of sheaves of the form $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}(s_i)$ for some integers s_i . Since each $\mathcal{D}_K^{\lambda}(s_i)$ is a coherent \mathcal{D}_K^{λ} -module, it is generated by its global sections by paragraph (iv) of the proof of [8, Théorème Principal]. Hence each $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}(s_i)$ is generated by its global sections by Theorem 6.6(a) and we can therefore find a surjection $\mathcal{F}_0 \to \mathcal{M}$ where \mathcal{F}_0 is a direct sum of copies of $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$. Applying the same argument to the kernel of this surjection gives a presentation $\mathcal{F}_1 \to \mathcal{F}_0 \to \mathcal{M} \to 0$. Since Γ is exact and Loc^{λ} is right exact, there is a commutative diagram

with exact rows and with the first two vertical maps isomorphisms. Thus it follows from the Five Lemma that the canonical map $\operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}(\Gamma(\mathcal{M})) \to \mathcal{M}$ is an isomorphism, so \mathcal{M} is generated by its global sections and \mathcal{B} is $\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}$ -affine, as required.

We can finally prove Theorem C.

THEOREM. Let the weight $\lambda \in \operatorname{Hom}_R(\pi^n \mathfrak{h}, R)$ be such that $\lambda + \rho$ is dominant and regular. Then the functors $\operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}$ and Γ are mutually inverse equivalences of abelian categories between $\operatorname{coh}(\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}})$ and $\operatorname{coh}(\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}})$.

If $\lambda + \rho$ is dominant but not regular, then $\operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}$ and Γ still induce mutually inverse exact equivalences of abelian categories between $\operatorname{coh}(\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}})$ and $\operatorname{coh}(\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}})/\ker\Gamma$.

Proof. This follows from immediately from the proposition and Proposition 5.1. $\hfill \Box$

COROLLARY. Suppose that λ is ρ -dominant, let M be a finitely generated $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -module, and let $\mathcal{M} = \operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}(M)$. Then

 $\beta(\mathrm{Ch}(\mathcal{M})) = \mathrm{Ch}(M).$

Proof. We have $\operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}(M)) \subseteq \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Loc}(M))$ by Lemma 6.11 and Corollary 5.14(b). Now $M \cong \Gamma(\operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}(M))$ by the theorem, so

 $\operatorname{Ch}(M) = \operatorname{Ch}(\Gamma(\operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}(M)) \subseteq \beta \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}(M)) \subseteq \beta \operatorname{Ch}(\operatorname{Loc}(M)) \subseteq \operatorname{Ch}(M)$ by Propositions 5.16 and 5.18.

7. Bernstein's Inequality

In this section we continue to assume that R is a complete discrete valuation ring with uniformizer π , residue field k and field of fractions K of characteristic zero.

7.1. Affinoid Weyl algebras and symplectic forms. Suppose that V is a free R-module of finite rank equipped with an alternating bilinear form ω , and recall from Example 3.4(d) the definition of the enveloping algebra $R_{\omega}[V]$ of (V,ω) . As we remarked in Section 3.5, this is a deformable R-algebra. Thus given an alternating form ω on a free R-module of finite rank, we may form the almost commutative affinoid K-algebra $K_{\omega}\langle V \rangle_n := \widehat{R_{\omega}[V]_{n,K}}$.

If S is an R-algebra, then we write V_S for the free S-module $S \otimes_R V$. Similarly, given an R-bilinear form $\phi: V \times V \to R$, we write ϕ_S for the S-bilinear form on V_S obtained by S-linearly extending ϕ .

DEFINITION. We say that an *R*-bilinear form ω on a free *R*-module *V* of finite rank is *symplectic* if ω_K and ω_k are symplectic forms on V_K and V_k respectively; that is, if ω_K and ω_k are nondegenerate alternating forms.

DEFINITION. If ω is a symplectic form on V, we call $K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_n$ an affinoid Weyl algebra.

If $A = R[x_1, \ldots, x_m, \partial_1, \ldots, \partial_m]$ is the *m*-th Weyl algebra over *R*, then *A* is the enveloping algebra of the standard symplectic form on R^{2m} . Moreover, since every symplectic form on *R* is equivalent to the standard one, up to isomorphism every enveloping algebra of a symplectic form arises in this way.

For the remainder of this section, we fix a free R-module V of rank 2m and a symplectic form ω on V.

Whenever W is a free summand of V, ω will restrict to an alternating form on W that, by abuse of notation, we will also call ω .

7.2. Grassmannians and \perp .

DEFINITION. For each $0 \leq t \leq 2m$, we define $\mathcal{G}_t(V)$ to be the set of free summands of V as an R-module of rank t. Similarly, we define $\mathcal{G}_t(V_k)$ to be the set of k-subspaces of V_k of dimension t. PROPOSITION. The natural map $\mathcal{G}_t(V) \to \mathcal{G}_t(V_k)$ given by $W \mapsto W_k$ is a surjection.

Proof. Since R is π -adically complete, we may apply the idempotent lifting lemma to $M_n(R) \to M_n(k)$.

DEFINITION. If W is a free summand of V, we define

$$W^{\perp} = \{ v \in V \mid \omega(v, w) = 0 \text{ for all } w \in W \}.$$

Similarly, if W is a subspace of V_k , we define $W^{\perp} \leq V_k$ by the same formula.

LEMMA. (a) If $W \in \mathcal{G}_t(V)$, then $W^{\perp} \in \mathcal{G}_{2m-t}(V)$; (b) $(W^{\perp})_k = (W_k)^{\perp}$ for all $W \in \mathcal{G}_t(V)$.

Proof. For (a), it suffices to prove that W^{\perp} is a free summand of V. Its rank then follows from the rank-nullity theorem since ω is nondegenerate. Since R is a discrete valuation ring, it is enough to show that V/W^{\perp} is π -torsion-free. But we know $\omega(\pi v, w) = \pi \omega(v, w)$, so for $v \in V$, $\pi v \in W^{\perp}$ if and only if $v \in W^{\perp}$.

For (b), $(W^{\perp})_k$ is easily seen to be contained in $(W_k)^{\perp}$. Since ω_k is nondegenerate, $\dim(W_k)^{\perp} = 2m - t$ by the rank-nullity theorem, and $\dim(W^{\perp})_k = 2m - t$ by part (a). The result follows.

Recall that each $\mathcal{G}_t(V_k)$ is an irreducible algebraic variety, when equipped with the Zariski topology.

THEOREM. For each $0 \leq t \leq 2m$, the map $\perp : \mathcal{G}_t(V_k) \to \mathcal{G}_{2m-t}(V_k)$ that sends $W_k \to W_k^{\perp}$ is a homeomorphism.

Proof. Since ω_k is nondegenerate, it defines a perfect pairing $V_k \times V_k \to k$ and so identifies V_k and V_k^* . Then the result is well known; see [51, §2.8] for example.

7.3. Simplicity of affinoid Weyl algebras. We now consider how V acts by derivations on $K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_n$.

LEMMA. For $v \in V$, let $\varepsilon(v) := \omega(v, -)$ be its image in $V^* := \text{Hom}_R(V, R)$, let $\partial_v \in V_k^*$ be the image of $\varepsilon(v)$ modulo π , and suppose that $\partial_v \neq 0$. Let d_v be the R-derivation of $R_{\omega}[V]_n$ given by

$$d_v \colon r \mapsto \frac{vr - rv}{\pi^n}.$$

Then

(a) d_v extends to a derivation d_v of $K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_n$.

(b) $\operatorname{Gr}(d_v)$ is the unique k-derivation of $\operatorname{Sym} V_k$ that extends ∂_v .

(c) For all $m \ge 0$, the K-linear endomorphism $\frac{d_v^m}{m!}$ of $K_\omega \langle V \rangle_n$ preserves the *R*-lattice $F_0 K_\omega \langle V \rangle_n$, and $\operatorname{Gr}\left(\frac{d_v^m}{m!}\right)$ acts as the *m*-th divided power of ∂_v on Sym V_k .

Proof. All parts follow from some straightforward calculations. \Box

The following result is a special case of [62, Prop. 1.4.6]. We provide a proof for the convenience of the reader.

THEOREM. The ring $K_{\omega}\langle V \rangle_n$ is simple.

Proof. Since $K_{\omega}\langle V \rangle_n$ is a complete doubly filtered K-algebra, it suffices to prove that if $I \neq 0$ is an ideal, then $\operatorname{Gr}(I) \subseteq \operatorname{Sym} V_k$ contains 1.

Since ω_k is a nondegenerate form on V_k , for each $\partial \in V_k^*$ there is $v \in V$ such that the reduction of $\omega(v, -) \mod \pi$ induces ∂ . Moreover, by the lemma, $\operatorname{Gr}\left(\frac{d_v^m}{m!}\right)$ is the *m*-th divided power of ∂ on $\operatorname{Sym} V_k$. It is easy to verify that there are no nontrivial ideals in $\operatorname{Sym} V_k$ invariant under all of these differential operators.

7.4. Bernstein's inequality.

THEOREM. Suppose that V is a free R-module of rank 2m and ω is a symplectic form on V. If M is a nonzero finitely generated $K_{\omega}\langle V \rangle_n$ -module, then every irreducible component X of Ch(M) satisfies

$$\dim X \ge m.$$

It is straightforward to construct modules that attain this bound.

Proof. We may find a sequence of submodules $0 = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots \subset M_r = M$ such that M_i/M_{i-1} is pure for all $i \ge 1$. By Proposition 3.3, $\operatorname{Ch}(M) = \bigcup \operatorname{Ch}(M_i/M_{i-1})$, so we may reduce to the case that M is pure. Moreover by Theorem 3.3 we know that in this case every irreducible component of $\operatorname{Ch}(M)$ has the same dimension. So it suffices to show that $\operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Ch}(M) \ge m$.

Suppose that dim Ch(M) < m. By base changing to the completion of the maximal unramified extension of K and applying Proposition 3.9, we may assume that k is an infinite field. Choose a good double filtration on M. Now

 $\mathcal{X} := \{ W \in \mathcal{G}_m(V_k) \mid \operatorname{Gr}(M) \text{ is over finitely generated over } \operatorname{Sym} W \}$

is a nonempty and Zariski open subset in $\mathcal{G}_m(V_k)$ by the Generic Noether Normalization Lemma [37, Remark 3.4.4]. So \mathcal{X}^{\perp} is again open and nonempty by Theorem 7.2. Since $\mathcal{G}_m(V_k)$ is irreducible, we deduce that $\mathcal{X} \cap \mathcal{X}^{\perp}$ is nonempty.

Using Proposition 7.2, choose $W \in \mathcal{G}_m(V)$ such that $W_k \in \mathcal{X} \cap \mathcal{X}^{\perp}$. Then $(W^{\perp})_k \in \mathcal{X}$ by Lemma 7.2(b), so M is finitely generated over both $K_{\omega}\langle W \rangle_n$ and $K_{\omega}\langle W^{\perp} \rangle_n$ by Lemma 3.2(a). Choose a finite generating set X

for M as a $K_{\omega}\langle W^{\perp}\rangle_n$ -module. Now elements of $K_{\omega}\langle W^{\perp}\rangle_n$ act as $K_{\omega}\langle W\rangle_n$ endomorphisms of M, so

$$\operatorname{Ann}_{K_{\omega}\langle W\rangle_{n}}(M) = \bigcap_{x \in X} \operatorname{ann}_{K_{\omega}\langle W\rangle_{n}}(x).$$

But dim $\operatorname{Ch}(M) < m = \dim \operatorname{Gr} K_{\omega} \langle W \rangle_n$, so M must be torsion as a $K_{\omega} \langle W \rangle_n$ -module and each term in the intersection is nonzero. Since $K_{\omega} \langle W \rangle_n$ is a Noetherian domain, [59, Th. 2.1.15] implies that $\operatorname{Ann}_{K_{\omega} \langle W \rangle_n}(M) \neq 0$. But $\operatorname{Ann}_{K_{\omega} \langle W \rangle_n}(M) \subseteq \operatorname{Ann}_{K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_n}(M)$, and so the latter is a nonzero ideal of $K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_n$. By Theorem 7.3, $\operatorname{Ann}_{K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_n}(M) = K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_n$ and M = 0, as required.

COROLLARY. If $A = R[x_1, \ldots, x_m, \partial_1, \ldots, \partial_m] = \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{A}^m)$ is the *m*-th Weyl algebra equipped with the order filtration and *M* is a nonzero finitely generated $\widehat{A_{n,K}}$ -module, then every irreducible component *X* of Ch(*M*) satisfies dim $X \ge m$.

Proof. As in the proof of the theorem above, we may reduce to the case that M is pure and so assume that every irreducible component of Ch(M) has the same dimension. So again it suffices to show that $\dim Ch(M) \ge m$.

If n is even, there is an isomorphism of R-algebras $\alpha : R_{\omega}[V]_{n/2} \to A_n$, which induces an isomorphism $\hat{\alpha} : K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_{n/2} \to \widehat{A_{n,K}}$ of complete filtered rings. Although $\hat{\alpha}$ is not an isomorphism of complete doubly filtered algebras, $\operatorname{Gr}(\widehat{A_{n,K}})$ and $\operatorname{Gr}(K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_{n/2})$ are both polynomial algebras over k in 2mvariables (with different gradations). Letting N be the restriction of M to a $K_{\omega} \langle V \rangle_{n/2}$ -module via $\hat{\alpha}$, we see that

$$\dim \operatorname{Ch}(M) = 2m - j(M) = 2m - j(N) = \dim \operatorname{Ch}(N) \ge m$$

by Theorem 3.3 and the theorem above.

If n is odd, first we base-change to $K' = K(\sqrt{\pi})$ and let $A' = R' \otimes_R A$, where $R' = R[\sqrt{\pi}]$. Then $K' \otimes_K \widehat{A_{n,K}} \cong \widehat{A'_{2n,K'}}$ by Lemma 3.9(c). By Proposition 3.9 this has not changed dim Ch(M), and we have returned to the case when n is even.

7.5. A global version of Bernstein's inequality. Recall the notation of Section 6.4.

THEOREM. If \mathcal{M} is a nonzero coherent $\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}$ -module, then every irreducible component X of $Ch(\mathcal{M})$ satisfies dim $X \ge \dim \mathcal{B}$.

Proof. Let $m = \dim \mathcal{B}$. By the proof of Lemma 4.7(c), the Weyl translates U_w of the big cell in \mathcal{B} each trivialise the torsor $\xi \colon \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{B}$ and are isomorphic to \mathbb{A}^m . Hence Theorem 5.13 and Lemma 5.14 tell us that for each w in the Weyl group $\mathbf{W}, \mathcal{M}(U_w)$ is a finitely generated $\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{n,K}(U_w)$ -module and $\mathrm{Ch}(\mathcal{M}) \cap$

 $\widetilde{T^*U_w} = \operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}(U_w))$. Because the U_w cover \mathcal{B} , it thus suffices to prove that every irreducible component of $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M}(U_w))$ has dimension at least m for every $w \in \mathbf{W}$ such that $\mathcal{M}(U_w) \neq 0$.

By Proposition 6.5(a), $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}(U_w)$ is isomorphic to $\widehat{\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{A}^m)_{n,K}}$ as an almost commutative affinoid *K*-algebra. The result now follows from Corollary 7.4.

8. Quillen's Lemma

Recall that Quillen proved in [65] that the endomorphism ring of a simple module over an almost commutative k-algebra is algebraic over k. We will generalise this to show that the endomorphism ring of a simple module over an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra A is algebraic over K provided that $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is commutative and Gorenstein. In particular, this will apply to our rings $\widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})}_{n,K}$ for n > 0.

In this section, K will be a complete discrete valuation field of arbitrary characteristic and A will denote a complete filtered K-algebra such that F_0A is an R-lattice in A and the slice $gr_0 A$ is a finitely generated commutative k-algebra. We have in mind almost commutative affinoid K-algebras with commutative slice, but our proofs do not need to use the filtration on the slice except to guarantee that the slice is finitely generated as a k-algebra.

8.1. Regular φ -lattices and Quillen's Lemma. Let M be a finitely generated A-module, and let $\varphi \in \operatorname{End}_A(M)$. We say that φ is simple if every nonzero element of the K-algebra generated by φ acts invertibly on M. Clearly every nonzero $\varphi \in \operatorname{End}_A(M)$ is simple whenever M is a simple A-module by Schur's Lemma, but there are other interesting examples. We will prove that every simple endomorphism is algebraic over K.

Suppose now that φ is a simple endomorphism of a finitely generated *A*-module *M*. We let $K(\varphi)$ be the subfield of $\operatorname{End}_A(M)$ generated by *K* and φ and note that we can view *M* as an $A - K(\varphi)$ -bimodule.

DEFINITION. We say that an *R*-lattice *N* in *M* is an F_0A -lattice if it is a finitely generated F_0A -submodule of *M*. We say that an F_0A -lattice *N* in *M* is a regular φ -lattice if the subring

$$B := \{ \theta \in K(\varphi) \mid \theta(N) \subseteq N \}$$

of $K(\varphi)$ is a discrete valuation ring and an *R*-lattice in $K(\varphi)$.

We begin along similar lines to Quillen's original proof. However we can only do this if M has a regular φ -lattice.

LEMMA. Suppose that M has a regular φ -lattice N. Then the residue field of $B = \{\theta \in K(\varphi) \mid \theta(N) \subseteq N\}$ is an algebraic extension of k. Proof. Let τ be a uniformiser of B, and note that the residue field $k' := B/\tau B$ of B acts faithfully on $N/\tau N$ by the definition of B. In particular, $N/\tau N$ is nonzero. Since B is an R-lattice in $K(\varphi)$, π is not a unit in B. Hence $\pi \in \tau B$, and $N/\tau N$ is a finitely generated $\operatorname{gr}_0 A = F_0 A/\pi F_0 A$ -module.

Let $s \in k'$, and consider the k-subalgebra k[s] of the field k' generated by s. Because $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is commutative by assumption and $N/\tau N$ is a finitely generated $(\operatorname{gr}_0 A)[s]$ -module, by the Generic Flatness Lemma [41, Lemme IV.6.9.2], we can find a nonzero element $f \in k[s]$ such that $(N/\tau N)_f$ is a free $k[s]_f$ -module. Now every nonzero element of k' acts invertibly on $N/\tau N$ because k' is a field; hence every nonzero element of $k[s]_f$ acts invertibly on the nonzero free $k[s]_f$ -module $(N/\tau N)_f$. This forces $k[s]_f$ to be a field. Because $k[s]_f$ is a finitely generated k-algebra, it must be algebraic over k by the Nullstellensatz. \Box

PROPOSITION. Suppose that M has a regular φ -lattice N. Then the residue field of $B := \{\theta \in K(\varphi) \mid \theta(N) \subseteq N\}$ is a finite algebraic extension of k.

Proof. Once again let τ be a uniformiser of B. We have already seen that the residue field k' of B must be algebraic over k and that k' acts by automorphisms on $N/\tau N$ and so may be identified with a subfield of $\operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A}(N/\tau N)$.

Let $P \in \operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{gr}_0 A)$ be a minimal prime over $\operatorname{Ann}_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A}(N/\tau N)$. Then if k(P) is the residue field of $(\operatorname{gr}_0 A)_P$ and $X := k(P) \otimes_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A} N/\tau N$, there is a k-algebra homomorphism $\operatorname{End}_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A}(N/\tau N) \to \operatorname{End}_{k(P)}(X)$. Thus we may identify k' with a subfield of $\operatorname{End}_{k(P)}(X)$, which is a matrix ring over k(P)since X is a finite-dimensional k(P)-vector space.

Since $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is a finitely generated k-algebra, k(P) is a finitely generated field extension of k. Now k'k(P) is commutative finite-dimensional k(P)algebra, since it is a subspace of $\operatorname{End}_{k(P)}(X)$ and since k(P) lies in the centre of $\operatorname{End}_{k(P)}(X)$. Thus if Q is a prime ideal in k'k(P), then L = k'k(P)/Q is an integral domain and a finite-dimensional k(P)-vector space. Thus L is a finitely generated field extension of k. It follows from [52, Prop. III.6] that every subextension and, in particular, the image of k' in L, is a finitely generated field extension of k. But k' is isomorphic to its image in L, and the result follows.

COROLLARY. Let A be a complete filtered K-algebra such that F_0A is an R-lattice in A and the slice $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is a finitely generated commutative k-algebra. Suppose that M is a finitely generated A-module and $\varphi \in \operatorname{End}_A(M)$ is simple. If M has a regular φ -lattice, then φ is algebraic over K.

Proof. Suppose that N is a regular φ -lattice in M. Then the residue field k' of $B := \{\theta \in K(\varphi) \mid \theta(N) \subseteq N\}$ is a finite extension of k by the proposition. Since B is a discrete valuation ring with maximal ideal τB , the τ -adic filtration on B is separated, and therefore B is finitely generated R-module by [56,

Th. I.5.7]. Because B is an R-lattice in $K(\varphi)$, we deduce that $K(\varphi)$ is a finite-dimensional K-vector space.

We thank Qing Liu [57] for giving an example that shows it is possible to find a discrete valuation on the function field K(t) whose residue field is algebraic (and necessarily infinite-dimensional) over k.

8.2. Microlocalisation. We will next show that if A, M and φ satisfy our conditions and M satisfies one extra hypothesis, then it has a regular φ -lattice. We begin this process by working microlocally.

We fix a complete filtered K-algebra A with commutative slice, a finitely generated A-module M and a simple $\varphi \in \text{End}_A(M)$. We fix an F_0A -lattice F_0M in M and let P_1, \ldots, P_r be the distinct minimal primes in $\text{gr}_0 A$ above $\text{Ann}_{\text{gr}_0 A}(\text{gr}_0 M)$. Let

$$T := \operatorname{gr}_0 A \setminus \bigcup_{i=1}^r P_i.$$

Since gr $A = (\text{gr}_0 A)[s, s^{-1}]$ by Lemma 3.1, T is a multiplicatively closed subset in gr A consisting of homogeneous elements of degree zero, so we can consider the microlocalisation of A at T:

$$Q := Q_T(A)$$

as in Section 2.4.

LEMMA. The slice $\operatorname{gr}_0 Q_T(M)$ of $Q_T(M)$ is an Artinian $\operatorname{gr}_0 Q$ -module, and $Q_T(M)$ is an Artinian Q-module.

Proof. Some product of the P_i 's annihilates $\operatorname{gr}_0 M$, so we can find a finite chain of $(\operatorname{gr}_0 A)_T$ -submodules of $(\operatorname{gr}_0 M)_T$ with each subquotient isomorphic to $(\operatorname{gr}_0 A/P_i)_T$ for some *i*. By our choice of T, $(\operatorname{gr}_0 A/P_i)_T$ is the residue field of the local ring of $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ at P_i , so $(\operatorname{gr}_0 M)_T$ has finite length.

It follows that $\operatorname{gr} Q_T(M) \cong (\operatorname{gr}_0 M)_T[s, s^{-1}]$ has the descending chain condition on graded gr Q-modules. Since $Q_T(M)$ is complete with respect to its filtration, it follows from [56, Prop. I.7.1.2] that it is an Artinian Q-module. \Box

Now by functoriality of microlocalisation, every A-module endomorphism of M extends to a Q-module endomorphism of $Q_T(M)$. We can therefore view $Q_T(M)$ as a $Q - K(\varphi)$ -bimodule. We fix a choice of a simple $Q - K(\varphi)$ bimodule quotient V of $Q_T(M)$ and note the lemma implies that V is an Artinian Q-module.

8.3. *Finding a maximal lattice preserver*. We retain the notation of the previous section.

DEFINITION. Let L be an R-lattice in V. We say that L is an F_0Q -lattice if it is a finitely generated F_0Q -submodule of V. We say that a subring B of $K(\varphi)$ is a *lattice preserver* if $BL \subseteq L$ for some F_0Q -lattice L in V.

LEMMA. V has at least one F_0Q -lattice. For any F_0Q -lattice L in V, $L/\pi L$ has finite length and L has Krull dimension 1 as a F_0Q -module.

Proof. Let L_0 be the image of $F_0Q_T(M)$ in V. Since F_0Q is Noetherian and π -adically complete, the proof of Proposition 3.2(a) shows that L_0 is an R-lattice in V and is therefore a F_0Q -lattice. Since $L_0/\pi L_0$ is a quotient of $\operatorname{gr}_0Q_T(M)$, it has finite length by Lemma 8.2. If L is another F_0Q -lattice in V, then by the arguments in the proof of [36, Prop. 1.1.2], $L/\pi L$ also has finite length; indeed, the class of $L/\pi L$ in the Grothendieck semigroup of $\operatorname{gr}_0Q_$ modules equals the class of $L_0/\pi L_0$. The last statement now follows from [56, Prop. I.7.1.2].

We fix an F_0Q -lattice L_0 in V and let \mathcal{L} be the set of F_0Q -lattices in Vcontained in L_0 but not contained in πL_0 . Let \mathcal{P} denote the set of lattice preservers in $K(\varphi)$. Notice that every lattice preserver preserves a lattice in \mathcal{L} since for every finitely generated F_0Q -submodule L of V, there is an integer asuch that $\pi^a L \in \mathcal{L}$.

PROPOSITION. The set \mathcal{P} has a maximal element.

Proof. By the lemma, \mathcal{P} is nonempty because it contains the subring of $K(\varphi)$ consisting of elements that preserve L_0 . By Zorn's Lemma, it will be enough to prove that \mathcal{P} is chain complete.

Let $\{B_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}}$ be a chain in \mathcal{P} . For each $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$, let L_{α} be the largest F_0Q -lattice in \mathcal{L} such that $B_{\alpha}L_{\alpha} \subseteq L_{\alpha}$. L_{α} exists because L_0 is a Noetherian F_0Q -module.

Now if $B_{\alpha} \subseteq B_{\beta}$, then $B_{\alpha}L_{\beta} \subseteq L_{\beta}$ so $L_{\beta} \subseteq L_{\alpha}$ by the maximality of L_{α} . Hence the L_{α} form a descending chain in \mathcal{L} . We claim that $L_{\infty} := \bigcap L_{\alpha}$ is also in \mathcal{L} . Since L_0 has Krull dimension 1 as a F_0Q -module by the lemma, the chain $\{L_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}}$ has deviation at most 1 and so any well-ordered subchain has order-type $< \omega^2$. By passing to a final segment of the chain $\{L_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathcal{A}}$ we may assume that its order-type is either ω or a singleton. In the latter case $L_{\infty} = L_{\alpha}$ for some α so $L_{\infty} \in \mathcal{L}$, and in the former case the claim follows from Lemma 2.7.

Finally the subring B_{∞} of $K(\varphi)$ consisting of elements that preserve L_{∞} is an upper bound for $\{B_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\mathcal{A}}$ in \mathcal{P} : if $\alpha\in\mathcal{A}$, then $B_{\alpha}L_{\infty}\subseteq B_{\beta}L_{\beta}\subseteq L_{\beta}$ for all $\beta \ge \alpha$, so $B_{\alpha}L_{\infty}\subseteq \bigcap_{\beta\ge\alpha}L_{\beta}=L_{\infty}$ and $B_{\alpha}\subseteq B_{\infty}$.

8.4. THEOREM. Every maximal lattice preserver is a discrete valuation ring.

Proof. Let B be a maximal element of \mathcal{P} , and choose $L \in \mathcal{L}$ such that $BL \subseteq L$. Note that the maximality of B forces it to be equal to $\{\theta \in K(\varphi) : \theta L \subseteq L\}$.

First we show that B is local. We pick $f \in B$ and show that one of f and 1 - f must be a unit in B. Since L is π -adically complete and since each $L/\pi^a L$ has finite length as a F_0Q -module by Lemma 8.3, it follows from Fitting's Lemma (see the proof of [30, Th. I.10.4]) that L decomposes as $U \oplus W$, where

$$U = \{ u \in L \mid \lim_{i \to \infty} f^i(u) = 0 \}$$

and

$$W = \bigcap_{i \ge 0} f^i L.$$

Because B is commutative, both U and W are B-modules as well as F_0Q -modules. Thus $U_K \oplus W_K$ is a decomposition of $V = L_K$ into a direct sum of $Q - K(\varphi)$ -bimodules. But V is a simple bimodule by construction (see Section 8.2), so either U = 0 or W = 0. If U = 0, then f is injective and W = L, so f is surjective; thus $f^{-1} \in B$. Otherwise W = 0 and U = L, so $\lim_{n\to\infty} f^n = 0$ and 1 - f is a unit in B. Hence B is a local ring with maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} , say.

Next, we will show that \mathfrak{m} is invertible as a fractional ideal. To that end, define $\mathfrak{m}^{-1} = \{x \in K(\varphi) \mid x\mathfrak{m} \subseteq B\}$. We will show that $\mathfrak{m}^{-1}\mathfrak{m}$ is B; certainly it is contained in B and contains \mathfrak{m} since $1 \in \mathfrak{m}^{-1}$. Since \mathfrak{m} is a maximal ideal in B, it thus suffices to show that $\mathfrak{m}^{-1}\mathfrak{m} \neq \mathfrak{m}$. Now $\mathfrak{m}L$ is an F_0Q submodule of L and so is finitely generated as such since F_0Q is Noetherian. Thus we may find $f_1, \ldots, f_u \in \mathfrak{m}$ such that $\mathfrak{m}L = \sum_{i=1}^u f_i L$. Let J be the ideal in B generated by f_1, \ldots, f_u . The argument above shows that each f_i acts topologically nilpotently on L, so we can find an integer $m \ge 1$ such that $J^m L \le \pi L$. Choose m to be the least such; then we can find $x \in J^{m-1}$ such that $xL \nsubseteq \pi L$. Thus $\frac{x}{\pi}$ is not in B but $\frac{x}{\pi}\mathfrak{m}L \le L$, and therefore $\frac{x}{\pi} \in \mathfrak{m}^{-1}$. If $\mathfrak{m}^{-1}\mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}$, then $\frac{x}{\pi}\mathfrak{m}L \le \mathfrak{m}L$, and the subring B' of $K(\varphi)$ generated by B and $\frac{x}{\pi}$ preserves $\mathfrak{m}L$. But then $B' \in \mathcal{P}$ and B' strictly contains B, which contradicts the maximality of B.

Now every invertible fractional ideal in an integral domain is a finitely generated projective module of rank one by the Dual Basis Lemma [59, Lemma 3.5.2]. Since B is local, it follows that \mathfrak{m} is a principal ideal generated by τ , say. Moreover we have seen that τ acts topologically nilpotently so the \mathfrak{m} -adic filtration of B is separated. It follows that for every nonzero element x of B, there is a nonnegative integer n such that $x \in (\tau^n) \setminus (\tau^{n+1})$. Thus $x = y\tau^n$ for some unit $y \in B$. Therefore B is a discrete valuation ring.

8.5. Dimension theory. We retain the notation of the previous subsections, and we also impose the additional condition that $\text{gr}_0 A$ is Gorenstein. We will need this so that we can apply Gabber's maximality principle. We recall the statement of this now.

THEOREM (Gabber's Maximality Principle). Suppose that C is an Auslander-Gorenstein ring, and let X be a finitely generated pure C-module contained in a C-module Y (not necessarily finitely generated) such that every finitely generated submodule of Y is pure. Then Y contains a unique largest finitely generated submodule Z containing X such that

$$j_C(Z/X) \ge j_C(X) + 2.$$

Proof. See [15, Th. 1.14].

We will also need the following preparatory results.

LEMMA. Suppose that $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is Gorenstein and N is a finitely generated F_0A -module. Then

- (a) F_0A is Auslander-Gorenstein.
- (b) If N is π -torsion-free, then $j_{F_0A}(N) = j_A(N_K)$.
- (c) If L is an F_0A -lattice in M and N is a submodule of M/L such that $Q_T(N) = 0$, then $j_{F_0A}(N) \ge j_{F_0A}(L) + 2$.

Proof. Part (a) follows from Proposition 2.5(b) since gr $F_0A \cong (\operatorname{gr}_0 A)[s]$.

(b) First notice that $\operatorname{Ext}_{A}^{i}(N_{K}, A) \cong \operatorname{Ext}_{F_{0}A}^{i}(N, F_{0}A)_{K}$ for each $i \geq 0$. Thus $j := j_{F_{0}A}(N) \leq j_{A}(N_{K})$, and to prove the equality we must show that $\operatorname{Ext}_{F_{0}A}^{j}(N, F_{0}A)$ is not π -torsion. Since $d_{F_{0}A}$ is finitely partitive by Proposition 2.5(a), we have that $j_{F_{0}A}(N/\pi N) > j$. By considering the long exact sequence for $\operatorname{Ext}_{F_{0}A}(-, F_{0}A)$ associated to the short exact sequence $0 \to N \to N \to N/\pi N \to 0$, we deduce that $\pi \colon \operatorname{Ext}_{F_{0}A}^{j}(N, F_{0}A) \to \operatorname{Ext}_{F_{0}A}^{j}(N, F_{0}A)$ is an injection.

(c) Since $N \subseteq M/L$ is finitely generated, it is contained in $\pi^{-m}L$ for some $m \ge 1$. By considering the filtration on N induced by $L < \pi^{-1}L < \cdots < \pi^{-m}L$, we may reduce to the case when m = 1, so that $\pi N = 0$. Now N is a gr₀ A-submodule of $\pi^{-1}L/L \cong L/\pi L$, so Supp(N) is contained in Supp $(L/\pi L)$. Since L and F_0M are both F_0A -lattices in M, Supp $(L/\pi L) =$ Supp $(F_0M/\pi F_0M)$ by [56, Chapter III, Lemma 4.1.9], so $L/\pi L$ is annihilated as a gr₀ A-module by some product of the minimal primes P_1, \ldots, P_r above Ann_{gr₀ A(gr₀ M). On the other hand, $Q_T(N) = 0$ and $\pi N = 0$ together imply that N is a T-torsion gr₀ A-module by Corollary 2.4, so tN = 0 for some $t \in T$.}

Since $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is Gorenstein and $t \notin P_i$ for all i,

$$j_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A}(\operatorname{gr}_0 A/\langle P_i, t \rangle) > j_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A}(\operatorname{gr}_0 A/P_i)$$
 for all i

by Proposition 2.5(a). Choose a finite filtration of $\pi^{-1}L/L$ by $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ -submodules where each subquotient is killed by some P_i . The restriction of this filtration to $N \subseteq \pi^{-1}L/L$ then shows that $j_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A}(N) > \min_i j_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A}(\operatorname{gr}_0 A/P_i) = j_{\operatorname{gr}_0 A}(L/\pi L)$.

We can now apply the Rees Lemma [1, Lemma 1.1] twice to obtain

$$j_{F_0A}(N) = j_{\operatorname{gr}_0A}(N) + 1 \ge j_{\operatorname{gr}_0A}(L/\pi L) + 2 = j_{F_0A}(L/\pi L) + 1.$$

Because F_0A is Auslander-Gorenstein by (a) and d_{F_0A} is finitely partitive by Proposition 2.5(a),

$$j_{F_0A}(L/\pi L) \ge j_{F_0A}(L) + 1,$$

and the result follows.

8.6. Finding a global regular φ -lattice.

PROPOSITION. Suppose that M is a simple $A - K(\varphi)$ -bimodule. Then M has a regular φ -lattice.

Proof. Since $Q_T(M)$ surjects onto V, the natural map $\phi : M \to V$ is nonzero, and therefore ker ϕ is a proper A-submodule of M. Since V is a $K(\varphi)$ -module quotient of $Q_T(M)$, ker ϕ is in fact an $A - K(\varphi)$ -subbimodule. Therefore by our assumption, ϕ is an injection, and we will use it to identify Mwith an A-submodule of V. By Proposition 8.3 we can find a maximal element B of \mathcal{P} . Let $L \in \mathcal{L}$ be an F_0Q -lattice preserved by B; we will show that $L \cap M$ is the required regular φ -lattice.

Let $S = \{s \in A : \text{gr} s \in T\}$ be the microlocal Ore set arising from $T \subseteq \text{gr}_0 A$. Alternatively put, S is just the preimage of T in F_0A ; since $1 \in T$, we see that $1 + \pi F_0A \subseteq S$, and therefore π is in the Jacobson radical of F_0A_S .

Since M_S is dense in $Q_T(M)$, $(L \cap M_S) + \pi L = L$ and so $L = F_0Q.(L \cap M_S)$. Since also $L \cap M_S = F_0A_S.(L \cap M)$, L is generated by $L \cap M$ as an F_0Q -module. Because L is Noetherian as an F_0Q -module, we can find a finitely generated F_0A -submodule X of $L \cap M$ such that $F_0Q.X = L$. Since $L \cap M$ generates M as a K-vector space, by enlarging X if necessary we may assume that X is also an R-lattice in M.

Let N be the largest A-submodule of M with $d_A(N) < d_A(M)$. Then N is a proper characteristic submodule of M and is therefore stable under every element of $K(\varphi) \subseteq \operatorname{End}_A(M)$. Since M is a simple $A - K(\varphi)$ -bimodule, N = 0, and so M is pure. Now F_0A is Auslander-Gorenstein by Lemma 8.5(a), so every finitely generated F_0A -submodule of M is pure by Lemma 8.5(b). Thus M contains a unique largest finitely generated submodule Z containing X such that $j_{F_0A}(Z/X) \ge j_{F_0A}(X) + 2$ by Gabber's Maximality Principle, Theorem 8.5. We will show that $L \cap M$ is contained in Z and so is finitely generated over F_0A since F_0A is Noetherian.

Suppose that X' is any finitely generated F_0A -submodule of $L \cap M$ containing X. Then $Q_T(X') = Q_T(X) = L$; thus $Q_T(X'/X) = 0$, and so

 $j_{F_0A}(X'/X) \ge j_{F_0A}(X) + 2$

by Lemma 8.5(c). Therefore $X' \leq Z$. This means that every finitely generated submodule of $L \cap M$ is contained in Z, and so $L \cap M$ is itself a submodule of Z as claimed.

Finally, since $L = F_0 Q.(L \cap M)$,

$$\{\theta \in K(\varphi) \mid \theta(L \cap M) \subseteq L \cap M\} = \{\theta \in K(\varphi) \mid \theta(L) \subseteq L\}$$

is a discrete valuation ring by Theorem 8.4.

We can finally state and prove our version of Quillen's Lemma.

COROLLARY. Let A be an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra with commutative Gorenstein slice. Then every simple endomorphism of every finitely generated A-module is algebraic over K.

Proof. As we explained in Section 8.1, we can view M as an $A - K(\varphi)$ bimodule. Since M is a Noetherian A-module, we can find a simple $A - K(\varphi)$ bimodule quotient \overline{M} of M; note that the A-linear endomorphism $\overline{\varphi}$ of \overline{M} induced by φ is still simple. Then by Proposition 8.6, \overline{M} has a regular $\overline{\varphi}$ -lattice, so by Corollary 8.1, $\overline{\varphi}$ is algebraic over K. But the natural map $K(\varphi) \to K(\overline{\varphi})$ is an isomorphism since $K(\varphi)$ is a field, so φ is also algebraic over K. \Box

Remarks. (a) The same proof shows that if A is any complete filtered K-algebra such that F_0A is an R-lattice in A and gr_0A is a finitely generated Gorenstein commutative k-algebra, then the conclusion of the corollary holds.

(b) It may be possible to relax the assumption that $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ is Gorenstein by using the version of Gabber's maximality principle found in [81] based around Auslander dualising complexes. However we do not know whether all almost commutative affinoid K-algebras have an Auslander dualising complex.

9. Modules over completed enveloping algebras

9.1. *Finite-dimensional modules*. We begin our study of finitely generated modules over completed enveloping algebras with the following rather general result.

PROPOSITION. Let A be a complete doubly filtered K-algebra such that Gr(A) is a connected graded polynomial algebra over k, and let M be a finitely generated A-module.

(a) M is finite-dimensional over K if and only if dim Ch(M) = 0.

(b) If A has at least one nonzero finite-dimensional module V, then inj.dim $A = \dim \operatorname{Gr}(A)$ and $d(M) = \dim \operatorname{Ch}(M)$.

Proof. (a) Choose a good double filtration $(F_0M, F_{\bullet} \operatorname{gr}_0 M)$ on M using Proposition 3.2(b). Then dim $\operatorname{Ch}(M) = 0$ if and only if $\operatorname{Gr}(M)$ is finitedimensional over k. Now if $\operatorname{Gr}(M)$ is finite-dimensional over k, then the double filtration is good for M as a doubly filtered K-module, and therefore M is finitedimensional over K by Lemma 3.2(a). Conversely, if M is finite-dimensional over K, then F_0M has to be finitely generated over R by Proposition 2.7 because it is an R-lattice in M, so $\operatorname{gr}_0 M$ and $\operatorname{Gr}(M)$ are finite-dimensional over k.

(b) By part (a), dim Ch(V) = 0, so dim Gr(A) = $j_A(V)$ by Theorem 3.3. Clearly $j_A(V) \leq \text{inj.dim}A \leq \text{gld }A$. Now π is a central regular element of F_0A contained in the Jacobson radical of F_0A and $A = (F_0A)_{\pi}$. Therefore,

$$\operatorname{gld} A \leq \operatorname{gld} F_0 A - 1 = \operatorname{gld} \operatorname{gr}_0 A \leq \operatorname{gld} \operatorname{Gr}(A) = \operatorname{dim} \operatorname{Gr}(A)$$

by [59, $\S7.4.4$, 7.3.7, 7.5.3(iii)] and [56, Cor. I.7.2.2]. The first statement follows, and we obtain the second from Theorem 3.3.

Now let \mathfrak{g} be an *R*-Lie algebra that is free of finite rank as an *R*-module, and let *A* denote the almost commutative affinoid *K*-algebra $\widetilde{U(\mathfrak{g})}_{n,K}$. Then $\operatorname{Gr}(A) \cong S(\mathfrak{g}_k)$ is commutative and Gorenstein with dim $\operatorname{Gr}(A) = \dim \mathfrak{g}_k$, and we always have the trivial *A*-module $K = A/A\mathfrak{g}_K$ that is one-dimensional over *K*. Thus we obtain the following

COROLLARY. Let M be a finitely generated $A = U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}$ -module. Then $d(M) = \dim \operatorname{Ch}(M)$ and d(M) = 0 if and only if M is finite-dimensional over K.

Note the proposition fails for the affinoid Weyl algebras of Section 7.1 because these never have any nonzero modules that are finite-dimensional over K by Bernstein's Inequality, Theorem 7.4.

9.2. Finite-dimensional modules. We now continue with the notation and assumptions of Section 6.7. Since the usual enveloping algebra $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ is a K-subalgebra of $A = U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}$, we can view every A-module as a $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ -module by restriction.

PROPOSITION. Restriction induces an equivalence of abelian categories between finite-dimensional A-modules and finite-dimensional $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ -modules.

Proof. Let V be a finite-dimensional $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ -module. By Weyl's Theorem [27, Th. 1.6.3], V is a direct sum of simple $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ -submodules, and each simple submodule has a highest weight by [27, Prop. 7.2.1(i)]. Now the proof of [44, Th. 27.1(b)] shows that we can find an R-lattice L in V that is stable under $U(\mathfrak{g})$. Hence it is also stable under $U(\mathfrak{g})_n$. Since L is finitely generated over
R, it is π -adically complete and is therefore an $F_0A = U(\mathfrak{g})_n$ -module. Hence V is also an A-module, so the restriction functor is essentially surjective on objects. This functor is clearly faithful, so it remains to show that it is full.

Let V, W be two finite-dimensional A-modules, and let $f: V \to W$ be a $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ -module homomorphism. Choose \mathfrak{g} -stable R-lattices $L \subseteq V$ and $M \subseteq W$. Since L is finitely generated over R, $\pi^m f(L) \subseteq M$ for some integer m, so f is continuous. Since $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ is dense in A, it follows that f is actually an A-module homomorphism. \Box

Recall the set of integral dominant weights $\Lambda^+ = \mathbb{N}\omega_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathbb{N}\omega_l \subseteq \mathfrak{h}^*$ from Section 6.7 and the isomorphism $i: \mathfrak{t} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathfrak{h}$ from Section 4.10.

COROLLARY. Every finite-dimensional A-module is semisimple. For each $\lambda \in \Lambda^+$, there is a simple finite-dimensional A-module $L(\lambda)$ with highest weight $\lambda \circ i$ uniquely determined up to isomorphism, and all finite-dimensional simple A-modules are of this form.

Proof. This follows from $[27, \S1.6.3, 7.1.11, 7.2.2]$.

We could have also constructed a \mathfrak{g} -stable R-lattice in each $L(\lambda)$ by considering the co-ordinate ring $\mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ of the basic affine space $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}} = \mathbf{G}/\mathbf{N}$ (see Section 4.7). This is a Λ^+ -graded \mathfrak{g} -stable subring of the usual representation ring $\mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_K) \cong \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \Lambda^+} L(\lambda)$, so its homogeneous components give the required \mathfrak{g} -stable lattices.

9.3. The centre. Recall the Harish-Chandra homomorphism $\phi : U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}} \longrightarrow U(\mathfrak{t})$ from Section 4.10. This is a morphism of deformable *R*-algebras, and applying the deformation and π -adic completion functors, we obtain the deformed Harish-Chandra homomorphism

$$\widehat{\phi_{n,K}}: \widehat{U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}^{\mathbf{G}}} \longrightarrow \widehat{U(\mathfrak{t})_{n,K}},$$

which we will denote by $\widehat{\phi} : Z \to \widetilde{Z}$ in an attempt to alleviate the notation. Now the Weyl group **W** of **G** acts on \mathfrak{t}_K^* by

$$w \bullet \lambda = w(\lambda + \rho') - \rho',$$

where $\rho' := i^*(\rho) = \rho \circ i \in \mathfrak{t}^*$ denotes the image of $\rho \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ under the dual isomorphism $i^* : \mathfrak{h}^* \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathfrak{t}^*$. In fact, ρ' is equal to half the sum of the **T**-roots on \mathfrak{n}^+ . If we view $U(\mathfrak{t})_K$ as an algebra of polynomial functions on \mathfrak{t}_K^* , we get a corresponding 'dot'-action of **W** on $U(\mathfrak{t})_K$. This action preserves the *R*-subalgebra $U(\mathfrak{t})_n$ of $U(\mathfrak{t})_K$ and therefore extends to a natural 'dot'-action of **W** on $\widetilde{Z} = U(\mathfrak{t})_{n,K}$.

PROPOSITION. Suppose that p is a very good prime for **G**. (a) The algebra Z is contained in the centre of A.

- (b) The map $\widehat{\phi}$ is injective, and its image is the ring of invariants $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbf{W}\bullet}$.
- (c) The algebra \widetilde{Z} is free of rank $|\mathbf{W}|$ as a module over $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbf{W}\bullet}$.
- (d) $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbf{W}\bullet}$ is isomorphic to a Tate algebra $K\langle S_1, \ldots, S_l \rangle$ as a complete doubly filtered K-algebra.

Proof. (a) The algebra $U(\mathfrak{g})_K^{\mathbf{G}}$ is central in $U(\mathfrak{g})_K$ by [44, Lemma 23.2], so it is also contained in the centre of A since $U(\mathfrak{g})_K$ is dense in A. But $U(\mathfrak{g})_K^{\mathbf{G}}$ is dense in Z, so Z is also central in A.

(b) By the classical result of Harish-Chandra [27, Th. 7.4.5], ϕ sends $U(\mathfrak{g})_K^{\mathbf{G}}$ onto $U(\mathfrak{t})_K^{\mathbf{W}\bullet}$, so $\hat{\phi}(Z)$ is contained in $\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbf{W}\bullet}$. This algebra is complete and doubly filtered, and $\operatorname{Gr}(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbf{W}\bullet})$ can be naturally identified with $S(\mathfrak{t}_k)^{\mathbf{W}_k}$.

Consider the morphism of complete doubly filtered K-algebras $\alpha : Z \to \widetilde{Z}^{\mathbf{W}}$ induced by $\widehat{\phi}$. Its associated double graded map $\operatorname{Gr}(\alpha) : \operatorname{Gr}(Z) \to \operatorname{Gr}(\widetilde{Z}^{\mathbf{W}})$ can naturally be identified with the isomorphism $\psi_k : S(\mathfrak{g}_k)^{\mathbf{G}_k} \xrightarrow{\cong} S(\mathfrak{t}_k)^{\mathbf{W}_k}$ by Corollary 3.7 and Proposition 6.9. Hence $\operatorname{Gr}(\alpha)$ is an isomorphism, and therefore by completeness, α is also an isomorphism.

(c) By [26, Th. 2(c)], $S(\mathfrak{t}_k)$ is a free graded $S(\mathfrak{t}_k)^{\mathbf{W}_k}$ -module of rank $|\mathbf{W}|$. It follows from Lemma 3.2(a) that \widetilde{Z} is finitely generated over Z, and it is easy to see that in fact it's free of rank $|\mathbf{W}|$.

(d) By [26, Cor. du Théorème 3], $S(\mathfrak{t}_k)^{\mathbf{W}_k}$ is a polynomial algebra in l homogeneous generators over k. Fix some (double) lifts $s_1, \ldots, s_l \in U(\mathfrak{t})_n^{\mathbf{W}\bullet}$ of these generators, and define an R-algebra homomorphism $R[S_1, \ldots, S_l] \to \widetilde{Z}^{\mathbf{W}\bullet}$ by sending S_i to s_i . This extends to an isomorphism $K\langle S_1, \ldots, S_l \rangle \to \widetilde{Z}^{\mathbf{W}\bullet}$ of complete doubly filtered K-algebras.

It was shown in [2, Th. 5.2.1] that, in fact, Z is the whole centre of A when n = 0. We plan to show in a later paper that this is true for any $n \ge 0$.

From now on we will assume that n > 0 and that p is a very good prime for **G**.

9.4. Z-locally finite modules. Let M be an A-module. Since Z is central in A, the action of Z on M induces an K-algebra homomorphism

$$\chi_M: Z \to \operatorname{End}_A(M),$$

which we call the central character of M.

DEFINITION. We say that M is Z-locally finite if $\dim_K Z.m < \infty$ for all $m \in M$.

It is easy to see that if M is finitely generated over A, then M is Z-locally finite if and only if $\dim_K \operatorname{Im} \chi_M < \infty$. It is also clear that Z-locally finite modules are closed under taking submodules, quotient modules and extensions.

We are now ready to prove Theorem D from the introduction.

THEOREM. Let M be a simple A-module. Then $\text{Im }\chi_M$ is a finite field extension of K, so M is Z-locally finite.

Proof. By Schur's Lemma, $\operatorname{End}_A(M)$ is division ring. It is algebraic over K by Corollary 8.6 since n > 0 by assumption. So $\operatorname{Im} \chi_M$ is an integral domain that is algebraic over K; it is therefore a field, and ker χ_M is a maximal ideal of Z. But $Z \cong K\langle S_1, \ldots, S_l \rangle$ is a Tate algebra by Proposition 9.3, and every maximal ideal of Z has finite codimension over K by [31, Th. 3.2.1(5)]. \Box

Let M be a finitely generated A-module. By applying the theorem to a simple factor module of M, we see that M has a nonzero Z-locally finite quotient. In fact, a stronger statement is true.

PROPOSITION. Let M be a finitely generated A-module with $d(M) \ge 1$. Then M has a Z-locally finite quotient N such that $d(N) \ge 1$.

Proof. Since $d(M) = \dim \operatorname{Ch}(M) \ge 1$ by Corollary 9.1, $\operatorname{gr}_0 M$ is infinitedimensional over k. We can therefore find an element $f \in \mathfrak{g}_k$ such that $(\operatorname{gr}_0 M)_f \ne 0$. Hence $Q_f(M)$ is a finitely generated nonzero module over the microlocalisation $Q_f(A)$, and we may choose some simple quotient W of $Q_f(M)$ as a $Q_f(A)$ -module.

The degree zero part $F_0Q_f(A)$ is an *R*-lattice in $Q_f(A)$, and the slice $\operatorname{gr}_0 Q_f(A)$ is isomorphic to the localisation $(\operatorname{gr}_0 A)_f \cong S(\mathfrak{g}_k)[t]/\langle tf - 1 \rangle$. So $\operatorname{gr}_0 Q_f(A)$ is a finitely generated Gorenstein commutative *k*-algebra, which means that it is possible to apply Corollary 8.6 to the algebra $Q_f(A)$. The central subalgebra *Z* of *A* is still central in $Q_f(A)$ and therefore acts on *W* by $Q_f(A)$ -module endomorphisms. Therefore *W* is *Z*-locally finite by the proof of the theorem above.

Now let N be the image of M in W, and suppose for a contradiction that d(N) = 0. Then N is finite-dimensional over K by Proposition 9.1, so we can find a \mathfrak{g} -stable lattice L inside N by Section 9.2. Since n > 0, $\pi^n \mathfrak{g}L \leq \pi L$, so $\operatorname{gr}_0 A = S(\mathfrak{g}_k)$ acts on $\operatorname{gr}_0 N = L/\pi L$ through its augmentation. Since $f \in \mathfrak{g}_k$, it follows that $Q_f(N) = 0$. This is a contradiction, because $Q_f(N)$ surjects onto the simple $Q_f(A)$ -module W. Thus N is the required Z-locally finite quotient of M that satisfies $d(N) \geq 1$.

9.5. Base change. We want to apply Theorem 6.12 and Corollary 6.11 to our finitely generated Z-locally finite A-module M. However $\operatorname{Im} \chi_M$ could be strictly bigger than K; also we need to produce a $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -module for some appropriate weight $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}_K^*$. We will solve both problems by passing to a finite field extension of K.

For any finite field extension K' of K with ring of integers R', let $\pi' \in R'$ be a uniformizer and let e be the ramification index of K' over K, so that $\pi R' = \pi'^e R'$. Let $\mathbf{G}' = R' \times_R \mathbf{G}$, $\mathbf{H}' := R' \times_R \mathbf{H}$, $\mathfrak{g}' = R' \otimes_R \mathfrak{g}$, $\mathfrak{t}' = R' \otimes_R \mathfrak{t}$ and $\mathfrak{h}' = R' \otimes_R \mathfrak{h}$ be the corresponding base-changed objects. Since \mathfrak{t} has finite rank over R, we will identify $\mathfrak{t}'^* := \operatorname{Hom}_{R'}(\mathfrak{t}', R')$ with $R' \otimes_R \mathfrak{t}^*$. The isomorphism $i : \mathfrak{t} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathfrak{h}$ extends to an isomorphism $i : \mathfrak{t}' \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathfrak{h}'$.

LEMMA. Let K'/K be a finite field extension. Then

(a) $K' \otimes_K Z \cong \widetilde{U(\mathfrak{g}')_{ne,K'}^{\mathbf{G}'}}$. (b) $K' \otimes_K \widetilde{Z} \cong \widetilde{U(\mathfrak{t}')_{ne,K'}}$.

Proof. We know that $U(\mathfrak{g}')^{\mathbf{G}'} \cong R' \otimes_R U(\mathfrak{g})^{\mathbf{G}}$ by [49, §I.2.10(3)]. Now both parts follow from Lemma 3.9(c).

Let $A' := K' \otimes_K A$, and note that $A' \cong U(\mathfrak{g}')_{en,K'}$ by Lemma 3.9(c). Recall the central quotients $\mathcal{U}_{en,K'}^{\lambda}$ of $U(\mathfrak{g}')_{en,K'}$ from Section 6.10 for each weight $\lambda \in \pi'^{-ne}\mathfrak{h}'^*$.

THEOREM. Let M be a finitely generated Z-locally finite A-module. Then there exists a finite extension K' of K with ramification index e, a weight $\lambda \in \pi'^{-ne}\mathfrak{h}'^*$ and a finitely generated $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{en,K'}^{\lambda}}$ -module N such that d(M) = d(N).

Proof. Choose a submodule M_0 of M maximal subject to having $d(M/M_0) = d(M)$. Replacing M by M/M_0 we may assume that M is *d*-critical in the sense that d(M/M') < d(M) for any nonzero proper A-submodule M' of M. In particular, M must be *d*-pure: d(M') = d(M) for any nonzero submodule M' of M.

Let $P := \ker \chi_M = \operatorname{Ann}_Z(M)$, and suppose that $xy \in P$ for some $x, y \in Z$. If $x \notin P$, then xM is a nonzero submodule of M, so d(xM) = d(M). Because xyM = 0, multiplication by x induces an A-module surjection $M/yM \to xM$, whence $d(M/yM) \ge d(M)$. This is only possible if yM = 0 since M is d-critical. Hence P is a prime ideal in Z; since M is Z-locally finite, P is in fact maximal.

Next, \widetilde{Z} is a finitely generated Z-module via $\widehat{\phi}$ by Proposition 9.3, so \widetilde{Z} is an integral extension of Z. Thus by [6, Cor. 5.9, Theorem 5.10], for example, we may find a maximal ideal \mathfrak{m} of \widetilde{Z} with $\widehat{\phi}^{-1}(\mathfrak{m}) = P$ and define $K' := \widetilde{Z}/\mathfrak{m}$, a finite extension of K. Extend the natural surjection $\widetilde{Z} \to K'$ to a K'-algebra homomorphism $\theta : K' \otimes_K \widetilde{Z} \to K'$. By the lemma, $K' \otimes_K \widetilde{Z} \cong \widetilde{U(\mathfrak{t}')}_{ne,K'}$ is a Tate algebra, so θ sends the power-bounded subset $\pi'^{ne}\mathfrak{t}'$ of $K' \otimes_K \widetilde{Z}$ to the ring of integers R' in K', and we can find an element $\lambda \in \pi^{-ne}\mathfrak{h}'^*$ such that $\lambda \circ i$ is the restriction of θ to $\pi'^{ne}\mathfrak{t}'$.

Now $N := K' \otimes_{Z/P} M$ is a finitely generated A'-module, and Lemma 2.6 tells us that $d_{A'}(N) = d_A(N) = d_A(M)$. By the lemma above, $K' \otimes_K Z \cong \widetilde{U(\mathfrak{g}')_{ne,K'}^{\mathbf{G}'}}$, and this algebra acts on N via $\lambda \circ i \circ (1 \otimes \widehat{\phi})$ by construction. It now follows from Theorem 6.10(a) that N is a finitely generated $\mathcal{U}_{en,K'}^{\lambda}$ -module, as required.

9.6. Using the W-action. Theorem 9.5 tells us that after making an appropriate base change, we may assume that our finitely generated Z-locally finite A-module has a K-rational central character $\lambda \circ i \circ \hat{\phi}$. However Corollary 6.11 requires λ to be ρ -dominant; our next result shows that we may achieve this by using the action of the Weyl group.

LEMMA. For any weight $\mu \in \mathfrak{h}_{K}^{*}$, there exists $w \in \mathbf{W}$ such that $w(\mu)$ is dominant.

Proof. Let us define a binary relation \geq on \mathfrak{h}_K^* by $\lambda \geq \mu$ if and only if $\lambda - \mu$ is a linear combination of positive roots with nonnegative integer coefficients. Since K has characteristic zero, this is a partial order on \mathfrak{h}_K^* . Since \mathbf{W} is finite, we can find an element $\lambda = w(\mu)$ in the \mathbf{W} -orbit of μ that is maximal with respect to this ordering. If $\lambda(h) \in \{-1, -2, \cdots\}$ for some positive coroot $h \in \mathfrak{h}$, then taking α to be the corresponding positive root, we have that

$$s_{\alpha}(\lambda) = \lambda - \lambda(h)\alpha$$

lies in the **W**-orbit of μ and $s_{\alpha}(\lambda) > \lambda$, which contradicts the maximality of λ . So $\lambda(h) \notin \{-1, -2, \cdots\}$ for any positive coroot $h \in \mathfrak{h}$, and hence $\lambda = w(\mu)$ is dominant.

9.7. Springer fibres. We will assume throughout Sections 9.7–9.9 that the field k is algebraically closed. We will identify the k-points of the scheme $\mathfrak{g}^* = \operatorname{Spec}(\operatorname{Sym}_R \mathfrak{g})$ with the dual of the k-vector space \mathfrak{g}_k ; thus $\mathfrak{g}^*(k) = \mathfrak{g}_k^*$. We will also abuse notation and denote the map on k-points $f(k) : X(k) \to Y(k)$ induced by a morphism of R-schemes $f : X \to Y$ simply as $f : X(k) \to Y(k)$. With these notations, the diagram from Section 5.6 on the level of k-points looks as follows:



We are interested in the Springer fibres, which by definition are the sets $\beta^{-1}(y)$ as y runs over \mathfrak{g}_k^* ; these are algebraic varieties over k.

Let G, B, N denote the sets of k-points of $\mathbf{G}, \mathbf{B}, \mathbf{N}$ respectively, and let us identify the set $\mathcal{B}(k)$ of k-points of the flag R-scheme \mathcal{B} with $G/B = \{gB : g \in G\}$. The group G acts on \mathfrak{g}_k and on \mathfrak{g}_k^* via the adjoint and coadjoint actions, respectively; if S is a subset of \mathfrak{g}_k , let $S^{\perp} = \{\lambda \in \mathfrak{g}_k^* : \lambda(S) = 0\}$ denote its annihilator in \mathfrak{g}_k^* . Note that $\mathfrak{n}_k \subseteq \mathfrak{b}_k \subseteq \mathfrak{g}_k$ are the Lie algebras of the algebraic groups $N \subseteq B \subseteq G$. LEMMA. Let $y \in \mathfrak{g}_k^*$. Then $\tau \beta^{-1}(y)$ is equal to $\{gB \in \mathcal{B}(k) : y \in (g.\mathfrak{n}_k)^{\perp}\}$.

Proof. Let $gB \in \mathcal{B}(k)$. The geometric fibre of the morphism of vector bundles $\varphi : \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \otimes \mathfrak{g} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathcal{B}}$ used in Section 4.8 to define the enhanced moment map β is just the action map $\mathfrak{g}_k \to T_{gN}(G/N)$ of \mathfrak{g}_k on the homogeneous space G/N at the point $gN \in G/N$. Because the action map is surjective by [16, Prop. II.6.7], this tangent space can be naturally identified with $\mathfrak{g}_k/g.\mathfrak{n}_k$. It follows that the restriction of β to $\tau^{-1}(gB) = \widetilde{T^*_{gB}(G/B)}$ is the dual of this action map, which we will identify with the inclusion $(g.\mathfrak{n}_k)^{\perp} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{g}_k^*$. With these identifications in place, it is now clear that $gB \in \tau \beta^{-1}(y)$ if and only if $y \in (g.\mathfrak{n}_k)^{\perp}$.

9.8. Nilpotent orbits. We define the nilpotent cone in \mathfrak{g}_k^* as the set of zeros of \mathbf{G}_k -invariant polynomials in $S(\mathfrak{g}_k) = \mathcal{O}(\mathfrak{g}_k^*)$ with no constant term: $\mathcal{N}^* = V(S(\mathfrak{g}_k)_+^{\mathbf{G}_k})$. Thus,

$$\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{N}^*) = S(\mathfrak{g}_k) \otimes_{S(\mathfrak{g}_k)^{\mathbf{G}_k}} k.$$

The nilpotent cone $\mathcal{N} = V(S(\mathfrak{g}_k^*)_+^{\mathbf{G}_k})$ in \mathfrak{g}_k is defined similarly. Since we are assuming that the characteristic of k is very good for \mathbf{G} , there is a nondegenerate G-invariant bilinear form on \mathfrak{g}_k that induces a G-equivariant isomorphism $\kappa : \mathfrak{g}_k^* \to \mathfrak{g}_k$ (see [14, §3.1.2]). This isomorphism maps \mathcal{N}^* onto \mathcal{N} .

The nilpotent cone \mathcal{N} is a union of *G*-orbits in \mathfrak{g}_k called the *nilpotent* orbits. The corresponding *G*-orbits in \mathcal{N}^* are called the *coadjoint nilpotent* orbits. It turns out that these are very closely connected with Springer fibres. The next result is well known, but we give the proof for the benefit of the reader.

PROPOSITION. For any $y \in \mathcal{N}^*$, we have $\dim \beta^{-1}(y) \leq \dim \mathcal{B} - \frac{1}{2} \dim G.y.$

Proof. Note first that $\dim \tau \beta^{-1}(y) = \dim \beta^{-1}(y)$ for all $y \in \mathfrak{g}_k^*$ because the map τ is clearly injective on the Springer fibre $\beta^{-1}(y)$. Since we have been assuming from Section 6.7 onwards that G is simply-connected, a result of Springer [7, Cor. 9.3.4] tells us that there is a G-equivariant isomorphism $\eta: \mathcal{N} \to \mathcal{U}$, where $\mathcal{U} \subseteq G$ is the variety of unipotent elements.

Let $u = \eta(\kappa(y)) \in \mathcal{U}$. Since $\kappa(\mathfrak{n}_k^{\perp}) = \mathfrak{b}_k$, Lemma 9.7 implies that

$$\tau\beta^{-1}(y) = \{gB \in G/B : \kappa(y) \in g.\mathfrak{b}_k\} = \{gB \in G/B : u \in gBg^{-1}\}.$$

Thus $\tau\beta^{-1}(y)$ is the set of fixed points $(G/B)_u$ of the action of u on G/B, and it follows from [78, Th. 3.5(a)] that

$$\dim \tau \beta^{-1}(y) = \dim (G/B)_u \leqslant \frac{1}{2} (\dim C_G(u) - l),$$

where $C_G(u)$ is the centralizer of u in G and l is the rank of G. The result is now clear because dim $C_G(u) = \dim G - \dim G.u = 2 \dim \mathcal{B} + l - \dim G.y$. \Box

Remarks. (a) It is possible to give a slightly more direct, but longer, proof of this result mimicking the proof of [78, Th. 3.5] (see also [45, Th. 6.8]), using the *Steinberg variety* of triples

$$\{(\mathfrak{b}_1,\mathfrak{b}_2,z)\in\mathcal{B}(k)\times\mathcal{B}(k)\times G.\kappa(y):z\in\mathfrak{b}_1\cap\mathfrak{b}_2\},\$$

where we now think of $\mathcal{B}(k)$ as the set of G-conjugates of \mathfrak{b}_k in \mathfrak{g}_k .

(b) In fact, under our assumptions on p, equality always holds in the proposition. This is the 'Dimension Formula,' originally a conjecture of Grothendieck, and it was proven by Steinberg [78] as a consequence of the Bala-Carter classification of unipotent classes. The book [45] gives a good overview of this subject; see also [64] and [29].

9.9. The minimal nonzero nilpotent orbit. Let $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}$ be the complex semisimple Lie algebra with the same root system Φ as our group \mathbf{G} , and let $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ denote the adjoint complex algebraic group associated with $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}$. It is known [24, Remark 4.3.4] that there is a unique nonzero nilpotent $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ -orbit in $\mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}^*$ of minimal dimension, called the minimal nilpotent orbit. The dimension of this orbit is even integer since each coadjoint $G_{\mathbb{C}}$ -orbit is a symplectic manifold.

DEFINITION. We let r denote half the dimension of the minimal nilpotent orbit:

$$r := \frac{1}{2} \min\{\dim G_{\mathbb{C}}.y : 0 \neq y \in \mathfrak{g}_{\mathbb{C}}\}.$$

The values of r are well known. We took the following table from [74, $\S1.6$]:

Φ	A_l	B_l	C_l	D_l	E_6	E_7	E_8	F_4	G_2
$\dim G$	$l^2 + 2l$	$2l^2 + l$	$2l^2 + l$	$2l^2 - l$	78	133	248	52	14
r	l	2l - 2	l	2l - 3	11	17	29	8	3.

Pommerening proved that structure of nilpotent coadjoint orbits in good characteristic is the same as over \mathbb{C} . However we will only need to know the following consequence of the Bala-Carter-Pommerening classification of nilpotent orbits.

PROPOSITION. For any nonzero $y \in \mathcal{N}^*$, $\frac{1}{2} \dim G. y \ge r$.

Proof. By [7, §9.2.1], \mathcal{N} is the set of nilpotent elements in \mathfrak{g}_k . In view of the *G*-equivariant isomorphism $\kappa : \mathfrak{g}_k^* \to \mathfrak{g}_k$, the required inequality now follows from [64, Ths. 2.6 and 2.7].

9.10. A lower bound for d(M). We now return to our original setting, dropping the assumption that the field k is algebraically closed. We can finally state and prove the analogue of Smith's Theorem for modules over π -adically completed enveloping algebras. THEOREM. Suppose that n > 0. Let M be a finitely generated $U(\mathfrak{g})_{n,K}$ -module with $d(M) \ge 1$. Then $d(M) \ge r$.

Proof. By Proposition 9.4, we may assume that M is Z-locally finite. By passing to a finite field extension of K if necessary and applying Theorem 9.5, we may further assume that M is a $\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -module for some $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}_{K}^{*}$. Since $\lambda \circ (i \circ \widehat{\phi}) = (w \bullet \lambda) \circ (i \circ \widehat{\phi})$ for any $w \in \mathbf{W}$ by Proposition 9.3(b), we may also assume that λ is ρ -dominant by applying Lemma 9.6. Thus $\operatorname{Gr}(M)$ is a $\operatorname{Gr}(\widehat{\mathcal{U}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}) \cong S(\mathfrak{g}_{k}) \otimes_{S(\mathfrak{g}_{k})^{\mathbf{G}_{k}}} k$ -module by Theorem 6.10(c), and if $\mathcal{M} := \operatorname{Loc}^{\lambda}(M)$ is the corresponding coherent $\widehat{\mathcal{D}_{n,K}^{\lambda}}$ -module, then $\beta(\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})) =$ $\operatorname{Ch}(M)$ by Corollary 6.11.

Let \overline{k} be an algebraic closure of k, and let X, Y denote the \overline{k} -points of $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})$ and $\operatorname{Ch}(M)$, respectively. These are algebraic varieties over \overline{k} such that dim $X = \dim \operatorname{Ch}(\mathcal{M})$ and dim $Y = \dim \operatorname{Ch}(M)$. Moreover, $Y \subseteq \mathcal{N}^*$ because $\operatorname{Gr}(M)$ is annihilated by $S(\mathfrak{g}_k)^{\mathbf{G}_k}_+$, and $\beta : \widetilde{T^*\mathcal{B}}(\overline{k}) \to \mathfrak{g}^*(\overline{k})$ maps X onto Y.

Let $f: X \to Y$ be the restriction of β to X. Since dim $Y = d(M) \ge 1$ by Corollary 9.1, we can find a nonzero smooth point $y \in Y$. Since f is surjective, we can find a smooth point $x \in f^{-1}(y)$. Considering the map $df_x: T_{X,x} \to T_{Y,y}$ induced by f on Zariski tangent spaces shows that

$$\dim Y + \dim f^{-1}(y) \ge \dim T_{X,x}.$$

Now dim $T_{X,x} \ge \dim \mathcal{B}$ by Bernstein's Inequality, Theorem 7.5. Hence,

$$d(M) = \dim \operatorname{Ch}(M) = \dim Y \quad \ge \quad \dim \mathcal{B} - \dim \beta^{-1}(y)$$
$$\geqslant \quad \frac{1}{2} \dim G.y$$
$$\geqslant \quad r$$

by Propositions 9.8 and 9.9.

We believe we can show that the bound in this theorem is best possible as it is in the classical result of Smith [74, §3.10]. However we will leave this for another paper.

10. Microlocalisation of Iwasawa algebras

10.1. Completed group rings. We now specialize further and assume that the uniformizer π of our complete discrete valuation ring R is the prime number p. We make no assumptions about the residue field k of R, except that it is of characteristic p. We let $v : R \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ be the discrete valuation of R, normalized by v(p) = 1. Note that these assumptions imply that R contains a canonical copy of the p-adic integers \mathbb{Z}_p .

Whenever G is a profinite group, we will denote its completed group ring with coefficients in R by

$$RG := R[[G]] = \lim_{M \to \infty} R[G/N].$$

Here N runs over all the open normal subgroups N of G. When G is a compact p-adic Lie group, we call RG the Iwasawa algebra of G with coefficients in R.

For simplicity of exposition, and since as usual the case p = 2 is slightly different, we will assume throughout Section 10 that our prime p is odd.

10.2. Uniform pro-p groups and their Lie algebras. We refer the reader to [28, §4] for the definition of uniform pro-p groups and briefly recall their main properties here. We fix the uniform pro-p group G of dimension $d := \dim G$ and a minimal topological generating set $\{g_1, \ldots, g_d\}$ for G until the end of Section 10. Thus each element of G can be written uniquely in the form $g_1^{\lambda_1} \cdots g_d^{\lambda_d}$ for some $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_d \in \mathbb{Z}_p$. It is shown in [28, Th. 4.30] that the operations

$$\begin{split} \lambda \cdot x &= x^{\lambda}, \\ x + y &= \lim_{i \to \infty} (x^{p^i} y^{p^i})^{p^{-i}}, \\ [x, y] &= \lim_{i \to \infty} (x^{-p^i} y^{-p^i} x^{p^i} y^{p^i})^{p^{-2i}} \end{split}$$

define on the set G the structure of a Lie algebra over \mathbb{Z}_p . We will denote this Lie algebra by L_G . It is known that L_G is a *powerful Lie algebra*, in the sense that it is free of finite rank as a module over \mathbb{Z}_p and $[L_G, L_G]$ is contained in pL_G — note that we are assuming that $p \neq 2$. Note also that $[p^{-1}L_G, p^{-1}L_G]$ is then contained in $p^{-1}L_G$, which motivates the following

DEFINITION. Let G be a uniform pro-p group. We define the R-Lie algebra associated with G to be

$$\frac{1}{p}RL_G := R \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} \left(\frac{1}{p}L_G\right).$$

It is clear that $\frac{1}{p}RL_G$ is an *R*-Lie algebra which is free over *R* of rank *d*. We can also consider the *associated graded group* to *G*:

$$\operatorname{gr} G := \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\infty} \operatorname{gr}_i G = \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\infty} G^{p^i} / G^{p^{i+1}}$$

Since G is uniform, each graded piece $\operatorname{gr}_i G$ is a finite elementary abelian p-group. Moreover by [28, Lemma 4.10], the p-power map induces a bijection $\operatorname{gr}_i G \to \operatorname{gr}_{i+1} G$ of abelian p-groups, so in fact $\operatorname{gr} G$ is naturally a graded module over the polynomial ring $\mathbb{F}_p[t]$ where t acts by raising elements to their p-th powers:

$$t \cdot gG^{p^{i+1}} = g^p G^{p^{i+2}}$$

for all $g \in G^{p^i}$. This module is free of rank d. Since $L_{G^{p^i}} = p^i L_G$ for all $i \ge 0$, we can use [28, Cor. 4.15] to identify gr G with

$$\operatorname{gr} L_G := \bigoplus_{i=0}^{\infty} p^i L_G / p^{i+1} L_G,$$

and therefore gr G carries the structure of a graded $\mathbb{F}_p[t]$ -Lie algebra. By tensoring gr G with k over \mathbb{F}_p , we obtain the following

LEMMA. Let G be a uniform pro-p group, let \mathfrak{h} be its associated R-Lie algebra, and let $\mathfrak{h}_k = \mathfrak{h}/p\mathfrak{h}$. Then there is a natural isomorphism of graded k[t]-Lie algebras

$$\operatorname{gr} G \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_n} k \cong t\mathfrak{h}_k[t].$$

In particular, gr G is abelian whenever \mathfrak{h}_k is abelian.

10.3. The m-adic filtration on RG. Let $b_i = g_i - 1 \in R[G]$, and write

$$\mathbf{b}^{\alpha} = b_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots b_d^{\alpha_d} \in R[G]$$

for any d-tuple $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d$. Then it follows from the proof of [28, Th. 7.20] that RG can be naturally identified with the set of noncommutative formal power series in b_1, \ldots, b_d with coefficients in R:

$$RG = \left\{ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \lambda_{\alpha} \mathbf{b}^{\alpha} \mid \lambda_{\alpha} \in R \right\}.$$

Let $\mathfrak{m} = \ker(RG \to k)$ be the unique maximal ideal of RG, and let deg : $RG \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$ be the degree function corresponding to the \mathfrak{m} -adic filtration on RG; thus deg(x) = a precisely when $x \in \mathfrak{m}^a \setminus \mathfrak{m}^{a+1}$. We can now state the fundamental result due to Lazard.

THEOREM. The group ring R[G] is dense in RG, and

$$\deg\left(\sum_{\alpha\in\mathbb{N}^d}\lambda_{\alpha}\mathbf{b}^{\alpha}\right) = \min\left\{v(\lambda_{\alpha}) + |\alpha| \mid \alpha\in\mathbb{N}^d\right\}.$$

The degree filtration on RG is complete, and the associated graded ring gr RG is isomorphic to the enveloping algebra of the k[t]-Lie algebra gr $G \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} k$:

$$\operatorname{gr} RG \cong U(\operatorname{gr} G \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_n} k)$$

Proof. The group ring R[G] is dense in RG because it contains all sums of the form $\sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \lambda_{\alpha} \mathbf{b}^{\alpha}$ where only finitely many coefficients are nonzero. The displayed formula for the degree of an element in RG follows from [28, Th. 7.5], and the completeness of the degree filtration on RG follows from the fact that R is π -adically complete.

Define a function $\omega : G \to \mathbb{Z}^+ \cup \{\infty\}$ by $\omega(g) = i + 1$ if $g \in G^{p^i} \setminus G^{p^{i+1}}$ and $\omega(1) = \infty$. Then ω is a *p*-valuation on *G* in the sense of [53, Def. III.2.1.2] because p is odd, and the associated graded Lie algebra gr G of G with respect to ω in the sense of [53, §II.1.1.72] coincides with the Lie algebra gr G defined above because $[x, y] \equiv x^{-1}y^{-1}xy \mod G^{p^2}$ for any $x, y \in G \setminus G^p$ by [28, Lemma 4.28]. The last assertion of the theorem now follows from [53, Th. III.2.3.3]. \Box

COROLLARY. gr RG is a Noetherian domain.

Proof. By Lemma 10.2, gr $G \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} k$ is isomorphic to $t\mathfrak{h}_k[t]$. This is a free k[t]-module of rank d. Now apply the Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt Theorem. \Box

10.4. The microlocalisation of RG at gr p. We can now make the connection between Iwasawa algebras and almost commutative affinoid algebras. Since $\mathfrak{h} := \frac{1}{p}RL_G$ is a R-Lie algebra that is free of finite rank as an R-module, we know from Example 3.4(c) that $U(\mathfrak{h})$ is an almost commutative R-algebra. Hence we may form its p-adic completion in the manner of Section 3.7:

$$\widehat{U(\mathfrak{h})_K} = \left(\lim_{\longleftarrow} U(\mathfrak{h})/p^r U(\mathfrak{h}) \right) \otimes_R K.$$

On the other hand, the set of powers of gr p in gr RG is multiplicatively closed and consists of homogeneous central elements, and gr RG is Noetherian by Corollary 10.3, so we can consider the corresponding microlocal Ore set Sfrom Section 2.4:

$$S := \{ x \in RG \mid \operatorname{gr} x = (\operatorname{gr} p)^a \quad \text{for some} \quad a \ge 0 \} = \bigcup_{a \ge 0} \left(p^a + \mathfrak{m}^{a+1} \right) \subseteq RG.$$

THEOREM. Let G be a uniform pro-p group, and let $\mathfrak{h} = \frac{1}{p}RL_G$ be its associated R-Lie algebra. Then the microlocalisation of RG at gr p is isomorphic as a complete \mathbb{Z} -filtered ring to the almost commutative affinoid K-algebra $\widehat{U(\mathfrak{h})_K}$:

$$Q_{\operatorname{gr} p}(RG) \cong \widetilde{U}(\mathfrak{h})_K.$$

Proof. Since p is odd, the exponential series $\exp(u)$ converges to a unit in the algebra $A := \widehat{U(\mathfrak{h})_K}$ whenever $u \in L_G \subseteq p\mathfrak{h}$. Now the Campbell-Hausdorff formula [28, Th. 6.28] shows that

$$u * v := \log(\exp(u)\exp(v))$$

is an element of L_G for all $u, v \in L_G$, and $\psi : u \mapsto \exp(u)$ is an isomorphism from the uniform pro-*p* group *G* to the subgroup $\exp(L_G)$ of the group of units of *A* by the proof of [28, Th. 9.10]. We thus obtain an *R*-algebra homomorphism

$$\psi: R[G] \to A$$

such that $\psi(u) = \exp(u)$ for all $u \in G$. Let $\{u_1, \ldots, u_d\}$ be the *R*-basis for \mathfrak{h} corresponding to the topological generating set $\{g_1, \ldots, g_d\}$ of *G*. In these

coordinates, the map ψ satisfies

 $\psi(\mathbf{b}^{\alpha}) = (e^{pu_1} - 1)^{\alpha_1} \cdots (e^{pu_d} - 1)^{\alpha_d} \equiv p^{|\alpha|} \mathbf{u}^{\alpha} \mod p^{|\alpha| + 1} F_0 A,$

where the monomial $\mathbf{u}^{\alpha} = u_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots u_d^{\alpha_d}$ is computed inside the enveloping algebra $U(\mathfrak{h}) \subseteq A$. Now let $x = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \lambda_{\alpha} \mathbf{b}^{\alpha} \in R[G]$ be a nonzero element, and let $m = \deg(x)$. Then $m = \min \{v(\lambda_{\alpha}) + |\alpha| \mid \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d\}$ by Theorem 10.3, and

$$\psi(x) \equiv p^m \sum_{v(\lambda_\alpha)=m-|\alpha|} \left(\frac{\lambda_\alpha}{p^{v_p(\lambda_\alpha)}}\right) \mathbf{u}^\alpha \mod p^{m+1} F_0 A.$$

Now the slice $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ of A is isomorphic to $U(\mathfrak{h}_k)$ and the images of the monomials \mathbf{u}^{α} in $\operatorname{gr}_0 A$ are k-linearly independent by the Poincaré-Birkhoff-Witt Theorem. Hence

$$\deg(\psi(x)) = \deg(x)$$
 for all $x \in R[G]$

and the homomorphism ψ is strictly filtered. Since A is complete and since R[G] is dense in RG by Theorem 10.3, ψ extends to a strictly filtered ring homomorphism

$$\psi: RG \to A,$$

which sends gr $p \in \text{gr } RG$ to $s = \text{gr } p \in \text{gr } A$. Now gr $A \cong U(\mathfrak{h}_k)[s, s^{-1}]$ by Lemma 3.1, so s is a homogeneous unit in gr A and hence ψ extends to a strictly filtered ring homomorphism

$$\psi_K : Q_t(RG) \to A$$

by the universal property of algebraic microlocalisation. Since ψ_K is strictly filtered, it must be injective. Now

$$\operatorname{gr} Q_t(RG) \cong (\operatorname{gr} RG)_t$$

by Lemma 2.4, and the above computation shows that

$$\operatorname{gr}(\psi_K)(t) = s, \quad \text{and}$$

 $\operatorname{gr}(\psi_K)(\operatorname{gr}(b_i)) = su_i \quad \text{for all} \quad i = 1, \dots, d.$

Hence the image of $gr(\psi_K)$ contains the generators of gr A as an algebra over $gr K \cong k[t, t^{-1}]$, so $gr(\psi_K)$ is surjective. Hence ψ_K is also surjective because $Q_t(RG)$ and A are complete.

10.5. Remarks.

- (a) Theorem 10.4 is essentially due to Lazard since it appears in a different language as [53, §IV.3.2.5] and is proved there for the larger class of *p*-saturated groups. The completed enveloping algebra $\widehat{U(\mathfrak{h})}$ is shown to be isomorphic to the 'saturation' $\operatorname{Sat}(R[G])$ of the valued group ring R[G].
- (b) The algebra A is heavily used in the foundational Chapter 6 of the book [28] under the name $\mathbb{Q}_p[[G]]$. It underpins the entire development of Lie theory for compact p-adic analytic groups in that book.

- (c) We believe that our way of phrasing Theorem 10.4 is new in the literature. The algebra A appears as the 'largest' distribution algebra $D_{1/p}(G, K)$ in the paper [70] by Schneider and Teitelbaum.
- (d) One advantage of the viewpoint we give in this paper is that the theory of algebraic microlocalisation tells us which modules are killed by the base change functor associated to the ring homomorphism $RG \to A$: these are precisely the S-torsion modules.

10.6. Crossed products. The subgroup G^{p^n} of G is uniform by [28, Ths. 3.6(i), 4.5] and the group $H_n := G/G^{p^n}$ is finite by [28, Prop. 1.16(iii)]. Consider the completed group ring RG^{p^n} , and let \mathfrak{m}_n be its unique maximal ideal. The group G acts on RG^{p^n} by conjugation. This action preserves the \mathfrak{m}_n -adic filtration and fixes p. Hence it preserves the corresponding microlocal set

$$S_n := \bigcup_{a \ge 0} (p^a + \mathfrak{m}_n^{a+1})$$

in RG^{p^n} and induces an action of G by ring automorphisms on the microlocalisation

$$\mathcal{U}_n := Q_{\operatorname{gr} p}(RG^{p^n}).$$

We will write this action on the left; thus $x \mapsto {}^{g}x$ is the automorphism induced by $g \in G$ on \mathcal{U}_{n} . We now define a multiplication on $\mathcal{U}_{n} \otimes_{BG^{p^{n}}} RG$ by setting

$$(x \otimes g) \cdot (y \otimes h) = x({}^g y) \otimes gh$$

for $x, y \in \mathcal{U}_n$ and $g, h \in G$.

PROPOSITION. Let $\mathfrak{h} = \frac{1}{n} RL_G$ be the associated R-Lie algebra of G.

- (a) $\mathcal{U}_n \cong U(\mathfrak{h})_{n,K}$ is an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra.
- (b) $\mathcal{U}_n \otimes_{RG^{p^n}} RG$ is a crossed product $\mathcal{U}_n * H_n$ of $U(\mathfrak{h})_{n,K}$ with $H_n = G/G^{p^n}$.
- (c) The inclusion $RG^{p^n} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{U}_n$ extends to a natural inclusion $RG \hookrightarrow \mathcal{U}_n * H_n$.
- (d) $\mathcal{U}_n * H_n$ is a flat right RG-module.
- (e) If M is a finitely generated RG-module, then $(\mathcal{U}_n * H_n) \otimes_{RG} M = 0$ if and only if M is S_n -torsion.

Proof. (a) The *R*-Lie algebra associated with the uniform pro-*p* group G^{p^n} is clearly $p^n\mathfrak{h}$, so \mathcal{U}_n is isomorphic to $\widehat{U(p^n\mathfrak{h})_K}$ by Theorem 10.4. But this is just $\widehat{U(\mathfrak{h})_{n,K}}$ by definition.

(b) and (c) Recall [59, §1.5.8] that a crossed product of a ring S by a group H is an associative ring S * H that contains S as a subring and contains a set of units $\overline{H} = {\overline{h} : h \in H}$, isomorphic as a set to H, such that

- S * H is a free right S-module with basis \overline{H} ;
- for all $x, y \in H$, $\overline{x}S = S\overline{x}$ and $\overline{x} \cdot \overline{y}S = \overline{xy}S$.

Such a crossed product determines an *action* $\sigma : H \to \operatorname{Aut}(S)$ and a *twisting* τ by the rules

$$\sigma(x)(s) = \overline{x}^{-1}s \,\overline{x},$$
$$\overline{x} \,\overline{y} = \overline{xy} \,\tau(x, y)$$

for all $x, y \in H$ and $s \in S$. Here $\tau(x, y) \in S^{\times}$ for all $x, y \in H$. It turns out that σ defines a group homomorphism $H \to \operatorname{Out}(S)$ and τ is a 2-cocycle $\tau: H \times H \to S^{\times}$ for the action of H on S^{\times} via σ . Conversely, starting with a ring S, a group H, a group homomorphism $\sigma: H \to \operatorname{Out}(S)$ and a 2-cocycle $\tau: H \times H \to S^{\times}$, one can construct an associative ring $S *_{\sigma,\tau} H$ that is a crossed product of S by H, having the prescribed action and twisting; see [63].

Now RG is a crossed product of RG^{p^n} with H_n defined by some action $\sigma: H_n \to \operatorname{Out}(RG^{p^n})$ and twisting $\tau: H_n \times H_n \to (RG^{p^n})^{\times}$. Units in RG^{p^n} are units in \mathcal{U}_n , and ring automorphisms of RG^{p^n} extend to ring automorphisms of \mathcal{U}_n because the \mathfrak{m}_n -adic filtration on RG^{p^n} is canonical. Furthermore, inner automorphisms extend to inner automorphisms, so we obtain an action $\sigma': H_n \to \operatorname{Out}(\mathcal{U}_n)$ and a twisting $\tau': H_n \times H_n \to \mathcal{U}_n^{\times}$ that is still a 2-cocycle. Thus we can form the crossed product $\mathcal{U}_n *_{\sigma',\tau'} H_n$ that equals $\mathcal{U}_n \otimes_{RG^{p^n}} RG$ as a set and a ring homomorphism $RG \to \mathcal{U}_n *_{\sigma',\tau'} H_n$ that extends the inclusion of RG^{p^n} into \mathcal{U}_n . It is clear that the multiplication in this crossed product agrees with the one defined above.

(d) For any RG-module M, there is an isomorphism of left \mathcal{U}_n -modules:

 $(\mathcal{U}_n * H_n) \otimes_{RG} M = \mathcal{U}_n \otimes_{RG^{p^n}} RG \otimes_{RG} M \cong \mathcal{U}_n \otimes_{RG^{p^n}} M.$

Restriction of modules is exact, and $\mathcal{U}_n = Q_{\operatorname{gr} p}(RG^{p^n})$ is a flat RG^{p^n} -module by Lemma 2.4.

(e) This follows from Lemma 2.4 and the displayed isomorphism above.

Remark. It can probably be shown that the crossed product $\mathcal{U}_n * H_n$ is isomorphic to the distribution algebra $D_{p^n\sqrt{1/p}}(G,K)$, but we will not need this isomorphism.

10.7. Re-valuation of $p \in RG$. We now reinterpret the work of Schneider and Teitelbaum [70, §4]. The main idea is to define degree functions

$$\deg_w : RG \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$$

for any real number $w \ge 1$ such that

 $\deg_w(p) = w$ and $\deg_w(b_i) = 1$ for all $i = 1, \dots, d$.

DEFINITION. For any real number $w \ge 1$, define $\deg_w : RG \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$ by

$$\deg_w \left(\sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \lambda_\alpha \mathbf{b}^\alpha \right) = \min \left\{ w \cdot v(\lambda_\alpha) + |\alpha| \mid \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d \right\}$$

with the understanding that this minimum value is ∞ if all the λ_{α} are zero.

Thus \deg_1 is the degree function associated to the \mathfrak{m} -adic filtration on RG.

LEMMA. For any $w \ge 1$, \deg_w is a degree function in the sense of Section 2.2.

Proof. When translated to the language of norms, \deg_w corresponds to the norm $|| \cdot ||_{p^{-1/w}}$ defined in [70, p. 160]. Then the result follows from [70, Prop. 4.2].

Morally, as $w \to \infty$ the element $p \in RG$ approaches 0, so the filtrations approach mod p Iwasawa algebra kG := RG/pRG, equipped with its $\overline{\mathfrak{m}}$ -adic filtration.

Let $\operatorname{gr}^w RG$ be the associated graded ring of RG with respect to the associated \mathbb{R} -filtration, and let $X_i = \operatorname{gr}^w b_i \in \operatorname{gr}_1^w RG$ be the principal symbols of the topological generators b_i of RG. The associated graded ring $\operatorname{gr}^w R$ of R with respect to deg_w is isomorphic to the polynomial ring $k[t_w]$ with t_w in degree -w; see Section 2.2 for our conventions.

PROPOSITION. (a) $\operatorname{gr}^{w} RG$ is isomorphic to the polynomial ring $k[t_w, X_1, \ldots, X_d]$ as $k[t_w]$ -modules.

(b) If w > 1, then this is an isomorphism of graded rings.

Proof. Apply [70, Lemma 4.3] and the remarks immediately before this lemma. \Box

10.8. The restriction of \deg_{p^n} to RG^{p^n} . Recall that $\{g_1, \ldots, g_d\}$ is a minimal topological generating set for the uniform pro-p group G.

By [28, Th. 3.6(iii)], $\{g_1^{p^n}, \ldots, g_d^{p^n}\}$ is a minimal topological generating set for the open uniform subgroup G^{p^n} of G, so

$$RG^{p^n} = \left\{ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \lambda_\alpha \mathbf{b}_n^\alpha \mid \lambda_\alpha \in R \right\},\,$$

where $\mathbf{b}_n^{\alpha} := (g_1^{p^n} - 1)^{\alpha_1} \cdots (g_d^{p^n} - 1)^{\alpha_d}$. We can now calculate the restriction of the filtration \deg_{p^n} on RG to its subalgebra RG^{p^n} . The next result is essentially [66, Prop. 6.2], but we give a proof for the convenience of the reader.

PROPOSITION. Let \mathfrak{m}_n be the maximal ideal of RG^{p^n} . If $x \in \mathfrak{m}_n^a \setminus \mathfrak{m}_n^{a+1}$ for some integer $a \ge 0$, then $\deg_{p^n}(x) = p^n a$.

Proof. The polynomial $(1+X)^{p^n} - (1+X^{p^n})$ is divisible by p and has no constant term. Therefore,

$$(1+b_i)^{p^n} \equiv 1+b_i^{p^n} \mod p\mathfrak{m}_0$$

for all i = 1, ..., d. Since $\deg_{p^n}(\mathfrak{m}_0) \ge 1$ and $\deg_{p^n}(p) = p^n$ by definition, we see that

$$g_i^{p^n} - 1 = b_i^{p^n} + \varepsilon_i$$

for some $\varepsilon_i \in RG$ with $\deg_{p^n}(\varepsilon_i) > p^n$. It follows that

$$\mathbf{b}_{n}^{\alpha} = (g_{1}^{p^{n}} - 1)^{\alpha_{1}} \cdots (g_{d}^{p^{n}} - 1)^{\alpha_{d}} = b_{1}^{p^{n}\alpha_{1}} \cdots b_{d}^{p^{n}\alpha_{d}} + \varepsilon_{\alpha} = \mathbf{b}^{p^{n}\alpha} + \varepsilon_{\alpha}$$

for some $\varepsilon_{\alpha} \in RG$ with $\deg_{p^n}(\varepsilon_{\alpha}) > p^n |\alpha|$. Thus,

 $\deg_{p^n}(\mathfrak{m}_n^j) \geqslant p^n j \quad \text{for all} \quad j \geqslant 0.$

Now as $x \in \mathfrak{m}_n^a \backslash \mathfrak{m}_n^{a+1}$, we can write

$$x \equiv \sum_{\alpha \in T} \lambda_{\alpha} \mathbf{b}_n^{\alpha} \mod \mathfrak{m}_n^{a+1}$$

for some nonempty set T of indices α satisfying $v(\lambda_{\alpha}) = a - |\alpha|$ for all $\alpha \in T$. Because $\deg_{p^n}(\mathfrak{m}_n^{a+1}) \ge p^n(a+1) > p^n a$,

$$x = \sum_{\alpha \in T} \lambda_{\alpha} \mathbf{b}^{p^n \alpha} + x'$$

for some x' with $\deg_{p^n}(x') > p^n a$. Since $v(\lambda_\alpha) = a - |\alpha|$ for all $\alpha \in T$, we see that

$$\deg_{p^n}\left(\sum_{\alpha\in T}\lambda_{\alpha}\mathbf{b}^{p^n\alpha}\right) = \min\{p^n v(\lambda_{\alpha}) + p^n |\alpha| \mid \alpha \in T\} = p^n a$$

by the definition of \deg_{p^n} . Hence $\deg_{p^n}(x) = p^n a$, as required.

Let S(w) be the microlocal Ore set in RG associated to the deg_w filtration and the powers of t_w in gr^w RG:

$$S(w) = \{ x \in RG \mid \operatorname{gr}^w(x) = t_w^a \quad \text{for some} \quad a \ge 0 \},\$$

and recall the microlocal Ore set $S_n \subseteq RG^{p^n}$ from Section 10.6.

COROLLARY. (a) The restriction of the \deg_{p^n} filtration to RG^{p^n} is a rescaling of the \mathfrak{m}_n -adic filtration on RG^{p^n} .

- (b) The image of $\operatorname{gr}^{p^n} RG^{p^n}$ inside $\operatorname{gr}^{p^n} RG$ is precisely $k[t_{p^n}][X_1^{p^n}, \ldots, X_d^{p^n}]$, with all generators in degree p^n .
- (c) For any $n \ge 0$, S_n is contained in $S(p^n)$.

Proof. The first two statements are clear. Let $p^a + x \in S_n$ for some $a \ge 0$ and $x \in \mathfrak{m}_n^{a+1}$. Then

$$\deg_{p^n}(x) \ge p^n(a+1) > p^n a$$

by Proposition 10.8, so $p^a + x \in S(p^n)$.

10.9. The filtration on kG. Write \overline{x} for the image of $x \in RG$ in the completed group ring kG := RG/pRG. We will abuse notation and write $\overline{\mathbf{b}^{\alpha}} = \mathbf{b}^{\alpha}$, so that kG is in bijection with the set of noncommutative formal power series in b_1, \ldots, b_d with coefficients in k:

$$kG = \left\{ \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \lambda_\alpha \mathbf{b}^\alpha \mid \lambda_\alpha \in k \right\}.$$

Let us define $\overline{\deg}: kG \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$ as follows:

$$\overline{\operatorname{deg}}\left(\sum_{\alpha\in\mathbb{N}^d}\mu_{\alpha}\mathbf{b}^{\alpha}\right) = \min\left\{|\alpha| \mid \mu_{\alpha}\neq 0\right\}.$$

Let $\mathfrak{m} = \ker(kG \to k)$ be the maximal ideal of kG; then clearly

$$\overline{\operatorname{deg}}(x) = \begin{cases} a & \text{if } x \in \mathfrak{m}^a \backslash \mathfrak{m}^{a+1}, \\ \infty & \text{if } x = 0, \end{cases}$$

so $\overline{\deg}$ is the usual degree function associated with the m-adic filtration on kG.

The degree functions \deg_w on RG and $\overline{\deg}$ on kG are related as follows.

LEMMA. Let $x \in RG$ be such that $\overline{x} \neq 0$. Then

(a) $\overline{\deg}(\overline{x}) \ge \deg_w(x)$ for any $w \ge 1$.

(b) If $y \in RG$ is such that $\overline{y} = \overline{x}$ and if $w \ge \overline{\deg}(\overline{x})$, then

$$\deg_w(y) = \deg(\overline{x}).$$

Proof. (a) Write $x = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d} \lambda_{\alpha} \mathbf{b}^{\alpha}$ for some $\lambda_{\alpha} \in R$. Since \overline{x} is nonzero, $\overline{\deg}(\overline{x}) = |\beta|$ for some $\beta \in \mathbb{N}^d$ such that $v(\lambda_{\beta}) = 0$. Then

$$\overline{\operatorname{deg}}(\overline{x}) = |\beta| \ge \min\left\{ w \cdot v(\lambda_{\alpha}) + |\alpha| \mid \alpha \in \mathbb{N}^d \right\} = \operatorname{deg}_w(x).$$

(b) Let α be such that $|\alpha| < |\beta|$. By definition of $\overline{\deg}$, p divides λ_{α} , and the coefficient μ_{α} of \mathbf{b}^{α} in y differs from λ_{α} by a multiple of p. Since $w \ge \overline{\deg}(\overline{x}) = |\beta|$ by assumption,

$$w \cdot v(\mu_{\alpha}) + |\alpha| \ge w \ge |\beta|$$

for any such α . On the other hand,

$$w \cdot v(\mu_{\alpha}) + |\alpha| \ge |\beta|$$

is trivially true whenever $|\alpha| \ge |\beta|$, so

$$\deg_w(y) = \min\{w \cdot v(\mu_\alpha) + |\alpha|\} \ge |\beta| = \overline{\deg}(\overline{x}).$$

But we showed in (a) that $\overline{\deg}(\overline{x}) = \overline{\deg}(\overline{y}) \ge \deg_w(y)$.

10.10. Good generating sets. Since the \mathfrak{m} -adic filtration on kG is complete and the associated graded ring is Noetherian, it is well known that the Rees ring

$$\widetilde{kG} = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathfrak{m}^j t^{-j} \subset kG[t, t^{-1}]$$

is Noetherian (where as always $\mathfrak{m}^j = kG$ if $j \leq 0$).

Let J be a left ideal of kG. Then the Rees ideal

$$\widetilde{J} = \bigoplus_{j \in \mathbb{Z}} (J \cap \mathfrak{m}^j) t^{-j} \triangleleft_l \widetilde{kG}$$

is finitely generated over \widetilde{kG} . Let $z_1t^{-d_1}, \cdots, z_\ell t^{-d_\ell}$ be a homogeneous generating set for \widetilde{J} for some $z_i \in J$ with $\overline{\deg}(z_i) = d_i$; then $\{z_1, \ldots, z_\ell\}$ is a good generating set for J:

$$J \cap \mathfrak{m}^n = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} \mathfrak{m}^{n-d_i} z_i \text{ for all } n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

We record this as a lemma.

LEMMA. Let $x \in J$. Then there exist $r_i \in kG$ such that $x = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} r_i z_i$ and

$$\overline{\deg}(r_i) \geqslant \overline{\deg}(x) - d_i$$

for all $i = 1, \ldots, \ell$.

Here is the faithful flatness result of Schneider and Teitelbaum from the point of view of noncommutative algebra.

10.11. THEOREM. Let J be a left ideal of RG such that RG/J is p-torsionfree. Then there exists $w_0 > 1$, depending only on J, such that $\operatorname{gr}^w(RG/J)$ is t_w -torsion-free for all $w \ge w_0$.

Proof. Suppose that $t_w \cdot X \in \operatorname{gr}^w J$ for some homogeneous element $X \in \operatorname{gr}^w RG$; we will show if w is large enough, then we can find $x' \in J$ such that $X = \operatorname{gr}^w x'$, which implies that $X \in \operatorname{gr}^w J$.

Let $\{z_1, \ldots, z_\ell\}$ be a good generating set for the left ideal \overline{J} of kG, as in Section 10.10. Let $d_i = \overline{\deg}(z_i)$, and define

$$w_0 := \max\{d_1, \ldots, d_\ell\}.$$

We fix lifts $a_i \in J$ for these generators and note that if $w \ge w_0$, then

$$\deg_w(a_i) = d_i$$
 for all $i = 1, \dots, \ell$

by Lemma 10.9(b). Choose some $x \in RG$, possibly not in J, such that $\operatorname{gr}^w x = X$. Since $\operatorname{gr}^w p \cdot \operatorname{gr}^w x \in \operatorname{gr}^w J$,

$$px + z \in J$$

for some $z \in RG$ with $\deg_w(z) > \deg_w(px)$. So $\overline{z} \in \overline{J}$, and by Lemma 10.10 we can find $r_1, \ldots, r_\ell \in kG$ such that $\overline{x} = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} r_i z_i$ and

$$\overline{\operatorname{deg}}(r_i) \ge \overline{\operatorname{deg}}(\overline{x}) - d_i \quad \text{for all} \quad i = 1, \dots, \ell$$

Choose lifts $s_i \in RG$ of $r_i \in kG$ satisfying $\deg_w(s_i) = \overline{\deg}(r_i)$. Then

$$z = \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} s_i a_i + py$$

for some $y \in RG$, and

$$\deg_w \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\ell} s_i a_i \right) \ge \min\{ \deg_w(s_i) + \deg_w(a_i) \}$$
$$= \min\{ \overline{\deg}(r_i) + d_i \} \ge \overline{\deg}(\overline{z}) \ge \deg_w(z)$$

by Lemma 10.9(a). Hence,

$$\deg_w(py) = \deg_w\left(z - \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} s_i a_i\right) \ge \deg_w(z) > \deg_w(px).$$

Since t_w is not a zero-divisor in $\operatorname{gr}^w RG$, we deduce that

$$\deg_w(y) > \deg_w(x).$$

Since each a_i lies in J,

$$px + py = px + z - \sum_{i=1}^{\ell} s_i a_i \in J.$$

But RG/J is *p*-torsion-free, so $x' := x + y \in J$; since $\deg_w(y) > \deg_w(x)$, we deduce that $X = \operatorname{gr}^w x = \operatorname{gr}^w x' \in \operatorname{gr}^w J$.

COROLLARY. Let M be a finitely generated p-torsion-free RG-module. Then there exists $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that M is S_n -torsion-free for all $n \ge n_0$.

Proof. Let $KG = K \otimes_R RG$. It is enough to prove that the KG-module $M_K = K \otimes_R M$ is S_n torsion-free for all n sufficiently large. We can find a finite composition series for M_K consisting of KG-submodules such that each composition factor is cyclic; then M_K is S_n -torsion-free provided all the composition factors are S_n -torsion-free. Thus we may reduce to the case where M is a cyclic RG-module, $M \cong RG/J$, say.

By Theorem 10.11, there exists $w_0 > 1$ such that $\operatorname{gr}^w(RG/J)$ is t_w -torsion-free whenever $w \ge w_0$. Hence RG/J is S(w)-torsion-free if $w \ge w_0$ by Lemma 2.4.

Choose n_0 such that $p^{n_0} > w_0$, and let $n \ge n_0$. Then $p^n \ge w_0$ and $S_n \subseteq S(p^n)$ by Corollary 10.8(c), so M is S_n -torsion-free.

10.12. The congruence kernels. We now make the following additional assumption on our uniform pro-p group G in order to connect it to the rest of the paper. There is an algebraic group **G** satisfying the conditions of Section 6.7 such that

- the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of \mathbf{G} and the Lie algebra L_G of G satisfy $p^{m+1}\mathfrak{g} = R \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_n} L_G$ for some integer $m \ge 0$,
- p is a very good prime for **G** in the sense of Section 6.8.

Thus $p^m \mathfrak{g}$ is the *R*-Lie algebra $\frac{1}{p}RL_G$ associated to the uniform pro-*p* group *G* in the sense of Section 10.2. In the case when $R = \mathbb{Z}_p$, it follows from the discussion in [72, §7] that the so-called (m + 1)-st congruence kernel

$$G = \ker(\mathbf{G}(\mathbb{Z}_p) \to \mathbf{G}(\mathbb{Z}_p/p^{m+1}\mathbb{Z}_p))$$

of the group of \mathbb{Z}_p -points $\mathbf{G}(\mathbb{Z}_p)$ satisfies these conditions. We now combine the earlier results of this paper in order to obtain some information about the representation theory of the central localisation

$$KG := K \otimes_R RG = K \otimes_R R[[G]]$$

of the completed group ring R[[G]]. Equivalently, we study the category of p-torsion-free RG-modules. Perhaps our methods are applicable to a slightly wider class of compact p-adic analytic groups, but it may help the reader to keep these congruence kernels in mind.

10.13. Modules over KG. Note that RG is an R-lattice in KG and the slice $\operatorname{gr}_0 KG \cong kG$ is a complete \mathbb{Z} -filtered ring when equipped with its m-adic filtration; see Section 10.9. Thus KG is itself a complete doubly filtered K-algebra with $\operatorname{Gr}(KG) = \operatorname{gr} kG \cong k[x_1, \ldots, x_d]$ and the theory of Sections 3.1–3.3 applies, although it is not an almost commutative affinoid K-algebra because the filtration on its slice is negative.

LEMMA. KG is Auslander-Gorenstein with inj.dim $KG = \dim G$. Let M be a finitely generated KG-module. Then $d(M) = \dim Ch(M)$ and d(M) = 0if and only if M is finite-dimensional over K.

Proof. The first part is originally due to Otmar Venjakob [79, Th. 3.29] but also follows from Theorem 3.3. Since KG always has the trivial module K that is one-dimensional over K, the second part follows from Proposition 9.1.

We can now put all the pieces together and prove the main result of our paper. Recall the integer r defined in Section 9.9 and the algebras $\mathcal{U}_n = Q_{\text{gr}p}(RG^{p^n})$ defined in Section 10.6, and note that in our current notation,

$$\mathcal{U}_n \cong U(\mathfrak{g})_{n+m,K}$$

by Theorem 10.4.

THEOREM. Let M be a finitely generated KG-module that is infinitedimensional over K. Then $d(M) \ge r$.

Proof. Let j = j(M); then the KG-module $N := \operatorname{Ext}_{KG}^{j}(M, KG)$ is finitely generated and nonzero. Pick any finitely generated RG-submodule and R-lattice F_0N in N. By Corollary 10.11, N is S_n -torsion-free for some integer n, which we may as well assume to be positive. Let $B = \mathcal{U}_n * H_n$; then $B \otimes_{KG} N = B \otimes_{RG} F_0N$ is nonzero by Proposition 10.6(e). Now B is a flat RG-module by Proposition 10.6(d), so B is also a flat KG-module and inj.dimKG = inj.dimB by [3, Lemma 5.4], Proposition 9.1 and the lemma, so we may apply Proposition 2.6 to deduce

$$d_{KG}(M) = d_B(B \otimes_{KG} M).$$

Since $M' := B \otimes_{KG} M$ is a finitely generated *B*-module and *B* is a finitely generated \mathcal{U}_n -module, M' is a finitely generated \mathcal{U}_n -module. Finally, $d_B(M') = d_{KG}(M) \ge 1$ by the lemma because *M* is infinite-dimensional over *K*, and $d_B(M') = d_{\mathcal{U}_n}(M')$ by [3, Lemma 5.4]. Hence we may apply Theorem 9.10 to deduce that $d_{KG}(M) = d_{\mathcal{U}_n}(M') \ge r$.

We can now prove Theorem A from the introduction.

Proof of Theorem A. Suppose that K, G and M are as in the statement of Theorem A. By restricting from KG to \mathbb{Q}_pG and applying Lemma 2.6 we may assume that $K = \mathbb{Q}_p$. Since the Lie algebra of G is split semisimple, we can find an open uniform subgroup H of G that satisfies the assumptions of Section 10.12. Choose an open normal subgroup N of G contained in H; then $d_{KG}(M) = d_{KN}(M) = d_{KH}(M)$ by [4, Lemma 5.4], and the result follows from the theorem above.

11. Finite-dimensional KG-modules

In this section we study finite-dimensional KG-modules. The results and proof techniques in Sections 11.1–11.3 are similar to those for distribution algebras found in Prasad's appendix to [68]. It is not clear to us how to deduce our results directly from those found there.

11.1. Lie modules and Artin modules. We continue with the notation of Section 10.12, but we drop the restriction on p.

DEFINITION. We let \mathcal{M} denote the category of KG-modules that are finite-dimensional over K, and all KG-module homomorphisms. We let \mathcal{L} denote the full subcategory of \mathcal{M} consisting modules obtained from finitedimensional \mathcal{U}_0 -modules by restriction; we tentatively call objects in \mathcal{L} Lie modules. We say that $V \in \mathcal{M}$ is an Artin module if some open subgroup of G acts trivially on V, and we let \mathcal{A} denote the full subcategory consisting of Artin modules.

We will denote an Artin module V by the corresponding representation $\rho: G \to GL(V)$. Note that if V is an abstract K[G]-module such that some open normal subgroup U of G acts trivially, then V is automatically an Artin module because the action of K[G] on V factors through K[G/U] and the completed group ring KG surjects onto K[G/U]. We will use this observation without further mention in what follows.

PROPOSITION. Let $M \in \mathcal{M}$, and suppose that M is S_n -torsion-free. Then the natural map

$$\eta_M: M \longrightarrow (\mathcal{U}_n * H_n) \otimes_{KG} M$$

is an isomorphism of KG-modules.

Proof. Suppose first that n = 0, and write $S = S_0$. Choose a finitely generated RG-submodule and R-lattice N in M, and choose a good filtration $F_{\bullet}N$ on N for the **m**-adic filtration on RG. Then $\mathcal{U}_0 \otimes_{KG} M = Q_{\text{gr}p}(RG) \otimes_{RG} N$ is the microlocalisation $Q_{\text{gr}p}(N)$ of N at gr p, which in turn is isomorphic to the completion of $N_S := (RG)_S \otimes_{RG} N$ with respect to a certain filtration $F_{\bullet}(N_S)$ on this RG_S -module; see Section 2.4. The filtration $F_{\bullet}(N_S)$ is good, and the filtration on $(RG)_S$ is Zariskian by Lemma 2.4, so $F_{\bullet}N_S$ is separated by [56, Cor. I.5.5].

Let $L = F_0(N_S)$; then because $p^i \in F_{-i}(RG)_S$ for all *i*, we see that $F_i(N_S) = p^{-i}L$ for all *i*. Since $F_{\bullet}N_S$ is separated, *L* is an *R*-lattice in N_S and $Q_{\text{gr}\,p}(N)$ is the completion of N_S with respect to this lattice.

Now because $p \in S$, the partial localisation $M = N_K$ of N is contained in N_S . Let $s \in S$. Since $M = N_K$ is S-torsion-free by assumption, s acts injectively on M. Because M is finite-dimensional over K, the action of sis actually surjective, and therefore by the universal property of localisation, the natural map $M \to N_S$ is an isomorphism. So N_S is finite-dimensional over K, and hence L is finitely generated over R by Proposition 2.7. But finitely generated R-modules are already p-adically complete, so the natural map $N_S \to Q_{grp}(N)$ is an isomorphism.

Returning to the general case, let $M_n = M$ denote the restriction of M to KG^{p^n} . Then there is a commutative diagram of KG^{p^n} -modules

where the left column is the identity map and the right column is the isomorphism $(\mathcal{U}_n * H_n) \otimes_{KG} M = (\mathcal{U}_n \otimes_{KG^{p^n}} KG) \otimes_{KG} M \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathcal{U}_n \otimes_{KG^{p^n}} M_n$ given by the definition of the crossed product $\mathcal{U}_n * H_n$. Since the bottom row is a bijection by the case n = 0 applied to the KG^{p^n} -module M_n , η_M is a bijection, and the result follows.

THEOREM. (a) The category \mathcal{M} is semisimple: every submodule W of $V \in \mathcal{M}$ has a complement.

(b) U₀ ⊗_{KG} − is an equivalence of categories between L and the category of finite-dimensional U(g_K)-modules. Proof. (a) By Corollary 10.11, V is S_n -torsion-free for some n. Let us identify V with $(\mathcal{U}_n * H_n) \otimes_{KG} V$ using the proposition; then V is a finitedimensional $\mathcal{U}_n * H_n$ -module and W is a $\mathcal{U}_n * H_n$ -submodule. By Corollary 9.2, we can find a \mathcal{U}_n -linear projection σ from V onto W. Since we are working over a field of characteristic zero, the average $\sigma' := \frac{1}{|H_n|} \sum_{h \in H_n} \overline{h} \sigma \overline{h}^{-1}$ of the H_n -conjugates of σ is a $\mathcal{U}_n * H_n$ -linear projection of V onto W; see [63, Lemma 1.1] for more details. Now ker σ' is a KG-stable complement to W in V.

(b) Let \mathcal{C} denote the category of finite-dimensional \mathcal{U}_0 -modules. The restriction functor $\mathbf{R} = \operatorname{Hom}_{KG}(\mathcal{U}_0, -)$ is right adjoint to the base-change functor $\mathbf{L} = \mathcal{U}_0 \otimes_{KG} -$ and sends \mathcal{C} to \mathcal{L} by definition. If $V = \mathbf{R}W \in \mathcal{L}$, then S_0 acts invertibly on V because S_0 consists of units in \mathcal{U}_0 . Therefore V is S_0 -torsionfree and the counit of the adjunction $\eta_V : V \to \mathbf{R}\mathbf{L}V$ is an isomorphism by the proposition, which implies that \mathbf{L} sends \mathcal{L} to \mathcal{C} . For $W \in \mathcal{C}$, the unit of the adjunction $\varepsilon_W : \mathbf{L}\mathbf{R}W \to W$ satisfies $\mathbf{R}(\varepsilon_W) \circ \eta_{\mathbf{R}W} = \mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{R}W}$ by the unit-counit equation. So $\mathbf{R}(\varepsilon_W)$ is an isomorphism because $\eta_{\mathbf{R}W}$ is an isomorphism. Therefore ε_W is bijective and hence an isomorphism, so $\mathbf{L} : \mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{C}$ is an equivalence of categories. But we already know from Corollary 9.2 that \mathcal{C} is equivalent to the category of finite-dimensional $U(\mathfrak{g}_K)$ -modules via restriction along the inclusion $U(\mathfrak{g}_K) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{U}_0$.

COROLLARY. Let $V \in \mathcal{L}$ be simple. Then $\operatorname{End}_{KG}(V) = K$.

Proof. Apply part (b) of the theorem and [27, Prop. 7.1.4(iv)]. \Box

We will see shortly that \mathcal{M} is built from \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{A} in a very precise way: in fact, \mathcal{M} is the tensor product of \mathcal{L} and \mathcal{A} in the sense of [25, §5].

11.2. A factorization theorem. Recall that a module V is said to be isotypic if $V \cong W^s$ for some simple module W and some s > 0.

LEMMA. Let $M \in \mathcal{M}$ be a simple module that is S_n -torsion-free. Then $M' := (\mathcal{U}_n * H_n) \otimes_{KG} M$ is an isotypic \mathcal{U}_n -module.

Proof. The group G acts by conjugation on the algebra \mathcal{U}_n , and this action fixes the Harish-Chandra centre $Z_n := U(\mathfrak{g})_{n+m,K}^{\mathbf{G}}$ of $\mathcal{U}_n = U(\mathfrak{g})_{n+m,K}$ because this conjugation action is induced by the adjoint representation of G on \mathfrak{g}_K . Let W be a nonzero simple \mathcal{U}_n -submodule of M', and let $g \in G$; then gW is another simple \mathcal{U}_n -submodule with the same action of Z_n . But up to isomorphism, there is only one simple finite-dimensional \mathcal{U}_n -module with this action of Z_n , so $gW \cong W$ as a \mathcal{U}_n -module.

Let N be the image of $(\mathcal{U}_n * H_n) \otimes_{\mathcal{U}_n} W$ in M'. This is a nonzero KG-submodule of M' by construction. But M' is a simple KG-module by Proposition 11.1, so N = M'. Now N is a finite sum of modules of the form gW as a \mathcal{U}_n -module; since finite-dimensional \mathcal{U}_n -modules are semisimple by Corollary 9.2, it follows that M' = N is an isotypic \mathcal{U}_n -module.

THEOREM. Let M be a simple finite-dimensional KG-module. Then $M \cong V \otimes \rho$ for some simple $V \in \mathcal{L}$ and some simple $\rho \in \mathcal{A}$.

Proof. Using Corollary 10.11, choose n such that M is S_n -torsion-free; then $M' := (\mathcal{U}_n * H_n) \otimes_{KG} M$ is an isotypic \mathcal{U}_n -module by the lemma, so $M' \cong W^t$ for some simple, finite-dimensional \mathcal{U}_n -module W. By Corollary 9.2, we may assume that W is the restriction to \mathcal{U}_n of a simple finite-dimensional \mathcal{U}_0 -module. Let $V = \mathbf{R}W$ be the corresponding object in \mathcal{L} ; note that V is simple by Theorem 11.1(b). Consider the vector space

$$\rho := \operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^n}}(V, M).$$

Because V and M are finite-dimensional over K, ρ is also finite-dimensional over K. Moreover the inclusion $W \hookrightarrow M'$ gives by restriction to KG^{p^n} a nonzero element of ρ so $\rho \neq 0$. The rule

$$(g.f)(v) = gf(g^{-1}v), \qquad g \in G, v \in V, f \in \rho$$

defines an action of G on ρ , which by definition is trivial on G^{p^n} ; thus $\rho \in \mathcal{A}$ is an Artin representation of G. Now KG acts diagonally on the tensor product $V \otimes \rho$, and there is a natural KG-module map

$$\theta: V \otimes \rho \to M$$

given by evaluation: $\theta(v \otimes f) = f(v)$. The map θ is nonzero because $\rho \neq 0$; since M is simple, it follows that θ is surjective. But $\dim_K M = \dim_K M' = t \dim_K W$ by Proposition 11.1, and

$$\dim_{K} \rho = \dim_{K} \operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^{n}}}(W, W^{t}) = t \dim_{K} \operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^{n}}}(W, W) = t$$

by Corollary 11.1 applied to the group G^{p^n} . Hence $\dim_K V \otimes \rho = t \dim_K W$ also and θ is an isomorphism. Finally, if ρ' is a nonzero submodule of ρ , then $V \otimes \rho'$ is a nonzero submodule of $V \otimes \rho$. Because $V \otimes \rho \cong M$ is simple, this submodule must be the whole of $V \otimes \rho$ and a dimension count shows that $\rho' = \rho$.

11.3. Uniqueness of factorization.

LEMMA. Let ρ be an Artin representation that is trivial on G^{p^n} , and let $V \in \mathcal{L}$ be simple. Then the natural map

$$\psi: \rho \to \operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^n}}(V, V \otimes \rho)$$

given by $\psi(x)(v) = v \otimes x$ is an isomorphism of KG-modules.

Proof. Since G^{p^n} is normal in G, the group G acts on $\operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^n}}(V, V \otimes \rho)$ via $(g.f)(v) = g.f(g^{-1}v)$. The action of G^{p^n} is trivial, so $\operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^n}}(V, V \otimes \rho)$ is an Artin representation of G.

It is straightforward to verify that ψ is an injective KG-module homomorphism. Because ρ is trivial on G^{p^n} , the restriction of $V \otimes \rho$ to KG^{p^n} is a direct sum of dim_K ρ copies of the restriction of V, so

 $\dim_K \operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^n}}(V, V \otimes \rho) = \dim_K \rho \cdot \dim_K \operatorname{End}_{KG^{p^n}}(V).$

It now follows from Theorem 11.1(b) that V is still simple as a KG^{p^n} -module, so $\operatorname{End}_{KG^{p^n}}(V) = K$ by Corollary 11.1. Hence ρ is an isomorphism. \Box

We can now give a partial classification of simple finite-dimensional KGmodules for compact *p*-adic analytic groups G satisfying the hypotheses of Section 10.12.

THEOREM. Let $V \in \mathcal{L}$ and $\rho \in \mathcal{A}$ be simple.

- (a) The module $V \otimes \rho \in \mathcal{M}$ is simple.
- (b) If $V \otimes \rho \cong V' \otimes \rho'$ for some simple $V' \in \mathcal{L}$ and $\rho' \in \mathcal{A}$, then $V \cong V'$ and $\rho \cong \rho'$.

Proof. (a) By the proof of [5, Lemma 4.4(c)], there is a K-linear isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{KG}(V \otimes \rho, V \otimes \rho) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{KG}(V, V \otimes \rho \otimes \rho^*),$$

where ρ^* denotes the Artin representation dual to ρ . But

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{KG}(V, V \otimes \rho \otimes \rho^*) = (\operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^n}}(V, V \otimes \rho \otimes \rho^*))^G \cong (\rho \otimes \rho^*)^G \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{KG}(\rho, \rho)$ by the lemma. So dim_K End_{KG}(V $\otimes \rho$) = dim_K End_{KG}(ρ). Now there is a natural ring homomorphism

$$\operatorname{End}_{KG}(\rho) \to \operatorname{End}_{KG}(V \otimes \rho)$$

given by $f \mapsto 1_V \otimes f$. It is easy to see that this map is injective, so it must be an isomorphism by considering dimensions. Hence $\operatorname{End}_{KG}(V \otimes \rho)$ is a division ring by Schur's Lemma.

On the other hand, the category \mathcal{M} is semisimple by Theorem 11.1(a), so $V \otimes \rho = V_1^{n_1} \oplus \cdots \oplus V_t^{n_t}$ for some simple $V_i \in \mathcal{M}$. Therefore,

$$\operatorname{End}_{KG}(V \otimes \rho) \cong M_{n_1}(D_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus M_{n_t}(D_t)$$

is a direct sum of matrix algebras over division rings $D_i = \text{End}_{KG}(V_i)$. Since $\text{End}_{KG}(V \otimes \rho)$ is itself a division ring, this can only happen if r = 1 and $n_1 = 1$. Hence $V \otimes \rho = V_1$ is simple.

(b) Choose *n* large enough so that ρ and ρ' are trivial on G^{p^n} ; then the restriction of $V \otimes \rho$ to KG^{p^n} is isomorphic to both $V^{\dim_K \rho}$ and $(V')^{\dim_K \rho'}$.

Theorem 11.1(b) now implies that $V \cong V'$ in \mathcal{L} , and therefore

$$\rho \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^n}}(V, V \otimes \rho) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{KG^{p^n}}(V', V' \otimes \rho') \cong \rho'$$

as KG-modules by the lemma.

Combining Theorem 11.1(a), Theorem 11.2 and Theorem 11.3 gives the following $% \left(\frac{1}{2} \right) = 0$

COROLLARY. (a) There is a bijection between the isomorphism classes of simple objects in \mathcal{M} and pairs $([V], [\rho])$ of isomorphism classes of simple objects $V \in \mathcal{L}$ and $\rho \in \mathcal{A}$.

(b) There is an isomorphism of Grothendieck groups

$$K_0(\mathcal{M}) \cong K_0(\mathcal{L}) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} K_0(\mathcal{A}).$$

11.4. The Grothendieck group of Artin representations. We finish this paper by giving a description of the Grothendieck group of the category \mathcal{A} of Artin K-representations of an arbitrary pro-p group G. We still assume that K is a complete discrete valuation field of characteristic zero and uniformizer p. Let $K(\mu_{p^{\infty}})$ be the infinite totally ramified field extension of K obtained by adjoining the set $\mu_{p^{\infty}}$ of all p-power roots of unity to K, and let

$$\Gamma = \operatorname{Gal}(K(\mu_{p^{\infty}})/K).$$

We fix an isomorphism $\mathbb{Q}_p/\mathbb{Z}_p \to \mu_{p^{\infty}}$, which induces an isomorphism $\operatorname{Aut}(\mu_{p^{\infty}}) \to \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$. Since K is unramified, the action of Γ on $\mu_{p^{\infty}}$ is faithful and gives rise to the cyclotomic character $\chi: \Gamma \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{Z}_p^{\times}$ given explicitly by

$$\sigma(\lambda) = \lambda^{\chi(\sigma)}$$
 for all $\sigma \in \Gamma$ and $\lambda \in \mu_{p^{\infty}}$.

Imitating [73, §12.4], we define a continuous permutation action of Γ on our pro-p group G by the similar rule

$$\sigma g = g^{\chi(\sigma)}$$
 for all $\sigma \in \Gamma$ and $g \in G$

If X is a compact totally disconnected topological space, let $C^{\infty}(X, K)$ denote the K-algebra of locally constant K-valued functions on X. Any continuous action of Γ on X induces an action of Γ on $C^{\infty}(X, K)$ by the rule

$$(\sigma.f)(x) = f(\sigma^{-1}.x)$$
 for all $\sigma \in \Gamma, f \in C^{\infty}(X, K), x \in X.$

Now let $\rho : G \to V$ be an Artin K-representation of G. Then by definition, ker ρ is an open normal subgroup of G, so $\rho(G)$ is a finite p-subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}(V)$. Let $\chi_{\rho} : G \to K$ be the *character* of ρ , defined in the usual way by

$$\chi_{\rho}(g) = \operatorname{tr} \rho(g) \quad \text{for all} \quad g \in G.$$

This function is locally constant, being constant on the cosets of ker ρ , so $\chi_{\rho} \in C^{\infty}(G, K)$. It is also constant on conjugacy classes of G, so $\chi_{\rho} \in C^{\infty}(G, K)^G$,

where we let G act on itself by conjugation. If $g \in G$ and ω_i are the eigenvalues of $\rho(g)$, then $\omega_i^{\chi(\sigma)}$ are the eigenvalues of $\rho(\sigma,g)$ for any $\sigma \in \Gamma$. This shows that

$$\chi_{\rho}(\sigma.g) = \chi_{\rho}(g) \text{ for all } \sigma \in \Gamma \text{ and } g \in G.$$

Thus χ_{ρ} is a Γ -invariant, locally constant, class function on G:

$$\chi_{\rho} \in C^{\infty}(G, K)^{G \times \Gamma}.$$

PROPOSITION. Let G be a pro-p group, and let \mathcal{A} be its category of K-linear Artin representations. Then there is a natural K-algebra isomorphism

$$\chi: K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} K_0(\mathcal{A}) \longrightarrow C^{\infty}(G, K)^{G \times 1}$$

given by $\chi(\lambda \otimes [\rho]) = \lambda \chi_{\rho}$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{U} denote the set of open normal subgroups of G, and for each $U \in \mathcal{U}$, let $G_0(K[G/U])$ denote the Grothendieck group of the category of all finitely generated (hence finite-dimensional) K[G/U] modules. For each pair $U, W \in \mathcal{U}$ such that $U \supseteq W$, there is a natural commutative diagram

where the vertical maps in the left-hand column are obtained by inflation and those in the right-hand column are obtained by pull-back of functions. Now \mathcal{A} is the filtered limit of the categories of finite-dimensional K[G/U]-modules with respect to the inflation functors as U runs over \mathcal{U} , so

$$K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} K_0(\mathcal{A}) \cong \lim K \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} G_0(K[G/W])$$

by [80, Lemma II.6.2.7]. Since each locally constant function on G must be constant on the cosets of at least one open normal subgroup U, we also have

$$C^{\infty}(G,K)^{G \times \Gamma} \cong \lim C^{\infty}(G/U,K)^{G \times \Gamma}.$$

Because the top two rows in the diagram are isomorphisms by [73, Ch. 12, Th. 25], the bottom row must therefore also be an isomorphism. Finally, direct sum and tensor product give $K_0(\mathcal{A})$ the structure of a commutative ring, it is straightforward to check that χ is additive and multiplicative.

We finally remark that in the case when G is a uniform pro-p group, Kirillov's orbit method provides an explicit bijection between G-orbits in the Pontryagin dual of the Lie algebra L_G and isomorphism classes of irreducible complex Artin representations of G. This bijection is directly compatible with the above isomorphism χ . See [47] and [20] for more details.

References

- K. AJITABH, S. P. SMITH, and J. J. ZHANG, Injective resolutions of some regular rings, J. Pure Appl. Algebra 140 (1999), 1–21. MR 1700566. Zbl 0945.16009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4049(99)00049-3.
- [2] K. ARDAKOV, Krull dimension of Iwasawa algebras and some related topics, 2004, Ph.D. thesis, University of Cambridge.
- [3] K. ARDAKOV and K. A. BROWN, Ring-theoretic properties of Iwasawa algebras: a survey, *Doc. Math.* **2006**, 7–33, Extra Vol. MR **2290583**. Zbl **1125.16011**.
- [4] K. ARDAKOV and K. A. BROWN, Primeness, semiprimeness and localisation in Iwasawa algebras, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **359** (2007), 1499–1515. MR 2272136.
 Zbl 1151.16024. http://dx.doi.org/10.1090/S0002-9947-06-04153-5.
- [5] K. ARDAKOV and S. WADSLEY, Characteristic elements for p-torsion Iwasawa modules, J. Algebraic Geom. 15 (2006), 339–377. MR 2199061. Zbl 1115.20004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1090/S1056-3911-05-00415-7.
- [6] M. F. ATIYAH and I. G. MACDONALD, Introduction to Commutative Algebra, Addison-Wesley Publishing Co., Reading, MA, 1969. MR 0242802. Zbl 0175. 03601.
- P. BARDSLEY and R. W. RICHARDSON, Etale slices for algebraic transformation groups in characteristic p, Proc. London Math. Soc. 51 (1985), 295–317. MR 0794118. Zbl 0604.14037. http://dx.doi.org/10.1112/plms/s3-51.2.295.
- [8] A. BEĬLINSON and J. BERNSTEIN, Localisation de g-modules, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 292 (1981), 15–18. MR 0610137. Zbl 0476.14019.
- [9] A. BEĬLINSON and J. BERNSTEIN, A proof of Jantzen conjectures, in I. M. Gel'fand Seminar, Adv. Soviet Math. 16, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1993, pp. 1–50. MR 1237825. Zbl 0790.22007.
- [10] A. BEILINSON and V. GINZBURG, Wall-crossing functors and *D*-modules, *Represent. Theory* **3** (1999), 1–31. MR 1659527. Zbl 0910.05068. http://dx.doi.org/10.1090/S1088-4165-99-00063-1.
- [11] A. D. BELL and R. FARNSTEINER, On the theory of Frobenius extensions and its application to Lie superalgebras, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 335 (1993), 407–424. MR 1097163. Zbl 0811.16013. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/2154275.
- [12] P. BERTHELOT, *D*-modules arithmétiques. I. Opérateurs différentiels de niveau fini, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. 29 (1996), 185–272. MR 1373933. Available at http://www.numdam.org/item?id=ASENS_1996_4_29_2_185_0.
- [13] P. BERTHELOT, Introduction à la théorie arithmétique des *D*-modules, in Cohomologies p-Adiques et Applications Arithmétiques, II, Astérisque 279, 2002, pp. 1–80. MR 1922828. Zbl 1098.14010.
- [14] R. BEZRUKAVNIKOV, I. MIRKOVIĆ, and D. RUMYNIN, Localization of modules for a semisimple Lie algebra in prime characteristic, Ann. of Math. 167 (2008), 945–991. MR 2415389. Zbl 1220.17009. http://dx.doi.org/10.4007/annals.2008. 167.945.

- [15] J.-E. BJÖRK, The Auslander condition on noetherian rings, in Séminaire d'Algèbre Paul Dubreil et Marie-Paul Malliavin, 39ème Année (Paris, 1987/1988), Lecture Notes in Math. 1404, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989, pp. 137–173. MR 1035224. Zbl 0696.16006. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ BFb0084075.
- [16] A. BOREL, Linear Algebraic Groups, second ed., Grad. Texts in Math. 126, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1991. MR 1102012. Zbl 0726.20030. http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/978-1-4612-0941-6.
- [17] W. BORHO and J.-L. BRYLINSKI, Differential operators on homogeneous spaces. III. Characteristic varieties of Harish-Chandra modules and of primitive ideals, *Invent. Math.* 80 (1985), 1–68. MR 0784528. Zbl 0577.22014. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/BF01388547.
- W. BORHO and J.-L. BRYLINSKI, Differential operators on homogeneous spaces.
 II. Relative enveloping algebras, *Bull. Soc. Math. France* **117** (1989), 167–210.
 MR 1015807. Zbl 0702.22019. Available at http://www.numdam.org/item?id= BSMF_1989_117_2_167_0.
- [19] S. BOSCH, U. GÜNTZER, and R. REMMERT, Non-Archimedean Analysis. A Systematic Approach to Rigid Analytic Geometry, Grundl. Math. Wissen. 261, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1984. MR 0746961. Zbl 0539.14017.
- [20] M. BOYARCHENKO and M. SABITOVA, The orbit method for profinite groups and a p-adic analogue of Brown's theorem, *Israel J. Math.* 165 (2008), 67–91. MR 2403615. Zbl 1165.20022. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11856-008-1004-3.
- [21] D. CARO, Holonomie sans structure de Frobenius et critères d'holonomie, Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) 61 (2011), 1437–1454. MR 2951498. Zbl 06018605. http: //dx.doi.org/10.5802/aif.2645.
- [22] J. COATES, T. FUKAYA, K. KATO, R. SUJATHA, and O. VENJAKOB, The GL₂ main conjecture for elliptic curves without complex multiplication, *Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci.* **101** (2005), 163–208. MR 2217048. Zbl 1108.11081. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10240-004-0029-3.
- [23] J. COATES and R. SUJATHA, Euler-Poincaré characteristics of abelian varieties, *C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math.* **329** (1999), 309–313. MR 1713337. Zbl 0967. 14029. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0764-4442(00)88572-9.
- [24] D. H. COLLINGWOOD and W. M. MCGOVERN, Nilpotent Orbits in Semisimple Lie Algebras, Van Nostrand Reinhold Math. Series, Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., New York, 1993. MR 1251060. Zbl 0972.17008.
- [25] P. DELIGNE, Catégories tannakiennes, in *The Grothendieck Festschrift, Vol. II, Progr. Math.* 87, Birkhäuser, Boston, MA, 1990, pp. 111–195. MR 1106898.
 Zbl 0727.14010. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-0-8176-4575-5_3.
- [26] M. DEMAZURE, Invariants symétriques entiers des groupes de Weyl et torsion, Invent. Math. 21 (1973), 287–301. MR 0342522. Zbl 0269.22010. http://dx.doi. org/10.1007/BF01418790.
- [27] J. DIXMIER, Enveloping Algebras, Grad. Stud. Math. 11, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1996, revised reprint of the 1977 translation. MR 1393197. Zbl 0867.17001.

- [28] J. D. DIXON, M. P. F. DU SAUTOY, A. MANN, and D. SEGAL, Analytic pro-p groups, second ed., Cambridge Stud. Adv. Math. 61, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 1999. MR 1720368. Zbl 0934.20001. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1017/CBO9780511470882.
- [29] J. M. DOUGLASS and G. RÖHRLE, The Steinberg variety and representations of reductive groups, J. Algebra 321 (2009), 3158–3196. MR 2510045. Zbl 1183. 20044. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jalgebra.2008.10.027.
- [30] W. FEIT, The Representation Theory of Finite Groups, North-Holland Math. Library 25, North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1982. MR 0661045. Zbl 0493.20007.
- [31] J. FRESNEL and M. VAN DER PUT, Rigid Analytic Geometry and its Applications, Progr. Math. 218, Birkhäuser, Boston, MA, 2004. MR 2014891. Zbl 1096.14014.
- [32] H. FROMMER, The locally analytic principal series of split reductive groups, 2003, Münster: SFB-preprint, p. 265. Available at http://www.math.uni-muenster.de/ sfb/about/publ/heft265.ps.
- [33] O. GABBER, The integrability of the characteristic variety, Amer. J. Math. 103 (1981), 445–468. MR 0618321. Zbl 0492.16002. http://dx.doi.org/10.2307/ 2374101.
- [34] P. GABRIEL, Des catégories abéliennes, Bull. Soc. Math. France 90 (1962), 323– 448. MR 0232821. Zbl 0201.35602.
- [35] I. M. GEL'FAND and A. A. KIRILLOV, Structure of the Lie sfield connected with a semisimple decomposable Lie algebra, *Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen.* 3 (1969), 7–26. MR 0241487.
- [36] V. GINSBURG, Characteristic varieties and vanishing cycles, *Invent. Math.* 84 (1986), 327–402. MR 0241487. Zbl 0598.32013. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ BF01388811.
- [37] G.-M. GREUEL and G. PFISTER, A Singular Introduction to Commutative Algebra, extended ed., Springer-Verlag, New York, 2008, with contributions by Olaf Bachmann, Christoph Lossen and Hans Schönemann, With 1 CD-ROM (Windows, Macintosh and UNIX). MR 2363237.
- [38] A. GROTHENDIECK, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. I. Le langage des schémas, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 4 (1960), 1–228. MR 0217083. Zbl 0118. 36206.
- [39] A. GROTHENDIECK, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. II. Étude globale élémentaire de quelques classes de morphismes, *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.* 8 (1961), 222. MR 0217084. Zbl 0118.36206.
- [40] A. GROTHENDIECK, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. III. Étude cohomologique des faisceaux cohérents. I, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 11 (1961), 349– 511. MR 0217085. Zbl 0118.36206.
- [41] A. GROTHENDIECK, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. II, *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.* 24 (1965), 1–231. MR 0199181. Zbl 0135.39701.
- [42] R. HARTSHORNE, Algebraic Geometry, Grad. Texts in Math. 52, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977. MR 0463157. Zbl 0367.14001.

- [43] R. HOTTA, K. TAKEUCHI, and T. TANISAKI, *D-Modules, Perverse Sheaves, and Representation Theory, Progr. Math.* 236, Birkhäuser, Boston, MA, 2008, translated from the 1995 Japanese edition by Takeuchi. MR 2357361. Zbl 1136. 14009. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-0-8176-4523-6.
- [44] J. E. HUMPHREYS, Introduction to Lie Algebras and Representation Theory, Grad. Texts in Math. 9, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1972. MR 0323842. Zbl 0254.17004. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-6398-2.
- [45] J. E. HUMPHREYS, Conjugacy Classes in Semisimple Algebraic Groups, Math. Surveys Monogr. 43, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1995. MR 1343976. Zbl 0834.20048.
- [46] C. HUYGHE, D[†]-affinité de l'espace projectif, Compositio Math. 108 (1997), 277–318, with an appendix by P. Berthelot. MR 1473850. Zbl 0956.14010. http://dx.doi.org/10.1023/A:1000124232370.
- [47] A. JAIKIN-ZAPIRAIN, Zeta function of representations of compact *p*-adic analytic groups, J. Amer. Math. Soc. **19** (2006), 91–118. MR 2169043. Zbl 1092.20023. http://dx.doi.org/10.1090/S0894-0347-05-00501-1.
- [48] J. C. JANTZEN, Representations of Lie algebras in prime characteristic, in Representation Theories and Algebraic Geometry (Montreal, PQ, 1997), NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci. 514, Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, 1998, Notes by Iain Gordon, pp. 185–235. MR 1649627. Zbl 0974.17022.
- [49] J. C. JANTZEN, Representations of Algebraic Groups, second ed., Math. Surveys Monogr. 107, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003. MR 2015057. Zbl 1034. 20041.
- [50] V. KAC and B. WEISFEILER, Coadjoint action of a semi-simple algebraic group and the center of the enveloping algebra in characteristic p, Indag. Math. 38 (1976), 136–151. MR 0417308. Zbl 0324.17001. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/1385-7258(76)90059-7.
- [51] L. LAFFORGUE, Chirurgie des Grassmanniennes, CRM Monogr. Ser. 19, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2003. MR 1976905. Zbl 1026.14015.
- [52] S. LANG, Introduction to Algebraic Geometry, Interscience Publishers, New York-London, 1958. MR 0100591. Zbl 0095.15301.
- [53] M. LAZARD, Groupes analytiques *p*-adiques, *Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math.* 26 (1965), 389–603. MR 0209286. Zbl 0139.02302.
- [54] T. LEVASSEUR, Some properties of noncommutative regular graded rings, *Glas-gow Math. J.* **34** (1992), 277–300. MR **1181768**. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0017089500008843.
- [55] H. LI, Lifting Ore sets of Noetherian filtered rings and applications, J. Algebra 179 (1996), 686–703. MR 1371738. Zbl 0849.16037. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/ jabr.1996.0031.
- [56] H. LI and F. VAN OYSTAEYEN, Zariskian Filtrations, K Monographs in Mathematics 2, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 1996. MR 1420862. Zbl 0862. 16027.

- [57] Q. LIU, How exotic can dvrs be in the ring of rational functions over a local field?, (mathoverflow.net/users/3485). Available at http://mathoverflow.net/questions/ 49452.
- [58] S. MAC LANE, Categories for the Working Mathematician, second ed., Grad. Texts in Math. 5, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998. MR 1712872. Zbl 0906. 18001.
- [59] J. C. MCCONNELL and J. C. ROBSON, Noncommutative Noetherian Rings, revised ed., Grad. Stud. Math. 30, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001, with the cooperation of L. W. Small. MR 1811901. Zbl 0980.16019.
- [60] J. S. MILNE, Étale Cohomology, Princeton Math. Ser. 33, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, N.J., 1980. MR 0559531. Zbl 0433.14012.
- [61] C. NOOT-HUYGHE, Un théorème de Beilinson-Bernstein pour les *D*-modules arithmétiques, *Bull. Soc. Math. France* 137 (2009), 159–183. MR 2543473. Zbl 1171.14014.
- [62] A. PANGALOS, p-adic Weyl algebras, 2007, Ph.D. thesis, University of Münster. Available at http://d-nb.info/987679023/34.
- [63] D. S. PASSMAN, Infinite Crossed Products, Pure Appl. Math. 135, Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1989. MR 0979094. Zbl 0662.16001.
- [64] A. PREMET, Nilpotent orbits in good characteristic and the Kempf-Rousseau theory, J. Algebra 260 (2003), 338–366, special issue celebrating the 80th birthday of Robert Steinberg. MR 1976699. Zbl 1020.20031. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ S0021-8693(02)00662-2.
- [65] D. QUILLEN, On the endomorphism ring of a simple module over an enveloping algebra, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 21 (1969), 171–172. MR 0238892. Zbl 0188. 08901.
- [66] T. SCHMIDT, Auslander regularity of p-adic distribution algebras, Represent. Theory 12 (2008), 37–57. MR 2375595. Zbl 1142.22010. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1090/S1088-4165-08-00323-3.
- [67] T. SCHMIDT, Verma modules over *p*-adic Arens–Michael envelopes of reductive Lie algebras, preprint.
- [68] P. SCHNEIDER and J. TEITELBAUM, U(g)-finite locally analytic representations, *Represent. Theory* 5 (2001), 111–128, with an appendix by Dipendra Prasad. MR 1835001. Zbl 1028.17007. http://dx.doi.org/10.1090/ S1088-4165-01-00109-1.
- [69] P. SCHNEIDER and J. TEITELBAUM, Banach space representations and Iwasawa theory, *Israel J. Math.* **127** (2002), 359–380. MR 1900706. Zbl 1006.46053. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1007/BF02784538.
- [70] P. SCHNEIDER and J. TEITELBAUM, Algebras of p-adic distributions and admissible representations, *Invent. Math.* 153 (2003), 145–196. MR 1990669.
 Zbl 1028.11070. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00222-002-0284-1.
- [71] P. SCHNEIDER and J. TEITELBAUM, Duality for admissible locally analytic representations, *Represent. Theory* 9 (2005), 297–326. MR 2133762. Zbl 1146.22301. http://dx.doi.org/10.1090/S1088-4165-05-00277-3.

- [72] P. SCHNEIDER and O. VENJAKOB, SK_1 and Lie algebras, 2011. Available at http://www.math.uni-muenster.de/u/pschnei/publ/pre/SK_1-final.pdf.
- [73] J-P. SERRE, Linear representations of finite groups, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977, translated from the second French edition by Leonard L. Scott, Grad. Texts in Math., 42. MR 0450380. Zbl 0355.20006. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ 978-1-4684-9458-7.
- S. P. SMITH, Krull dimension of factor rings of the enveloping algebra of a semi-simple Lie algebra, Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 93 (1983), 459–466.
 MR 0698349. Zbl 0535.17008. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S030500410006076X.
- [75] Y. SOIBELMAN, Quantum p-adic spaces and quantum p-adic groups, in Geometry and Dynamics of Groups and Spaces, Progr. Math. 265, Birkhäuser, Basel, 2008, pp. 697–719. MR 2402420. Zbl 1139.12008. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ 978-3-7643-8608-5_18.
- [76] Y. SOIBELMAN, On non-commutative analytic spaces over non-Archimedean fields, in *Homological Mirror Symmetry*, *Lecture Notes in Phys.* **757**, Springer-Verlag, New York, 2009, pp. 221–247. MR 2596639. Zbl 1166.81025. http: //dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-68030-7_7.
- [77] J. T. STAFFORD and J. J. ZHANG, Homological properties of (graded) Noetherian PI rings, J. Algebra 168 (1994), 988–1026. MR 1293638. Zbl 0812.16046. http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/jabr.1994.1267.
- [78] R. STEINBERG, On the desingularization of the unipotent variety, *Invent. Math.* 36 (1976), 209–224. MR 0430094. Zbl 0352.20035. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/ BF01390010.
- [79] O. VENJAKOB, On the structure theory of the Iwasawa algebra of a p-adic Lie group, J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS) 4 (2002), 271–311. MR 1924402. Zbl 1049. 16016. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s100970100038.
- [80] C. A. WEIBEL, The K-book: An introduction to algebraic K-theory, 2011. Available at http://www.math.rutgers.edu/~weibel/Kbook.html.
- [81] A. YEKUTIELI and J. J. ZHANG, Rings with Auslander dualizing complexes, J. Algebra 213 (1999), 1–51. MR 1674648. Zbl 0948.16006. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1006/jabr.1998.7657.

(Received: March 25, 2011) (Revised: July 3, 2012)

QUEEN MARY UNIVERSITY OF LONDON, LONDON, UK *E-mail*: konstantin.ardakov@gmail.com

HOMERTON COLLEGE, CAMBRIDGE, UK *E-mail*: sjw47@cam.ac.uk